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March 23, 2017

Dear Shareholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the 2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders (the �Meeting�) of Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. (�Aralez�
or the �Company�) on Wednesday, May 3, 2017, at 9:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) at the offices of Stikeman Elliott LLP, 5300 Commerce
Court West, 199 Bay Street, Toronto, ON, Canada M5L 1B9. The board of directors (the �Board�) and management of the Company hope that you
will be able to attend the Meeting.

The attached Notice of 2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement describe the business to be conducted at the
Meeting, including: (1) receiving the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016,
together with the auditor�s report thereon; (2) the election of eight directors to the Board, each of whom will serve until the next annual meeting
of shareholders of the Company or until their successors are elected or appointed; (3) the approval of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as the Company�s auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017; (4) the approval of the
Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan, (5) a non-binding, advisory vote to approve our approach to the compensation of our
named executive officers, as disclosed in the accompanying Proxy Statement; (6) a non-binding advisory vote to approve the frequency of future
advisory votes to approve our approach to the compensation of our named executive officers; and (7) such other business as may properly be
brought before the Meeting.

As a shareholder of the Company, your participation in the affairs of Aralez is important, regardless of the number of shares you hold.
Therefore, whether or not you are able to attend in person, please vote your shares as soon as possible by completing and returning the enclosed
proxy, or, if you hold your shares through a bank, broker or other financial intermediary, by following the procedures described in the voting
instruction form provided by such intermediary.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to express our appreciation for your continued interest in the affairs of Aralez.

Sincerely yours,

Adrian Adams
Chief Executive Officer

7100 West Credit Avenue, Suite 101, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada, L5N 0E4
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TEL: (905) 876-1118

http://www.aralez.com
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NOTICE OF 2017 ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

TIME 9:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on Wednesday, May 3, 2017

PLACE Stikeman Elliott LLP
5300 Commerce Court West
199 Bay Street
Toronto, ON, Canada M5L 1B9

ITEMS OF BUSINESS 1.  To receive the audited consolidated financial statements of Aralez
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the �Company�) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016,
together with the auditor�s report thereon.

2.  To elect eight directors to the board of directors (the �Board�) of the Company,
each of whom will serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders of the Company
or until their successors are elected or appointed.

3.  To approve the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as the Company�s auditors for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2017.

4.      To approve the Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

5.  To conduct a non-binding advisory vote to approve our approach to the
compensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed in the accompanying Proxy
Statement.

6.  To conduct a non-binding advisory vote to approve the frequency of future
advisory votes to approve our approach to the compensation of our named executive
officers.

7.  To transact such other business as may properly be brought before the 2017
Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders (the �Meeting�).

RECORD DATE You are entitled to vote at the Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof if you were a
shareholder of record at the close of business on March 6, 2017.
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ANNUAL REPORT Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 is available on the
Company�s corporate website at www.aralez.com, on the EDGAR website maintained by the SEC at
www.sec.gov and on the SEDAR website maintained by the Canadian Securities Administrators at
www.sedar.com.

The Board recommends: a vote FOR each of the director nominees; a vote FOR the proposal to approve the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP
as the Company�s auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017; a vote FOR the proposal to approve the Amended and Restated 2016
Long-Term Incentive Plan; a vote FOR the proposal to approve our approach to the compensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed
in the accompanying Proxy Statement; and a vote in favour of holding future non-binding advisory votes to approve our approach to the
compensation of our named executive officers EVERY YEAR. The accompanying Proxy Statement provides detailed information relating to
each of the proposals to be considered at the Meeting and forms part of this Notice of 2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Eric L. Trachtenberg
General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer & Corporate Secretary

March 23, 2017

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Shareholder Meeting to be Held on Wednesday, May 3, 2017

This Notice of 2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, the Proxy Statement (including the proxy) and our 2016 Annual Report are
available at:

www.envisionreports.com/Aralez2017

This website does not use �cookies,� to track the identity of anyone accessing the

website to view the proxy materials, or gather any personal information.
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PROXY STATEMENT

FOR

2017 ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

NO SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY HAS PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THE
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT AND ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS AN
OFFENSE.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE 2017 ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED
PROXY MATERIALS

Q:  Why is the Company providing proxy materials?

A:  The board of directors (the �Board�) of Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. (�Aralez,� the �Company,� �we,� �our,� or �us,� as
the context requires) is providing this proxy statement (this �Proxy Statement�) to solicit your proxy in connection with
Aralez�s 2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders (the �Meeting�), which is scheduled to take place on
Wednesday, May 3, 2017. The Board is requesting your vote on the proposals described in this Proxy Statement.

Q:  Why did I receive a notice in the mail regarding the Internet availability of proxy materials instead of a
full set paper copy of the proxy materials?

A:  We are utilizing rules under applicable U.S. and Canadian securities laws that allow companies to furnish
their proxy materials on the Internet rather than in paper form. These rules allow a company to send to its shareholders
a notice regarding Internet availability of proxy materials (�Notice�). The securities laws that allow us to furnish our
proxy materials over the Internet rather than in paper form do not require us to do so for all shareholders. Shareholders
who have previously opted to receive proxy materials in paper form will receive paper copies of the proxy materials in
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accordance with their instructions. Instructions on how to access the proxy materials on the Internet or how to request
a paper or electronic copy of our proxy materials may be found in the Notice and below.

Q:  What proxy materials are available to shareholders?

A:  The Company has made available: (1) the Notice of 2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders;
(2) this Proxy Statement (including the proxy); and (3) the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the
related management discussion & analysis, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.

Q:  When was the Notice first mailed to shareholders?

A:  In order to comply with the rules under applicable U.S. and Canadian securities laws, the Company mailed
the Notice to you twice. The Notice was first mailed to shareholders on or about March 23, 2017. The Notice was then
mailed a second time to shareholders on or about April 3, 2017 and accompanied by a proxy or voting instruction
form, as applicable, that can be used to vote your shares at the Meeting.

Shareholders have the option of (1) accessing the proxy materials, including instructions on how to vote online, by telephone or by mail; or
(2) requesting that the proxy materials be sent to the shareholders in paper form or electronically. Opting to receive your proxy materials online
will save the Company the cost of producing and mailing documents to your home or business, and will also give you an electronic link to the
proxy voting site.

Q:  How can I access the proxy materials on the Internet?

A:  The Notice contains instructions on how to view the proxy materials on the Internet, vote your shares
online, by telephone or by mail, and obtain printed or electronic copies of the proxy materials. The proxy materials are
available online at www.envisionreports.com/Aralez2017, on the EDGAR website maintained by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the �SEC�) at www.sec.gov and on the SEDAR website maintained by the Canadian Securities
Administrators (�CSA�) at www.sedar.com.

1
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Q:  How do I request paper copies of the proxy materials?

The Notice contains instructions on how to request paper or electronic copies of the proxy materials.  You must request a paper
or electronic copy of the proxy materials by the deadline indicated in the Notice to ensure you receive them prior to
the deadline for the submission of your voting instructions, which is 9:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on May 1,
2017.

Q:  Who is soliciting the proxies?

A:  The Board and management of Aralez are soliciting proxies for use at the Meeting, including any
postponements or adjournments thereof. We have retained the services of MacKenzie Partners, Inc. to aid in the
solicitation of proxies.

Q:  What proposals will be voted on at the Meeting?

A:  There are five proposals for which a vote is contemplated at the Meeting:

•  The election of eight directors to the Board, each of whom will serve until the next annual meeting of
shareholders or until their successors are elected or appointed (Proposal 1);

•  The approval of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP (�E&Y�), an independent registered public accounting
firm, as the Company�s auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017 (Proposal 2);

•  The approval of the Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Proposal 3);

•  A non-binding, advisory vote to approve our approach to the compensation of our named executive officers,
as disclosed in this Proxy Statement (�say-on-pay�) (Proposal 4); and

•  A non-binding, advisory vote to approve the frequency of future advisory votes to approve our approach to
the compensation of our named executive officers (�say-on-frequency�) (Proposal 5).
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Shareholders will also consider and vote upon any other business properly brought before the Meeting or any adjournment or postponement
thereof.

Q:  What are the Board�s voting recommendations?

A:  The Board recommends that you vote all of your common shares (�Common Shares�):

•  FOR the election of each of the eight nominees named herein to the Board (Proposal 1);

•  FOR the approval of the appointment of E&Y, an independent registered public accounting firm, as the
Company�s auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017 (Proposal 2);

•  FOR the approval of the Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Proposal 3);

•  FOR the approval of a non-binding, advisory say-on-pay vote to approve our approach to the compensation
of the Company�s named executive officers, as disclosed in this Proxy Statement (Proposal 4); and

•  EVERY YEAR for the non-binding advisory vote to approve the frequency of future advisory votes to
approve our approach to the compensation of the Company�s named executive officers (Proposal 5).

2
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Q:  What shares may I vote?

A:  You may vote all Common Shares that you owned as of the close of business on March 6, 2017 (the
�Record Date�). These Common Shares include:

1.  those Common Shares held in your name as a �Registered Shareholder�; and

2.  those Common Shares held by you as a �Non-Registered Shareholder� through a bank, broker or other
financial intermediary.

Each Common Share is entitled to one vote for each of the proposals to be considered at the Meeting. The Company�s authorized share capital
consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares and an unlimited number of preferred shares. On the Record Date, there were 65,683,646
Common Shares issued and outstanding. No preferred shares are currently issued and outstanding.

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of any meeting of shareholders of the Company, and to attend and vote at those
meetings, except those meetings at which holders of a specific class of shares are entitled to vote separately as a class under the British
Columbia Business Corporations Act (�BCBCA�).

Q:  What is the difference between holding Common Shares as a Registered Shareholder and as a
Non-Registered Shareholder?

A:  Most Aralez shareholders hold their Common Shares through a bank, broker or other financial
intermediary, as a Non-Registered Shareholder, rather than in their own name, as a Registered Shareholder. As
summarized below, there are some distinctions between Common Shares held by Registered Shareholders and those
held by Non-Registered Shareholders.

Registered Shareholders

If your Common Shares are registered in your name with Aralez�s transfer agent, Computershare Investor Services Inc. (the �Transfer Agent�), or if
you are registered as the holder of Common Shares in book-entry form, you are considered, with respect to those Common Shares, the
Registered Shareholder, and we have delivered a Notice directly to you. As a Registered Shareholder, you have the right to attend the Meeting
in person or to grant your proxy directly to the Named Proxies (as defined below) or any other person who will appear in person at the Meeting
on your behalf. Voting by proxy means that you are giving the person or people named on your proxy form (your proxyholders) the
authority to vote your Common Shares for you at the Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. The Board has selected
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Adrian Adams and Andrew I. Koven (the �Named Proxies�) to vote all Common Shares for which the Company has been appointed to act as
proxy at the Meeting. The Named Proxies will vote any properly submitted proxy, if received in time and not revoked, at the Meeting according
to your directions. The Named Proxies will vote any properly submitted proxy that fails to specify a choice on any proposal to be acted upon at
the Meeting in accordance with the Board�s voting recommendations (as described below in �What are the Board�s voting recommendations?�),
and, in the Named Proxies� discretion, FOR or AGAINST such other business as may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment or
postponement thereof.

Registered Shareholders are requested to submit a proxy for their Common Shares, giving the Named Proxies the right to vote your Common
Shares on your behalf. Alternatively, if you are a Registered Shareholder, you may also vote your Common Shares by proxy by
appointing another person to attend the Meeting on your behalf and vote your Common Shares for you. This person does not have to be
a shareholder, but must be present at the Meeting to vote your Common Shares. Make sure that the person you appoint is aware that he or
she has been appointed as your proxy and attends the Meeting. At the Meeting, he or she should see a representative of the Transfer Agent.

To be valid, your proxy must be received by the proxy department of the Transfer Agent by mail, on the Internet at www.investorvote.com or by
telephone at 1-866-732-VOTE (8683) not later 9:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on May 1, 2017, or if the Meeting is adjourned or postponed,
not less than two business days before the time of any such adjourned or postponed Meeting. Failure to properly complete or submit a proxy
may result in its invalidation. See �How can I vote my Common Shares without attending the Meeting?� further below.

Non-Registered Shareholders

If you hold your Common Shares through a bank, broker or other financial intermediary, you are considered, with respect to those Common
Shares, the Non-Registered Shareholder, and your bank, broker or other financial intermediary is forwarding the Notice to you. Your bank,
broker or other financial intermediary is considered, with respect to those Common Shares, the Registered Shareholder. As the beneficial owner
of the Common Shares, you have the right to direct your bank, broker or other financial intermediary to vote your Common Shares according to
your instructions (see �How can I vote my Common Shares without attending the Meeting?� below), but because you are not the Registered
Shareholder, you may not vote these Common Shares in person at the Meeting unless you obtain a signed proxy from the Registered
Shareholder giving you the right to vote the Common Shares. In most cases, your bank, broker or other financial intermediary will provide you
with instructions on how to vote your Common Shares by telephone, on the Internet or by mail, in each case not later than 9:00 a.m. (Eastern
Standard Time) on May 1, 2017, or if the Meeting is adjourned or postponed, not less than two business days before the time of any such
adjourned or postponed Meeting.  Please consult your bank, broker or other financial intermediary to ensure your vote is received in advance of
the above noted voting deadline.

3
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The Company will pay for the cost of intermediaries to deliver the Notice, and if, requested, printed proxy materials (including a voting
instruction form) to Non-Registered Shareholders (both objecting beneficial owners and non-objecting beneficial owners). The Company will
not reimburse shareholders, nominees or agents for the cost incurred in obtaining authorization to execute forms of proxy from their principals or
beneficial owners.

Non-Registered Shareholders who receive a voting instruction form should carefully follow the instructions provided to ensure their
vote is counted.

Q:  May I attend the Meeting in person?

A:  You are invited to attend the Meeting in person and we encourage all shareholders of Aralez to attend the
Meeting.

All shareholders attending the Meeting will be asked to present a form of photo identification, such as a driver�s license, in order to be admitted
to the Meeting. All bags or packages permitted in the Meeting room will be subject to inspection. No cameras, computers, recording equipment,
other similar electronic devices, signs, placards, briefcases, backpacks, large bags or packages will be permitted in the Meeting. The use of
mobile phones, tablets, laptops and similar electronic devices during the Meeting is prohibited, and such devices must be turned off and put
away before entering the Meeting room.

Q:  How can I vote my Common Shares in person at the Meeting?

A:  You may vote Common Shares you hold in your name as the Registered Shareholder in person at the
Meeting. If you choose to do so, you do not need to submit a proxy, but you should see a representative of the
Transfer Agent at the Meeting. Voting in person at the Meeting will revoke any proxy you submitted earlier upon your
request.

If you hold your Common Shares through a bank, broker or other financial intermediary as a Non-Registered Shareholder, you may vote the
Common Shares in person at the Meeting only if you have obtained a signed proxy from your bank, broker or other financial intermediary (i.e.,
the Registered Shareholder) giving you the right to vote the Common Shares. Any Non-Registered Shareholder who wishes to vote his or her
Common Shares in person at the Meeting, should follow the instructions included in the voting instruction form provided by your bank, broker
or other financial intermediary, and see a representative of the Transfer Agent at the Meeting.

Even if you plan to attend the Meeting in person, we recommend that you also submit your proxy as described below so that your vote will be
counted if you later decide not to attend the Meeting. Submitting your proxy now will not prevent you from voting your Common Shares in
person at the Meeting if you desire to do so, as your proxy is revocable at your option.
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Q:  How can I vote my Common Shares without attending the Meeting?

A:  Whether you hold Common Shares as a Registered Shareholder or as a Non-Registered Shareholder, you
may direct your vote without attending the Meeting.

If you hold your Common Shares as a Registered Shareholder, you may vote by granting a proxy through one of the following methods:

By Mail� You may vote your Common Shares by signing and dating each proxy that you receive and returning it by
9:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on May 1, 2017 to the Transfer Agent. If you provide specific voting instructions,
your Common Shares will be voted as you instruct at the Meeting. If you sign your proxy but do not provide
instructions, your Common Shares will be voted in accordance with the Board�s recommendations.  See �What are the
Board�s voting recommendations?� for more information.

On the Internet�You may vote your Common Shares online at www.investorvote.com, by following the instructions
provided in the Notice and the proxy. Voting on the Internet has the same effect as voting by mail. If you vote on the
Internet, you do not need to return a proxy by mail. Internet voting will be available until 9:00 a.m. on May 1, 2017.

By Telephone� You may vote your Common Shares over the phone, by dialing 1-866-732-VOTE(8683) and following
the instructions. Voting by telephone has the same effect as voting by mail. If you vote by telephone, you do not need
to return a proxy by mail. Telephone voting will be available until 9:00 a.m. on May 1, 2017.

If you hold Common Shares as a Non-Registered Shareholder, you may instruct your bank, broker or other financial intermediary to vote your
Common Shares by following the instructions provided by them in the voting instruction form. Most intermediaries offer voting by mail, by
telephone and on the Internet.

4
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Q:  Can Registered Shareholders revoke their proxy or change their vote?

A:  A Registered Shareholder may revoke a previously submitted proxy at any time before it has been
exercised by:

•  timely submitting a proxy by mail, Internet or telephone that is dated later than the proxy you are revoking,
but received before 9:00 a.m. (Eastern Standard Time) on May 1, 2017, or if the Meeting is adjourned or postponed,
not less than two business days before the time of any such adjourned or postponed Meeting;

•  sending a revocation notice in writing to the Corporate Secretary of the Company at its registered office,
which is located at 666 Burrard Street, Suite 1700, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 2X8, so that it is received at
any time up to and including the last business day before the date of the Meeting. The notice can be from the
shareholder or the attorney of such shareholder, duly authorized in writing; or

•  attending the Meeting, providing a revocation notice to the chairperson of the Meeting before any vote in
respect of which the proxy has been given, and casting your vote at the Meeting.

Q:  Can Non-Registered Shareholders change their vote?

A:  A Non-Registered Shareholder may change or revoke any prior voting instructions by contacting the bank,
broker or other financial intermediary that holds their shares and following the instructions provided by such
intermediary in sufficient time prior to the Meeting.

Q:  How are votes counted?

A:  For Proposal 1 (the election of directors), you may vote �FOR� or �WITHHOLD� for each of the nominees to
the Board.

For Proposal 2 (the approval of E&Y, an independent registered public accounting firm, as the Company�s auditors for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2017), you may vote �FOR� or �WITHHOLD�.
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For Proposal 3 (the approval of the Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan), you may vote �FOR�, �AGAINST� or �ABSTAIN�.

For Proposal 4 (the non-binding, advisory say-on-pay vote), you may vote �FOR�, �AGAINST� or �ABSTAIN�.

For Proposal 5 (the non-binding, advisory say-on-frequency vote), you may vote �EVERY YEAR�, �EVERY TWO YEARS�, �EVERY THREE
YEARS� or �ABSTAIN.�

For abstentions, see �What happens if I abstain from voting on Proposal 3, Proposal 4 and/or Proposal 5� below.

If you are a Registered Shareholder and you properly submit your proxy with no voting instructions, the Named Proxies will vote your Common
Shares in accordance with the Board�s recommendation on each of the proposals. See �What are the Board�s voting recommendations?� for more
information.

If you hold your Common Shares as a Non-Registered Shareholder and you have not provided voting instructions to your bank, broker or other
financial intermediary, such intermediary will not have discretionary authority to vote your Common Shares in the election of directors
(Proposal 1), the vote to approve the Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Proposal 3), the non-binding, advisory say-on-pay
vote (Proposal 4), or the non-binding, advisory say-on-frequency vote (Proposal 5), resulting in a �broker-non-vote� with respect to these matters.
However, most intermediaries do have the authority to exercise discretion to vote your Common Shares with respect to the approval of E&Y, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as the Company�s auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017 (Proposal 2). See �What is
a broker non-vote?� for more information.

5
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Q:  What is the quorum requirement for the Meeting?

A:  Business may only be transacted at the Meeting if a quorum is present.  Under the Company�s Articles, two
persons who are, or who represent by proxy, shareholders who in the aggregate hold at least fifty percent (50%) of the
issued and outstanding Common Shares entitled to vote at a meeting of shareholders constitute a quorum. Abstentions
and �broker non-votes� (described below) will be counted as present and entitled to vote for purposes of determining a
quorum.

Q:  What is the voting requirement to approve each of the proposals?

A:  A plurality of the votes duly cast in person or by proxy by the shareholders at the Meeting with respect to
each director is required for the election of each director. However, pursuant to the Company�s Majority Voting Policy,
if, in an uncontested election of directors, any of the nominees named in this Proxy Statement do not receive at least a
majority of the votes cast (including votes cast FOR and votes cast WITHHOLD), such director will be required to
promptly tender his resignation for consideration by the Board. The Company�s Majority Voting Policy is described in
more detail under the heading �Proposal 1�Election of Directors.�

Proposal 2 (the approval of E&Y, an independent registered public accounting firm, as the Company�s auditors for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2017) and Proposal 3 (the approval of the Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term
Incentive Plan) are each considered an ordinary resolution. Ordinary resolutions are passed by a simple majority of
votes, such that if more than half of the votes that are cast are cast in favor, the resolution passes.

Due to the non-binding, advisory nature of the say-on-pay vote (Proposal 4), there is no minimum vote requirement for this matter. However,
this proposal will be considered to have passed with the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by the shareholders that are present or
represented by proxy at the Meeting and entitled to vote.

A plurality of the votes cast for the advisory say-on-frequency vote (Proposal 5) will be considered the shareholders� preferred frequency for
holding future advisory say-on-pay votes.

Q:  What happens if I abstain from voting on Proposal 3, Proposal 4 and/or Proposal 5?

A:  If a proxy is properly submitted and the shareholder has explicitly abstained from voting on Proposal 3,
Proposal 4 and/or Proposal 5, the Common Shares represented by such proxy will be considered present at the
Meeting for the purpose of determining a quorum. Abstentions will not be counted as votes cast and therefore will
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have no effect on the outcome of any proposal.

Q:  What is a �broker non-vote�?

A:  A �broker non-vote� occurs when a bank, broker or other financial intermediary submits a proxy that does
not indicate a vote for one or more of the proposals because the intermediary has not received instructions from the
Non-Registered Shareholder of the Common Shares on how to vote on such proposals and does not have discretionary
authority to vote in the absence of instructions.

Intermediaries typically do not have discretionary authority to vote on �non-routine� matters. Under certain rules of the New York Stock Exchange
(the �NYSE Rules�) that apply to all NYSE-licensed intermediaries who have record ownership of listed company stock (including stock such as
our Common Shares that are listed on NASDAQ), these NYSE-licensed intermediaries have discretionary authority to vote on �routine� matters
when they have not received timely voting instructions from the Non-Registered Shareholder. Proposal 2 (the approval of E&Y, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as the Company�s auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017) is considered a �routine� matter under
the NYSE Rules. Proposal 1 (election of directors), Proposal 3 (the approval of the Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan),
Proposal 4 (the non-binding, advisory say-on-pay vote) and Proposal 5 (the non-binding, advisory say-on-frequency vote) are each considered
�non-routine� matters on which the intermediaries do not have discretionary authority to vote, resulting in a �broker non-vote� in the event these
NYSE-licensed intermediaries have not received timely voting instructions from the Non-Registered Shareholder.

Broker non-votes will be counted for the purposes of determining whether a quorum exists at the Meeting, but because they are not votes that are
cast, they will have no effect on the outcome of Proposals 1, 3, 4 or 5.
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Q:  Will I have rights of dissent?

A:  No rights of dissent are available under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada or our
Articles to any shareholder with respect to any of the proposals.

Q:  What does it mean if I receive more than one proxy or voting instruction form?

A:  It means your Common Shares are registered differently or are held in more than one account. Please
provide voting instructions for all proxies and voting instruction forms you receive.

Q:  Who will bear the cost of soliciting votes for the Meeting?

A:  Aralez is paying the costs of the solicitation of proxies. The solicitation of proxies or votes may be made in
person, by telephone or by electronic communication by our directors, officers, and employees, who will not receive
any additional compensation for such solicitation activities. We have retained the services of MacKenzie Partners, Inc.
to aid in the solicitation of proxies for a fee of $12,500 plus expenses payable by the Company. MacKenzie
Partners, Inc. currently expects that approximately 12 of its employees will assist in the solicitation. We will also
reimburse brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses for forwarding the Notice, and any printed proxy materials that are specifically requested by shareholders,
and any other solicitation materials to shareholders.

Q:  Where can I find the voting results of the Meeting?

A:  We will announce preliminary voting results at the Meeting and publish final voting results in a press
release following the Meeting and also in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC and a Voting Results
Report pursuant to, and in accordance with, Section 11.3 of National Instrument 51-102 � Continuous Disclosure
Obligations following the Meeting.

Additional Q&A information regarding the Meeting and shareholder proposals may be found on page 82.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

On June 8, 2015, POZEN Inc., a Delaware corporation (�Pozen�), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Arrangement (the �Merger
Agreement�), among Tribute Pharmaceuticals Canada Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario, Canada
(�Tribute�), Aguono Limited (which was renamed Aralez Pharmaceuticals Limited and subsequently renamed Aralez Pharmaceuticals plc in
connection with its re-registration as a public limited company), a limited company incorporated in Ireland (�Former Parent�), Trafwell Limited, a
private limited company incorporated in Ireland, ARLZ US Acquisition Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of
Delaware and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Former Parent, and ARLZ CA Acquisition Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the
Province of Ontario and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Former Parent (�Can Merger Sub�) in order to effectuate the merger of Pozen and Tribute. 
On December 7, 2015, the Merger Agreement was amended, pursuant to which, among other things, (i) Aralez replaced Former Parent as a party
to the Merger Agreement, whereby, after giving effect to the merger transactions, Aralez would be the ultimate parent company of the combined
companies, (ii) ARLZ US Acquisition II Corp., a corporation formed under the laws of the State of Delaware, would be merged with and into
Pozen, with Pozen continuing as the surviving corporation and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Aralez, and (iii) Can Merger Sub and
Tribute would amalgamate, with the separate legal existence of Can Merger Sub ceasing and Tribute and Can Merger Sub continuing as one
corporation and as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Aralez.

On February 5, 2016, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Aralez completed the acquisition of Tribute by way of a court approved plan of
arrangement in a share transaction with an estimated purchase price of $138 million made up of (i) $115 million related to Tribute common
shares, equity awards and certain warrants outstanding and (ii) $23 million in repayments of Tribute indebtedness.  In connection with the
transaction, Pozen and Tribute were combined under and became subsidiaries of Aralez, with Pozen treated as the acquiring company for
accounting purposes (the �Tribute Transaction�).  As a result of the merger, each share of Pozen common stock outstanding immediately prior to
the effective time of the merger was converted into one Aralez Common Share. Pursuant to the arrangement, each outstanding Tribute common
share was exchanged for 0.1455 of an Aralez Common Share. Pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the �Exchange Act�), Aralez is the successor issuer to Pozen.

Unless we specify otherwise, all references in this Proxy Statement to �we,� �our,� �us,� �the Company� and �our company� refer to Aralez
Pharmaceuticals Inc. and/or our predecessor, Pozen, prior to the Tribute Transaction, as the context requires.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board in General

The Board is currently comprised of eight directors, each of whose current term of office as a director expires at the Meeting. The Board is
responsible for nominating directors for election to the Board and for filling vacancies on the Board that may occur between annual meetings of
shareholders.

Biographical information for each of our directors as of the date of this Proxy Statement is provided below. There are no familial relationships
among any of the executive officers and directors of the Company.

Name Position with the Company Age Director Since Residence
Adrian Adams Director and Chief Executive Officer 66 2015 Pennsylvania, USA
Jason M. Aryeh Director 48 2016 California, USA
Neal F. Fowler Director 55 2016 North Carolina, USA
Rob Harris Director 61 2016 Ontario, Canada
Arthur S. Kirsch Director and Chairperson of the Board 65 2016 New York, USA
Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. Director 69 2016 North Carolina, USA
Seth A. Rudnick, M.D. Director 68 2016 North Carolina, USA
F. Martin Thrasher Director 65 2016 Ontario, Canada

Adrian Adams has been our Chief Executive Officer since February 5, 2016, and has been a director of the Company
since December 11, 2015 and Chairperson of the Transaction Committee since November 3, 2016.  From May 2015
through February 5, 2016, Mr. Adams was the Chief Executive Officer and a director of Pozen, and served as a
consultant to Pozen from April 2015 to May 2015. Previously, Mr. Adams served as Chief Executive Officer and
President and as a director of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals Inc., a specialty biopharmaceutical company, from
December 2011 until January 2015, when it was acquired by Endo International plc. Mr. Adams served as the
Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer of and a director of Neurologix, Inc. (�Neurologix�), a company focused on
the development of multiple innovative gene therapy development programs, from September 2011 to
November 2011. Before Neurologix, Mr. Adams served as President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of Inspire
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company, from February 2010 until May 2011, when it was
acquired by Merck & Co., Inc. Previously, Mr. Adams served as President and Chief Executive Officer of
Sepracor Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company, from March 2007 and May 2007, respectively, until
February 2010, when Sepracor was acquired by Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. Prior to his appointment as
Chief Executive Officer of Sepracor, Mr. Adams served as its Chief Operating Officer. Prior to joining Sepracor,
Mr. Adams served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Kos Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty
pharmaceutical company, from 2002 until its acquisition by Abbott Laboratories in December 2006. Mr. Adams has
also held general management and senior international and national marketing positions at SmithKline Beecham,
Novartis and ICI (now part of AstraZeneca). Mr. Adams has served as Chairperson of the board of directors of
AcelRx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. since February 2013 and served on the board of directors of Amylin
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from October 2007 to August 2012. Mr. Adams graduated from the Royal Institute of Chemistry
at Salford University in the U.K.
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Mr. Adams is a highly qualified pharmaceutical executive who brings to the Board over 30 years of experience in the industry. Mr. Adams has
extensive national and international experience and has been instrumental in launching major global brands in addition to driving successful
corporate development activities encapsulating financing, product and company acquisitions, in-licensing and company M&A activities.

Jason M. Aryeh has been a director of the Company since February 5, 2016.  He is the Founder and Managing General
Partner of JALAA Equities, LP, a private hedge fund focused on the biotechnology and specialty pharmaceutical
sector, and has served in such capacity since 1997. Mr. Aryeh has served on the board of directors of QLT since 2012
and is currently the Chairperson of the board of directors of QLT, a biotechnology company, Chairperson of QLT�s
corporate governance and nominating committee and Chairperson of QLT�s strategic action committee. Mr. Aryeh has
also served on the board of directors of Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (�Ligand�), a public biotechnology
company, since 2006, and is currently Chairperson of the nominating and governance committee and a member of the
compensation committee of Ligand. He has also served on the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation�s Therapeutics board of
directors since 2011. Mr. Aryeh served on the board of directors of CorMatrix Cardiovascular, a medical device
company, from 2010 to March 2017. He also served as a director of Immunomedics, Inc., a publicly-traded
biopharmaceutical company, from August 2015 to March 2017, and was a member of the audit committee and
nominating committee.  Previously, Mr. Aryeh served as a director of both Nabi Biopharmaceuticals, prior to its
merger with Biota Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in November 2012, and of Myrexis, Inc., until January 2013, both of which
were public biotechnology companies. Mr. Aryeh earned a B.A. in economics, with honors, from Colgate University,
and is a member of the Omnicron Delta Epsilon Honor Society in economics.

Mr. Aryeh brings to the Board his extensive background in the biotechnology industry through his current and former positions as a director of
multiple life science companies, as well as valuable capital markets experience, including through his service as managing general partner of a
hedge fund focused on the life sciences sector.
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Neal F. Fowler has been a director of the Company since February 5, 2016, and was previously a director of Pozen from
2010 through February 5, 2016. Mr. Fowler is Chief Executive Officer of Liquidia Technologies Inc. (�Liquidia�), a
biomedicines company, and has served in that capacity since 2008. Mr. Fowler is also a co-founder of Envisia
Therapeutics Inc. (�Envisia�), an ophthalmology spin-out of Liquidia, and concurrently served as Chief Executive
Officer of Envisia from its launch in 2013 through 2015. Mr. Fowler joined Liquidia in 2008 after seven years at
Johnson & Johnson. While at Johnson & Johnson, he served as President of Centocor, Inc. (�Centocor�), a multi-billion
dollar subsidiary focused on development and commercialization of industry leading biomedicines used in the
treatment of chronic inflammatory diseases. Prior to Centocor, Mr. Fowler was President of Ortho-McNeil
Neurologics Inc. and Vice President of the central nervous system franchise at Ortho-McNeil Pharmaceuticals.
Mr. Fowler joined Johnson & Johnson after a 13-year career at Eli Lilly and Company where he held a variety of
sales, marketing and business development roles with increasing responsibilities in both the pharmaceutical and
medical device divisions. Mr. Fowler is a native of Raleigh, NC and received a Bachelor of Science degree in
Pharmacy and Masters of Business Administration from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (UNC-CH).

Mr. Fowler brings to the Board his extensive background in the pharmaceutical industry acquired through a variety of senior positions at several
large pharmaceutical companies. He is currently chief executive officer at Liquidia Technologies, Inc., a position which has provided him with
experience in running an emerging growth company.

Rob Harris has been a director of the Company since February 5, 2016.  He previously served as President, Chief
Executive Officer and a director of Tribute from December 1, 2011 to February 2016. Mr. Harris founded Tribute
Pharma, which later became Tribute Pharma Canada Inc. and Tribute Pharmaceuticals Canada Ltd. in
November 2005. Tribute acquired both Tribute Pharma Canada Inc. and Tribute Pharmaceuticals Canada Ltd. on
December 1, 2011. Mr. Harris was formerly the President and CEO of Legacy Pharmaceuticals Inc. from
September 2004 to October 2005. As the VP of Business Development at Biovail Corporation from October 1997 to
September 2004, Mr. Harris was involved in, led and successfully concluded numerous business development
transactions, including the licensing of new chemical entities, the acquisition of mature products, the completion of
co-promotion deals, distribution agreements, product development and reformulation transactions. Mr. Harris joined
Biovail in 1997 as the GM of Biovail Pharmaceuticals Canada at a time when the company experienced rapid growth
in the Canadian division. Before Biovail, Mr. Harris worked in various senior commercial management positions
during his twenty-year tenure at Wyeth (Ayerst) from 1977 to 1997 and has been involved in numerous product
launches during his career.

Mr. Harris brings to the Board over 35 years of pharmaceutical industry experience in both Canada and the United States in sales, marketing,
business development and general management.

Arthur S. Kirsch has been a director of the Company, Chairperson of the Board, and Chairperson of the Audit
Committee since February 5, 2016.  Previously, he was a director of Pozen from 2004 through February 5, 2016. 
Mr. Kirsch has been Senior Advisor, GCA, LLC (formerly GCA Savvian, LLC), an investment bank, since June 2005.
Mr. Kirsch is a founding member and Managing Director of Vector Securities, LLC, an investment and merchant
banking firm, from 2001 to May 2005. He was a Managing Director and Head of Healthcare Research and Capital
Markets of Prudential Vector Healthcare Group, a unit of Prudential Securities, Inc., a full-service brokerage firm,
from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Kirsch was the Director, Equity Research of Vector Securities International, Inc., an
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investment banking firm, from 1995 to 1999. He has served as a director of Immunomedics, Inc., a publicly-traded
biopharmaceutical company, since August 2015, and is a member of the audit committee and nominating committee.
He currently serves as a director of Liquidia, a privately held biotechnology company, since December, 2016.

Mr. Kirsch has over 30 years of experience working in equity capital markets and has extensive knowledge of the healthcare and life sciences
field. Mr. Kirsch, who has spent the majority of his career in investment banking with a focus on the healthcare industry, brings both financial
and industry expertise to the Board.

Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. has been a director of the Company and Chairperson of the Compensation Committee since
February 5, 2016.  Previously, he was a director of Pozen from 2002 to February 5, 2016, and from 2002 was also
Pozen�s lead Independent Director. Since June 2002 he has been an independent consultant and general partner of
Hatteras Venture Partners (formerly Hatteras BioCapital, LLC and BioVista Capital, LLC), and the general partner of
Hatteras BioCapital Fund, L.P., a venture capital fund focusing on life sciences companies, since 2003. Mr. Lee was
President of A.M. Pappas & Associates, a venture capital firm, between January 2002 and June 2002.  He was a
Partner of Ernst & Young LLP from 1982 through 2000, and was the National Director of the Life Sciences Practice
for the firm. He was a Partner of Ernst & Young Corporate Finance LLC from 2000 to 2001, where he served as the
Managing Director of Ernst & Young�s Health Sciences Corporate Finance Group from 2000 to 2001. Mr. Lee has
served on the board of directors of Biocryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a public company, since 2011, and is currently
Chairperson of the audit committee and Chairperson of the finance committee. He is also a director of Clinipace
Worldwide, a privately held company. Previously, he served on the boards of directors of CV Therapeutics, Inc., for
which he served as lead independent director and Chairperson of the audit committee and a member of the
compensation committee, Abgenix, Inc., for which he served on the audit committee and the compensation
committee, OSI Pharmaceuticals, for which he served as a member of the audit committee, Inspire
Pharmaceuticals Inc., for which he served as Chairperson of the board of directors, and Chairperson of the audit
committee and a member of the compensation committee and finance committee, and Maxygen, Inc., for which he
served as Chairperson of the audit committee and a member of the nominating/governance committee and the
compensation committee. Mr. Lee served as a member of the executive committee of the board of directors of the
North Carolina Biotechnology Industry Organization and as a member of the board of directors of Ibiliti, a nonprofit
organization dedicated to building and expanding networks of resources for advanced medical technology companies.
Mr. Lee is also a co-founder of the National Conference on Biotechnology Ventures.

Mr. Lee brings his extensive accounting and financial background to the Board, as well as expertise in the life sciences industry from his
experience as a general partner of several venture capital funds specializing in life sciences. He has also served and is serving on the boards and
audit committees of several public pharmaceutical companies similar in size to the Company, including serving as Chairperson of the board of
directors of Biocryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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Seth A. Rudnick, M.D. has been a director of the Company and Chairperson of the Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee since February 5, 2016.  Previously, he was a director of Pozen from 2011 through February 5, 2016. 
Dr. Rudnick was a venture partner and previously general partner at Canaan Partners, a venture capital firm from 1998
to December 2014. Formerly, Dr. Rudnick was the Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson of CytoTherapeutics Inc.,
a company developing stem cell-based therapies, from 1991 to 1998. He helped found and served as the Head of
Research and Development for Ortho Biotech, a division of Johnson & Johnson focusing on cancer and chronic
illnesses from 1986 to 1991. He currently serves on the boards of directors of the following privately held
biotechnology companies: Meryx Pharmaceuticals, for which he serves as Chairperson, Liquidia Technologies, Inc.,
for which he serves as Chairperson, and G1 Therapeutics, for which he serves as Chairperson. Dr. Rudnick also served
on the board of directors of Square 1 Financial, Inc., a public financial services company, from 2012 to October 2015.
Currently he is a Clinical Adjunct Professor of Medicine at University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill.

Dr. Rudnick brings to the Board deep operational experience in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries acquired through a variety of
senior research and development positions in several large and mid-size pharmaceutical companies and as Chief Executive Officer, and
Chairperson of CytoTherapeutics, Inc., Chairperson of Liquidia Technologies, Inc., Executive Chairperson of GI Therapeutics, and Chairperson
of Meryx Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Rudnick retired from Canaan Partners, a global venture capital firm with significant investments in the healthcare
sector, where he served as general venture partner from 1998 to 2013, which provided him with significant experience in and insight into life
sciences investments.

F. Martin Thrasher has been a director of the Company since February 5, 2016.  Previously, he was a director of Tribute
from 2009 to February 2016. Mr. Thrasher is a seasoned international executive. After graduating from the Richard
Ivey School of Business in London, Ontario, Mr. Thrasher spent over 30 years working around the globe for
companies such as General Foods from 1973 to 1977, McCormick & Co from 1977 to 1988, Campbell Soup Co. from
1988 to 2001 and ConAgra Foods Inc. from 2001 to 2004. He has served as President of FMT Consultants LLC since
2004. Mr. Thrasher has lived and worked in Canada, Australia, Belgium and the U.S. His responsibilities with
Campbell Soup Co. included positions as President, International Grocery and President, North America Grocery. At
ConAgra Foods Inc., he was President of the Retail Products Co, a $9 billion business with over 30,000 employees.
Mr. Thrasher has been President of FMT Consulting, a boutique advisory and consulting firm since August 2004. In
this capacity, he has served in a number of interim CEO and Executive Chairperson positions in Canada and the
United States.

Mr. Thrasher brings to the Board extensive international business experience acquired from his time serving at several Fortune 500 companies.
He has led large, complex organizations and overseen a variety of mergers and acquistions. Mr. Thrasher also has broad board experience having
served on a number of private and public company boards.

Corporate Governance Overview

We have adopted policies and procedures that we believe will be of value to our shareholders and will positively aid in the governance of the
Company. In addition to the compensation-related actions we have taken which are described in the �Compensation Discussion and Analysis�
section of this Proxy Statement, we have adopted corporate governance practices, which we believe are beneficial to our shareholders, including,
without limitation, annual director elections, robust corporate governance guidelines, a diversity policy, and a majority voting policy.  We have
also elected not to adopt a shareholder rights plan at this time, but may do so in the future.
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Corporate Governance Guidelines

As described in the Company�s Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board is responsible for supervising the management of the Company�s
business and affairs. The Board�s key responsibilities relate to the stewardship of management, generally through the Chief Executive Officer, to
pursue the best interests of the Company, and include the following, among others:

•  review and approval of the adoption of the strategic plan and, in relation thereto, approval of annual
business and capital plans and policies and processes generated by management relating to the authorization of major
investments and significant allocations of capital;

•  supervision of senior management and succession planning, including the appointment of the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chairperson of the Board, and ensuring that other executives are in place for sound
management;

•  ensuring that the Company has policies in accordance with the guidance set out under applicable U.S.
and Canadian securities laws;

•  ensuring that the Company has risk management systems in place and also ensuring that the appropriate
internal controls and corporate governance policies are in place;

•  ensuring a business ethics, compliance and corporate governance mindset and creation of a culture of
integrity throughout the organization; and

•  review of the Company�s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the �Code of Conduct�) from time to time
and the implementation procedures to ensure compliance with the Code of Conduct.

The Board is entitled to engage outside advisers, at the Company�s expense, where, in the view of the Board, additional expertise or advice is
required.

For a complete description of the Corporate Governance Guidelines, which function as the mandate for the Board, shareholders should refer to
Annex B to this Proxy Statement.
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Board Leadership Structure

The Company maintains separate Chairperson of the Board and Chief Executive Officer positions, which allows the Board to be more effective
in overseeing the Company�s affairs and holding management accountable for the Company�s activities. Having an independent Chairperson
fosters strong leadership and healthy discussion and avoids the potential for any conflict of interest. However, the Board believes that the
Company and its shareholders are best served by maintaining flexibility to have any director serve as Chairperson and therefore believes that a
permanent policy on whether the Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer positions should be separated or combined is not appropriate.

The Board has adopted a written position description for the Chairperson setting out the Chairperson�s responsibilities, including leadership and
governance of the Board, the promotion of corporate social responsibility, the facilitation of shareholder meetings, and the oversight of
committees of the Board. The primary functions of the Chief Executive Officer are to lead the management of the Company�s business and
affairs, and to lead the implementation of the resolutions and the policies of the Board. As set out in the Chief Executive Officer�s position
description approved by the Board, the duties and responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer include leadership and governance, strategic
planning, business organization and development, and risk management and disclosure, among others.

As discussed below, the Board has adopted charters for each of its committees. These charters set out, among other things, the duties and
responsibilities of the respective committees. The Board has also adopted written position descriptions for the Chairperson of each of the
respective committees of the Board.

Board Oversight of Risk

The Board carries out its risk oversight function both as a whole and through delegation of certain risk management oversight responsibilities to
the committees of the Board, which report regularly to the Board. The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for overseeing enterprise risk
management; however, the other committees of the Board also consider risk within their areas of responsibility. For example, the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee monitors legal and regulatory compliance risks as they relate to corporate governance structure
and processes, and the Compensation Committee reviews compensation programs and arrangements to assure that they do not encourage
excessive risk taking for compensation purposes. The committee Chairpersons regularly apprise the Board of significant risks and management�s
response to those risks. While the Board and its committees oversee risk management strategy, management is responsible for implementing and
supervising day-to-day risk management processes and reporting to the Board and its committees on such matters.
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Director Independence

The Board has determined that six of the eight incumbent directors (or 75% of the Board) have no material relationship with the Company,
either directly or indirectly, and are �independent� within the meaning of the applicable NASDAQ listing standards and National Instrument
58-101 � Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices (�NI 58-101�) (such directors, the �Independent Directors�). Specifically, the Board has
identified each of the members of the Board, with the exception of Mr. Adams, who serves as our Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Harris, who
previously served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Tribute, as independent for the purposes of the applicable NASDAQ listing
standards and for the purposes of NI 58-101.

The Independent Directors have the opportunity to meet in-camera at each quarterly meeting or more frequently as they deem necessary. These
executive sessions of the Independent Directors are currently presided over by the Chairperson of the Board.

Director Compensation

The directors� compensation program is designed to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on the Board. See �Executive and Director
Compensation�Director Compensation� below for details regarding the Company�s director compensation program.

Committees of the Board

The Board has the following four committees: (1) Audit Committee, (2) Compensation Committee, (3) Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee, and (4) Transaction Committee. The Board has adopted a written charter for each of these committees. The committee charters are
posted on our corporate website at www.aralez.com.

Each of the charters of the committees of the Board generally provides that the committee will be granted unrestricted access to all information
regarding the Company that is necessary or desirable to fulfill its duties and all directors, officers and employees of the Company will be
directed to cooperate as requested by the members of the committee. In addition, each committee has the authority to retain, at the Company�s
expense, independent legal, financial and other advisors, consultants and experts, to assist the committee in fulfilling its duties and
responsibilities, including authority to retain and to approve any such firm�s fees and other retention terms.

Below is a description of the duties and composition of each standing committee of the Board.

Audit Committee
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The Company has a separately designated standing audit committee established in accordance with section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act and
National Instrument 52-110 � Audit Committees (�NI 52-110�). The current members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Kirsch, who serves as
Chairperson, Mr. Lee and Mr. Thrasher. The Board has determined that each of the members of the Audit Committee is independent as defined
by the applicable NASDAQ listing standards, the SEC rules applicable to audit committee members and within the meaning of NI 52-110. Each
of the Audit Committee members is able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, including a company�s balance sheet, income
statement, and cash flow statement, and has an understanding of the accounting principles used to prepare financial statements, as well as an
understanding of the internal controls and procedures necessary for financial reporting. See �The Board in General� above for the relevant
education and experience of each current member of the Audit Committee. The Board has also determined that each member of the Audit
Committee qualifies as an �audit committee financial expert� as defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K.

The Audit Committee oversees our financial reporting process and system of internal control over financial reporting, and selects and oversees
the performance of, and approves in advance the services provided by, our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee
provides an open avenue of communication among our independent registered public accounting firm, financial and senior management and the
Board. The Audit Committee meets regularly with our independent registered public accounting firm without management present, and from
time to time with management in separate private sessions, to discuss any matters that the Audit Committee or these individuals believe should
be discussed privately with the Audit Committee, including any significant issues or disagreements that may arise concerning our accounting
practices or financial statements. The Audit Committee also oversees our whistleblower policy for receiving and handling complaints or
concerns regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters. In addition, the Audit Committee assists the Board in its
oversight role by providing quarterly reports regarding our risk and control environment to the Board.

The foregoing description of the responsibilities of the Audit Committee is intended as a summary only and does not purport to be complete and
is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the Audit Committee�s charter, a  copy of which is set out in
Annex C to this Proxy Statement and posted on our website at www.aralez.com.
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Compensation Committee

The current members of the Compensation Committee are Mr. Lee, who serves as Chairperson, Mr. Fowler and Dr. Rudnick. Each of the current
members of the Compensation Committee is independent as defined by the applicable NASDAQ listing standards and within the meaning of NI
58-101.

Decisions regarding the compensation of our executive officers are made by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee�s
principal responsibilities include reviewing our overall compensation philosophy and the adequacy and market competitiveness of our
compensation plans and programs, evaluating the Company�s compensation policies and practices to determine whether these policies and
practices create incentives for a particular employee group to take actions which could put the Company at undue risk, evaluating the
performance of and reviewing and approving compensation for our executive officers, evaluating and recommending director compensation, and
reviewing and discussing with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis included in this Proxy Statement. The Compensation
Committee also administers our equity-based and other incentive plans, including assuming responsibility for granting, or delegating as
appropriate the authority for granting, and making decisions with respect to, awards under our equity compensation and other incentive plans.

To assist in its efforts to meet the objectives and responsibilities outlined above, the Compensation Committee has retained an executive
compensation consultant. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 (�Fiscal Year 2016�), the Compensation Committee retained Radford,
an Aon Hewitt Company, and nationally known executive compensation and benefits consulting firm, to advise it on various matters related to
executive and director compensation and compensation programs.

The foregoing description of the responsibilities of the Compensation Committee is intended as a summary only and does not purport to be
complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the Compensation Committee�s charter, a copy
of which is posted on our website at www.aralez.com.

Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee

The current members of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee are Dr. Rudnick, who serves as Chairperson, Mr. Fowler, Mr. Kirsch
and Mr. Thrasher. Each of the members of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is independent as defined by the applicable
NASDAQ listing standards and within the meaning of NI 58-101.

The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities regarding the oversight of the composition
of the Board and other corporate governance matters. Among its other duties, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee: (i) evaluates
nominees and reviews the qualifications of individuals eligible to stand for election and reelection as directors and makes recommendations to
the Board on this matter; (ii) oversees compliance with our Code of Conduct; (iii) reviews and approves related party transactions;
(iv) recommends and advises the Board on certain other corporate governance matters; and (v) oversees the Board�s performance evaluation
process.

The foregoing description of the responsibilities of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is intended as a summary only and does
not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the Nominating/Corporate
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Governance Committee�s charter, a copy of which is posted on our website at www.aralez.com.

Transaction Committee

The current members of the Transaction Committee are Mr. Adams, who serves as Chairperson, Mr. Aryeh, Mr. Harris and Mr. Kirsch.

The Transaction Committee�s principal activities include, among others, reviewing and evaluating potential strategic business development and
licensing transactions of the Company, overseeing strategic transactions, facilitating the negotiation and/or consummation of the terms of any
proposed strategic transaction, and approval of any strategic transaction that falls within the scope of the Transaction Committee�s authority in
respect of business development strategy and which the Transaction Committee believes to be in the best interest of the Company.
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The foregoing description of the responsibilities of the Transaction Committee is intended as a summary only and does not purport to be
complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the Transaction Committee�s charter, a copy of
which is posted on our website at www.aralez.com.

Other Committees

The Board may establish other committees as it deems necessary or appropriate from time to time.

Board Meetings and Attendance During Fiscal Year 2016

Following the merger with Pozen, the Board held a total of 14 meetings during Fiscal Year 2016 to, among other things, review significant
developments affecting the Company, engage in strategic planning, and act on matters requiring approval from the Board. During Fiscal
Year 2016, each director attended more than 75% of the aggregate number of Board meetings and meetings of
committees of the Board on which he served.

The following chart sets out the number and percentage of meetings attended by the Board during Fiscal Year 2016 following completion of the
merger:

Director Board
Audit

Committee
Compensation
Committee

Nominating/Corporate
Governance Committee

Transaction
Committee Total

Adrian Adams 14/14 (100%) 13/13 (100%) 27/27 (100%)
Jason M. Aryeh 12/13(1) (92%) 4/4(2) (100%) 10/11(3) (91%) 26/28 (92%)
Neal F. Fowler 14/14 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 24/24 (100%)
Rob Harris 14/14(4) (100%) 13/13 (100%) 27/27 (100%)
Arthur S. Kirsch 14/14 (100%) 4/4 (100%) 2/2(4) (100%) 5/5 (100%) 13/13 (100%) 38/38 (100%)
Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. 14/14 (100%) 4/4 (100%) 5/5 (100%) 23/23 (100%)
Seth A. Rudnick, M.D. 11/14 (79%) 1/1(5) (100%) 5/5 (100%) 4/5 (80%) 21/25 (84%)
F. Martin Thrasher 14/14 (100%) 3/3(6) (100%) 3/4(7) (75%) 20/21 (95%)

(1)   Jason M. Aryeh recused himself from the Board meeting held on August 31, 2016, and so for purposes of this chart, this meeting has been removed from the
total number of Board meetings as applicable to Mr. Aryeh.

(2)   Jason M. Aryeh joined the Compensation Committee on March 9, 2016.

(3)   Jason M. Aryeh recused himself from the Transaction Committee meetings held on September 6, 2016 and August 30, 2016, and so for purposes of this chart,
these meetings have been removed from the total number of Transaction Committee meetings as applicable to Mr. Aryeh.
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(4)   Arthur S. Kirsch stopped serving as a member of the Compensation Committee on March 9, 2016.

(5)   Seth A. Rudnick stopped serving as a member of the Audit Committee on March 9, 2016.

(6)   F. Martin Thrasher joined the Audit Committee on March 9, 2016.

(7)   F. Martin Thrasher joined the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee on March 9, 2016.
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Director Attendance at Annual Shareholders� Meetings

The Board encourages all directors to make attendance at all annual meetings of shareholders a priority. All of the Board members
named in this Proxy Statement attended the Company�s 2016 annual meeting of shareholders.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During Fiscal Year 2016, the members of the Compensation Committee were Messrs. Lee, Aryeh and Fowler and Dr. Rudnick. None of these
individuals has ever served as an officer or employee of the Company. None of the executive officers of the Company served on the board of
directors or compensation committee of a company that had an executive officer that served on the Board or the Compensation Committee.

Orientation and Continuing Education

The Board has developed a new director orientation policy designed to provide each new director with a baseline knowledge about the Company
that will serve as a basis for informed decision-making. The orientation program is tailored to the skills, experience, education, knowledge and
needs of each new director and consists of a combination of written materials, one-on-one meetings with the Chairperson of the Board and
members of the senior executive team from each key business function, office visits and other briefings and training as appropriate. As part of
the orientation, a new director will be presented with a director manual that reviews Board policies and procedures, the Company�s current
strategic plan, financial plan and capital plan, the most recent annual and quarterly reports and materials relating to key business issues. The
Chairperson of each committee is responsible for coordinating orientation and continuing director development programs relating to the
committee�s mandate.

The Board recognizes the importance of continuing education for directors. To facilitate ongoing education, the Company (i) encourages its
directors to attend seminars and conferences on matters relating to governance, financial accounting and/or pharmaceuticals; (ii) organizes
presentations by outside legal counsel and other advisors on matters of particular importance or emerging significance; and (iii) plans to provide
a subscription to the Board to a service providing regular updates on governance trends and emerging topics of interest. In addition, the directors
are canvassed for suggestions on educational presentations and reports and may request presentations by management or external advisors on
issues of particular interest.
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to our employees, officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer
and other members of our finance and administration department) and our directors.

The objective of the Code of Conduct is to provide guidelines for maintaining integrity, honesty and ethical conduct, objectivity and impartiality
of the Company. The Code of Conduct addresses, among other topics, conflicts of interest, protection and proper use of corporate assets and
opportunities, confidentiality, fair dealing with the Company�s shareholders, customers, suppliers, competitors and employees, compliance with
laws, rules and regulations and reporting of any illegal or unethical behavior.

As part of the Code of Conduct, any person subject to the Code of Conduct is required to avoid situations involving a conflict, or an appearance
of a conflict, between their personal, family or business interests, and interests of those of the Company and must promptly disclose any such
conflict, or an appearance of a conflict, to the Company. The Board has the ultimate responsibility for stewardship of the Code of Conduct. The
Board has designated the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee to oversee the administration of the Code of Conduct. The
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee reviews and approves all related party transactions that must be disclosed pursuant to applicable
securities laws and regulations.

All persons subject to the Code of Conduct are required to provide, upon request, certification of compliance with the Code of Conduct, as well
as compliance with all Company policies.

The foregoing description of the Code of Conduct is intended as summary only and does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is
qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions, of the Code of Conduct, a copy of which is available on our website at
www.aralez.com and available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. We will disclose on our website any future amendments to and/or waivers from
the Conduct of Conduct that relate to our directors or executive officers.

Considerations in Evaluating Director Nominees

The Board is responsible for nominating members for election to the Board and for filling vacancies on the Board that may occur between
annual meetings of shareholders. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for evaluating and recommending candidates
to the Board for board membership based upon an assessment of the independence, skills, qualifications and experience of the candidate and in a
manner consistent with the criteria approved by the Board. Directors should be persons of good character and thus should possess integrity,
accountability, judgment, responsibility, high performance standards, commitment, enthusiasm and courage.  Specifically, the Board seeks
members from diverse professional and personal backgrounds who combine a broad spectrum of experience and expertise with a reputation for
integrity. No director should serve on more than five other public company boards and no member of the Audit Committee should serve on more
than two other public company audit committees.

It is our Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee�s policy to consider shareholder proposals for nominees for election as directors that are
nominated in accordance with our Articles, including the Advance Notice Provisions contained therein (as described below), and other
applicable laws, including the rules and regulations of the SEC, applicable NASDAQ listing standards, and any other stock market on which we
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have applied to list our Common Shares for trading or quotation. See �Advance Notice Provisions� below.

Advance Notice Provisions

The Company�s Articles include advance notice provisions (the �Advance Notice Provisions�) for the purpose of providing shareholders, directors
and management of the Company with a clear framework for nominating directors of the Company in connection with any annual or special
meeting of shareholders. The Advance Notice Provisions are intended to (i) ensure that all shareholders receive adequate notice of director
nominations and sufficient time and information with respect to all nominees for appropriate deliberations and register an informed vote; and
(ii) facilitate an orderly and efficient process for annual or special meetings of shareholders of the Company. The Advance Notice Provisions fix
the deadlines by which shareholders must submit director nominations to the Corporate Secretary of the Company prior to any annual or special
meeting of shareholders for an effective nomination to occur. No person will be eligible for election as a director of the Company unless
nominated in accordance with the Advance Notice Provisions.

In the case of an annual meeting of shareholders, notice must be received by a senior officer of the Company at the principal executive office of
the Company not less than 30 days before the date of the annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the annual meeting is to be
held on a date that is less than 50 days after the date on which the first public announcement of the date of the annual meeting was made, notice
may be made not later than the close of business on the 10th day following such public announcement. In the case of a general meeting of
shareholders (which is not also an annual meeting), notice to the Company must be made not later than the close of business on the 15th day
following the day on which the first public announcement of the date of the general meeting of shareholders was made. These provisions may
preclude shareholders from making nominations for directors at a general meeting of shareholders. The Board may, in its sole discretion, waive
any requirement of the Advance Notice Provisions. For the purposes of the Advance Notice Provisions, �public announcement� means disclosure
in a press release reported by a national news service in Canada, or in a document publicly filed by the Company on the EDGAR website
maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov and on the SEDAR website maintained by the CSA at www.sedar.com.
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The foregoing description of the Advance Notice Provisions is intended as a summary only and does not purport to be complete and is subject
to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the Company�s Articles, which are available on the EDGAR website
matined by the SEC at www.sec.gov and on the SEDAR website maintained by the CSA at www.sedar.com.

Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a written diversity policy (the �Diversity Policy�), which recognizes the importance and benefit of having a Board and
a slate of executive officers comprised of highly talented and experienced individuals, with a view toward fostering and promoting diversity
amongst members of the Board and the Company�s executive team. The Diversity Policy mandates that the Board and its committees, as
applicable, will, when identifying candidates for election to the Board or appointment as executive officers: (i) consider individuals who are
highly qualified, based on their talents, experience, functional expertise and personal skills, character and qualities; (ii) consider criteria that
promote diversity, including with regard to gender, ethnicity, age, national origin, disability, sexual orientation, and other dimensions; and
(iii) consider the level of representation of women on the Board and in executive officer positions.

The Board recognizes the benefits that diversity brings to a company and will measure the effectiveness of the Diversity Policy based on, among
other things, the relative increase of diversity on the Board and in executive officer positions over time, as well as the implementation of specific
processes designed to foster the progression of diverse candidates to be considered for nomination or appointment. Currently, the Board is
comprised of eight (8) male directors (100%). There are currently no female directors on the Board. There are currently six men (86%) and one
woman (14%) with representation in the Company�s senior leadership group.A key objective of the Diversity Policy is to bring that diversity of
thought which the Board believes is important to successful decision-making and stewardship to the Company.

Neither targets nor quotas relating to the identification and nomination of women directors or officers have been adopted to date, as the Board
believes the focus when filling vacancies on the Board or the executive team should remain on finding the best qualified candidates given the
needs and circumstances of the Company. A nominee�s diversity has and will, however, continue to be considered in the assessment of director
nominees.

The foregoing description of the Diversity Policy is intended as a summary only and does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is
qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the Diversity Policy, which is appended to the Corporate Governance Guidelines
set out in Annex B to this Proxy Statement and posted on our website at www.aralez.com.

Board Renewal

The Board has considered the issue of term limits and will continue to do so from time to time. At this time, given that the Company is a newly
public company, the Board is of the view that imposing term limits would not be appropriate for the Company. The Board believes that its
self-evaluation process is an effective and transparent way to ensure directors continue to remain strong contributors and that the current
composition of the Board reflects this objective. See �- Board Evaluations� below. The Board has adopted a policy of mandatory retirement for
directors such that no person shall be nominated by the Board to serve as a director after he or she has passed his or her 75th birthday, unless the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee has voted, on an annual basis, to waive the mandatory retirement age for such director. The
Board believes that this retirement policy, taken in conjunction with the Company�s annual assessment process and Diversity Policy, ensures the
natural evolution of the Board.
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Board Evaluations

Pursuant to the terms of the Company�s Corporate Governance Guidelines and the charters of each of the respective committees of the Board, the
Board assesses the effectiveness of the Board and each of the committees of the Board at regular intervals. The Nominating/Corporate
Governance Committee, on behalf of the Board, works with external counsel to develop and undertake the assessment process as outline in the
table below:

Person(s) Reviewed Reviewed By Actions and Outcomes
Board of Directors All members of the

Board
•   Board members complete
a detailed questionnaire which
provides both assessments and
qualitative commentary with respect
to Board effectiveness.
•  A report is prepared by
external counsel and reviewed with
the Chairpersons of the Board and the
Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee.
•  Matters requiring
follow-up are identified and action
plans are developed and monitored
by the Nominating/Corporate
Governance Committee.

Board Committees All Members of each
Committee

•  Members of each
committee complete a detailed
questionnaire which provides both
assessments and qualitative
commentary with respect to
committee effectiveness.
•  A report is prepared by
external counsel and reviewed by the
Chairperson of the
Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee.
•  The Chairperson of each
committee discuss the results of the
assessment with the respective
committee and agree on any required
matters for follow-up or action plans,
as appropriate.

Individual Directors Each director •  The Chairperson of the
Board and Chairperson of the
Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee conduct follow-up or
prepare action plans, as appropriate,
with each member of the Board.
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Communications with the Board

The Board values communications with shareholders and other stakeholders, and will ensure that measures are in place to facilitate effective
communications between the Board and its shareholders and other stakeholders. The Corporate Governance Guidelines set forth the Company�s
policy on communications with shareholders. Historically, almost all communications that the Company receives from shareholders and other
stakeholders are administrative in nature and are not directed to the Board. If the Company should receive a shareholder or stakeholder
communication directed to the Board, or to an individual director, said communication will be relayed to the Board or the individual director as
the case may be.

Cease Trade Orders and Bankruptcies

Except as noted below, none of the Company�s directors or executive officers:

(a)  is, as at the date of this Proxy Statement, or has been, within 10 years before the date of this Proxy Statement, a
director, CEO or CFO of any company (including the Company) that,

i.  was subject to an order that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the capacity as
director, CEO or CFO; or

ii.  was subject to an order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, CEO or
CFO and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as a director, CEO or
CFO;

(b)  is, as at the date of this Proxy Statement, or has been within 10 years before the date of this Proxy Statement, a
director or executive officer of any company (including the Company) that, while that person was acting in that
capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or

(c)  has, within the 10 years before the date of this Proxy Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director,
executive officer or shareholder.
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For the purposes of the paragraphs above, �order� means: (i) a cease trade order; (ii) an order similar to a cease trade order; or (iii) an order that
denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive
days.

In September 2011, Mr. Adams was appointed Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer of Neurologix and Mr. Koven was appointed President
and Chief Administrative Officer and a member of the board of directors of Neurologix. Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven each resigned from
Neurologix in November 2011, primarily due to the company�s inability to raise sufficient capital to continue its operations (including its
inability to compensate Messrs. Adams and Koven for their services). Neurologix filed for protection under Chapter 7 of the U.S. Bankruptcy
Code on March 16, 2012.

Mr. Thrasher was a director of New Food Classics Inc., a private company which filed for creditor protection in January 2012 under the
Companies� Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada). Mr. Thrasher resigned from the board of New Food Classics Inc. in February 2012.
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Penalties or Sanctions

No director or executive officer of the Company has:

(a)  been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or

(b)  been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be
considered important to a reasonable security holder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Our executive officers as of the date of this Proxy Statement are as follows:

Name Age Position with the Company
Adrian Adams 66 Chief Executive Officer
Andrew I. Koven 59 President and Chief Business Officer
Scott J. Charles 42 Chief Financial Officer
Jennifer L. Armstrong 46 Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Administration
Mark A. Glickman 51 Chief Commercial Officer
Eric L. Trachtenberg 44 General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer and Corporate Secretary
James P. Tursi, M.D. 52 Chief Medical Officer

Our executive officers are appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, the Board. There are no familial relationships among any of our executive
officers and directors of the Company.

Adrian Adams � For Mr. Adam�s biography, please see above under �Board of Directors and Corporate Governance�The
Board in General�.

Andrew I. Koven has been our President and Chief Business Officer since February 5, 2016.  Previously, Mr. Koven was
the President and Chief Business Officer of Pozen from June 2015 through February 5, 2016. Prior to joining Pozen,
Mr. Koven served as Chief Administrative Officer and General Counsel of Auxilium Pharmaceuticals Inc., a specialty
biopharmaceutical company, from February 2012 until January 2015, when it was acquired by Endo International plc.
Mr. Koven served as President and Chief Administrative Officer and a member of the board of directors of
Neurologix, Inc., a company focused on the development of multiple innovative gene therapy development programs,
from September 2011 to December 2011. Before Neurologix, Inc., Mr. Koven served as Executive Vice President and
Chief Administrative and Legal Officer of Inspire Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company, from
July 2010 until May 2011 when it was acquired by Merck & Co., Inc. Previously, Mr. Koven served as Executive
Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Sepracor Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company, from
March 2007 until February 2010 when it was acquired by Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. Prior to joining
Sepracor, Mr. Koven served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Kos
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company, from August 2003 until its acquisition by Abbott
Laboratories in December 2006. Mr. Koven began his career in the pharmaceutical industry first as an Assistant
General Counsel and then as Associate General Counsel at Warner-Lambert Company from 1993 to 2000, followed
by his role as Senior Vice President and General Counsel at Lavipharm Corporation from 2000 to 2003. From 1986 to
1992 he was a corporate associate at Cahill, Gordon & Reindel in New York. From 1992 to 1993 he served as
Counsel, Corporate and Investment Division, at The Equitable Life Assurance Society of the U.S.

Scott J. Charles has been our Chief Financial Officer since February 5, 2016.  Mr. Charles was previously Chief
Financial Officer of Pozen from January 1, 2016 through February 5, 2016, and was Pozen�s Senior Vice President of
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Finance of from July 2015 through December 31, 2016. Prior to joining Pozen, Mr. Charles served as the Vice
President of Finance and Treasurer at Ikaria, Inc., a critical care pharmaceutical company, from April 2008 to
July 2015. From April 2002 to March 2008, Mr. Charles worked at Reliant Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in various finance
functions, culminating with serving as the Vice President of Finance and Treasurer from April 2006 to March 2008.
Prior to that, he was a Manager of Assurance and Business Advisory Services at Arthur Andersen, LLP. He holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Business Administration from Bucknell University and is a Certified Public
Accountant.
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Jennifer L. Armstrong has been our Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Administration since February 5,
2016.  Ms. Armstrong was previously the Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Administration of Pozen
from June 2015 through February 5, 2016.  Prior to joining Pozen, she served as Senior Vice President of Human
Resources at Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty biopharmaceutical company, from July 2009 to March 2015.
Prior to that, she served at Senior Vice President of Human Resources and Corporate Communications at Genaera
Corporation, a specialty biopharmaceutical company, from January 1998 to May 2009. Ms. Armstrong holds a
Master�s degree in Arts Administration and a Bachelor�s degree in Corporate Communications, both from Drexel
University.

Mark A. Glickman has been our Chief Commercial Officer since February 5, 2016.  From June 2015 to February 5,
2016, Mr. Glickman was the Chief Commercial Officer of Pozen. Mr. Glickman previously served as Executive Vice
President of Sales and Marketing for Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, a specialty biopharmaceutical company, from
February 2012 to March 2015. From February 2009 to February 2012, he served as Vice President in the medical
device division at Otsuka America Pharmaceutical, Inc., a pharmaceutical and medical device company and a
subsidiary of Otsuka America, Inc. Prior to Otsuka, Mr. Glickman served as Senior Vice President of Sales and
Marketing at Oscient Pharmaceuticals Corp., a commercial-stage pharmaceutical company, from September 2007 to
September 2009. Before joining Oscient, from May 2007 to September 2007, Mr. Glickman served as Vice President
of Sales at Bayer Healthcare�s Diabetes Care Division. From 2001 to 2007, he held various positions at Kos
Pharmaceuticals, including Director of Marketing, Regional Sales Director and Vice President of Sales. Mr. Glickman
started his pharmaceutical career at Bristol-Myers Squibb where he was responsible for the marketing of
cardiovascular products, including the blockbuster Plavix. Mr. Glickman holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from New York University.

Eric L. Trachtenberg has been our General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer and Corporate Secretary since
February 5, 2016.  Previously, Mr. Trachtenberg was the General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer and Corporate
Secretary of Pozen from January 1, 2016 through February 5, 2016, and was Deputy General Counsel of Pozen from
June 2015 through December 31, 2015.  Prior to joining Pozen, Mr. Trachtenberg most recently served as Deputy
General Counsel at Auxilium Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a specialty biopharmaceutical company, from May 2012 through
its acquisition by Endo Pharmaceuticals in February 2015. Prior to Auxilium, he was Vice President, General Counsel
and Corporate Secretary of Enobia Pharma, Inc., from April 2011 to April 2012, and managed all legal aspects of
Enobia�s sale to Alexion Pharmaceuticals. Prior to that, Mr. Trachtenberg served as Vice President and Associate
General Counsel of Sepracor Inc. and remained in that position with Sunovion Pharmaceuticals Inc. following the
acquisition of Sepracor by Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma. Mr. Trachtenberg also held a Senior Counsel position at Kos
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. before its acquisition by Abbott. Mr. Trachtenberg began his career as an Associate at Blank
Rome LLP. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Management from Tulane University and a Juris Doctorate and
Master of Business Administration degree from Temple University.

James P. Tursi, M.D. has been our Chief Medical Officer since February 5, 2016.  From October 2015 to February 5,
2016, Dr. Tursi was Chief Medical Officer of Pozen. Previously, Dr. Tursi served as Chief Medical Officer of
Innocoll AG, a specialty pharmaceutical company, from March 2015 to September 2015, where he was responsible
for managing all clinical research and development, medical affairs and safety activities. Prior to joining Innocoll,
Dr. Tursi served as Chief Medical Officer at Auxilium Pharmaceuticals Inc., a specialty biopharmaceutical company,
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from August 2011 to March 2015, and as Vice President of Clinical Research & Development from March 2009 to
August 2011. In these positions, Dr. Tursi was responsible for oversight of clinical and nonclinical development
programs, clinical operations, medical affairs and global safety activities, and served as the clinical medical safety
lead for all regulatory agency interactions with the FDA, Europe and Canada. Prior to Auxilium, he served as Director
of Medical Affairs for GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals from January 2006 to March 2009 and directed all medical
affairs responsibilities for the cervical cancer vaccine in North America. Dr. Tursi entered the pharmaceutical industry
in 2004 as a Medical Director for Procter and Gamble Pharmaceuticals until 2006. He worked on several products and
therapeutic areas, which included female sexual dysfunction, overactive bladder, and osteoporosis. His responsibilities
included clinical development and medical affairs. Dr. Tursi was a board certified OB/GYN and practiced medicine
and surgery for over 10 years. Dr. Tursi received his doctor of medicine degree from the Medical College of
Pennsylvania and completed his residency training at the Johns Hopkins Hospital. Dr. Tursi has served as a member
of the board of directors of Agile Therapeutics, a women�s health specialty pharmaceutical company, since
October 2014, and is Chairperson of the compensation committee.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted written policies and procedures for the review, approval or ratification of transactions involving the Company and any
executive officer, director, director nominee, 5% shareholder and certain of their immediate family members (each of whom we refer to as a
�related person�). The policies and procedures cover any transaction involving $120,000 or more with a related person (a �related person
transaction�) in which the related person has a material interest and which does not fall under an explicitly stated exception set forth in the
applicable disclosure rules of the SEC.

Any proposed related person transaction must be reported to the Chairperson of our Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee. The policy
calls for the transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed appropriate, approved by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee. The
transaction should be approved in advance whenever practicable. If not practicable, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee will
review, and may, if deemed appropriate, ratify the related person transaction. The policy also permits the Chairperson of the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee to approve related person transactions that arise between committee meetings, subject to
ratification by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee at its next meeting. Any related person transaction that is ongoing in nature
will be reviewed annually.

A related person transaction will be considered approved or ratified if it is authorized by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee or
Chairperson after full disclosure of the related person�s interest in the transaction. The transaction may be approved or ratified only if the
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee determines that the transaction is not inconsistent with the Company�s best interests. In
considering related person transactions, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee will consider any information considered material to
investors and the following factors:

•  the related person�s interest in the transaction;

•  the approximate dollar value of the transaction;

•  whether the transaction was undertaken in the ordinary course of our business;

•  whether the terms of the transaction are no less favorable to us than terms that we could have reached
with an unrelated third party; and

•  the purpose and potential benefit to us of the transaction.

The policy provides that transactions involving the compensation of our executive officers will be reviewed and approved by the Compensation
Committee or the Board, in accordance with the Compensation Committee�s charter.
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Second Amended and Restated Debt Facility Agreement and Amended and Restated Subscription Agreement

Subsequent to December 31, 2015, and concurrent with Tribute Transaction, we received an aggregate of $149.2 million of cash proceeds
consisting of $75 million from the issuance of 2.5% senior secured convertible notes to the Deerfield Entities (hereafter defined) pursuant to the
Second Amended and Restated Debt Facility Agreement (the �Facility Agreement�), as amended, dated December 7, 2015, by and among Aralez,
Pozen, Tribute, Deerfield Private Design Fund III, L.P. (�Deerfield Private Design�), Deerfield International Master Fund, L.P. (�Deerfield
International) and Deerfield Partners, L.P. (�Deerfield Partners� and, together with Deerfield Private Design, and Deerfield International, the
�Deerfield Entities�), and an aggregate of $75 million from certain investors pursuant to the Amended and Restated Subscription Agreement (the
�Subscription Agreement�), dated December 7, 2015, by and among Aralez, Aralez Pharmaceuticals Limited, Tribute, Pozen, QLT ($45,000,000),
Deerfield Private Design ($5,000,000), Deerfield International ($2,800,000), Deerfield Partners ($2,200,000), Broadfin Healthcare Master
Fund, Ltd. ($12,500,000), JW Partners, LP ($5,850,000) and JW Opportunities Master Fund, Ltd. ($1,650,000), net of certain transaction-related
costs, and used part of the proceeds to pay off Tribute�s existing debt obligations including accrued interest and termination fees in the amount of
$22.5 million. As a result of these transactions, the Deerfield Entities and Broadfin became holders of more than 5% of our outstanding
Common Shares.

The convertible notes issued pursuant to the Facility Agreement (described above) are due in February 2022 and are not prepayable by Aralez.
In addition, under the Facility Agreement, Aralez also had a $200 million acquisition facility available until April 30, 2017.  In October 2016,
Aralez drew down $200 million under the acquisition facility to finance permitted acquisitions. The acquisition facility is to be repaid over a
6-year period from each draw. Amounts drawn under the acquisition facility bear an interest rate of 12.5% per annum and are prepayable in
whole or in part at any time following the end of the sixth month after the funding date of each draw.

We have paid $980,602 in legal fees to the attorneys representing the Deerfield Entities since January 1, 2016 in connection with matters related
to the Facility Agreement.

In addition, pursuant to a consent to the Facility Agreement entered into in connection with certain acquisitions, the lenders under the Facility
Agreement agreed that they and/or affiliated funds will have available sufficient capital to make additional loans to Aralez in an aggregate
amount of up to $250 million for the payment of the purchase price of any acquisitions permitted by the terms of the Facility Agreement (as
modified by such consent) with respect to target businesses mutually approved by, and as otherwise mutually agreed upon, by Aralez and the
lenders, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions set forth in the Facility Agreement.

Payments to Rob Harris

In connection with the Tribute Transaction, Mr. Harris resigned from his position as President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of Tribute.
Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement with Tribute, Mr. Harris received a lump sum severance payment of $1,216,542 CAN, less
deductions and withholdings, upon his execution of a general release of claims against Tribute and Aralez.

Mr. Harris entered into a consulting agreement, dated February 5, 2016, with Tribute, pursuant to which he agreed to provide consulting services
to Tribute through his consulting firm and to advise and assist Mr. Adams, our Chief Executive Officer, on all material aspects of the Canadian
business and business conducted by Tribute, commencing February 5, 2016 and ending on June 30, 2016. Pursuant to the terms of the consulting
agreement, Mr. Harris� consulting firm was paid a weekly fee of $9,375 CAD for the services provided and reimbursed for all reasonable travel
and out-of-pocket expenses actually and properly incurred by the consulting firm from time to time in connection with the services provided
under the consulting agreement.
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OWNERSHIP OF THE COMPANY

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following tables sets forth information known to us concerning the beneficial ownership of our outstanding Common Shares as of March 6,
2017 (unless otherwise noted) for:

•  each person known by us to beneficially own 5% or more of our outstanding Common Shares;

•  each of our directors;

•  each of our named executive officers; and

•  all of our directors and current executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to
securities. In computing the number of Common Shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, Common
Shares that could be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options and warrants held by that person that are currently exercisable at March 6,
2017, or that will become exercisable within 60 days of March 6, 2017, are considered outstanding. These Common Shares, however, are not
considered outstanding when computing the percentage ownership of each other person.

Except as indicated in the footnotes to this table and pursuant to state community property laws, each shareholder named in the table has sole
voting and investment power for the Common Shares shown as beneficially owned by them. Percentage of ownership is based on 65,683,646
Common Shares issued and outstanding on March 6, 2017.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Number of Common
Shares

Beneficially Owned
Percentage

Beneficially Owned
Entities affiliated with Deerfield
Management Company, L.P. 10,701,185(1) 9.9%
Par Investment Partners, L.P. 6,400,000(2) 9.7%
Broadfin Capital, LLC 4,791,590(3) 7.3%

(1) Based on information disclosed in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2017 by Deerfield Mgmt, L.P., Deerfield
Management Company, L.P., Deerfield Mgmt III, L.P., Deerfield Private Design Fund III, L.P., Deerfield International Master Fund, L.P.,
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Deerfield Partners, L.P. and James E. Flynn (the �Deerfield Reporting Persons�).  As reported in the Schedule 13G/A filed by the Deerfield
Reporting Persons: (i) Deerfield Mgmt, L.P. has shared voting power and shared dispositive power with respect to 5,372,884 Common Shares,
comprised of an aggregate of 844,583 Common Shares and 4,528,301 Common Shares underlying convertible notes held by Deerfield Partners,
L.P. and Deerfield International Master Fund, L.P., of which Deerfield Mgmt, L.P. is the General Partner; (ii) Deerfield Management Company,
L.P. has shared voting power and shared dispositive power with respect to 10,701,185 Common Shares, comprised of an aggregate of 1,644,583
Common Shares and 9,056,602 Common Shares underlying convertible notes held by Deerfield Private Design Fund III, L.P., Deerfield
Partners, L.P. and Deerfield International Master Fund, L.P., of which Deerfield Management Company, L.P. is the investment advisor;
(iii) Deerfield Mgmt III, L.P. has shared voting power and shared dispositive power with respect to 5,328,301 Common Shares, comprised of an
aggregate of 800,000 Common Shares and 4,528,301 Common Shares underlying convertible notes held by Deerfield Private Design Fund III,
L.P., of which Deerfield Mgmt III, L.P. is the general partner; (iii) Deerfield Private Design Fund III, L.P. has shared voting power and shared
dispositive power with respect to 5,328,301 Common Shares, comprised of an aggregate of 800,000 Common Shares and 4,528,301 Common
Shares underlying convertible notes; (iv) Deerfield International Master Fund, L.P. has shared voting power and shared dispositive power with
respect to 3,008,815 Common Shares, comprised of an aggregate of 472,966 Common Shares and 2,535,849 Common Shares underlying
convertible notes; (v) Deerfield Partners, L.P. has shared voting power and shared dispositive power with respect to 2,364,069 Common Shares,
comprised of an aggregate of 371,617 Common Shares and 1,992,452 Common Shares underlying convertible notes; and (vi) James E. Flynn
has shared voting power and shared dispositive power with respect to 10,701,185 Common Shares, comprised of an aggregate of 1,644,583
Common Shares and 9,056,602 Common Shares underlying convertible notes held by Deerfield Private Design Fund III, L.P., Deerfield
Partners, L.P. and Deerfield International Master Fund, L.P. The provisions of the convertible notes beneficially owned by the Deerfield Entities
restrict the conversion of such securities to the extent that, upon such exercise or conversion, the number of Common Shares then beneficially
owned by the holder and any other person or entities with which such holder would constitute a Section 13(d) �group� would exceed 9.985% of
the total number of Common Shares of Aralez then outstanding (the �Ownership Cap�).  Accordingly, notwithstanding the number of Common
Shares reported, the Deerfield Entities disclaim beneficial ownership of the Common Shares issuable upon the conversion of such convertible
notes to the extent that upon such conversion the number of Common Shares beneficially owned by the Deerfield Reporting Persons hereunder,
in the aggregate, would exceed the Ownership Cap. The address of the Deerfield Reporting Persons is 780 Third Avenue, 37th Floor, New York,
NY 10017.
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(2) Based on information disclosed in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2017 with respect to ownership as of December 31,
2016 by PAR Investment Partners, L.P., PAR Group, L.P. and PAR Capital Management, Inc. PAR Group, L.P. is the sole general partner of
PAR Investment Partners, L.P. PAR Capital Management, Inc. is the sole general partner of PAR Group, L.P. The address of PAR Capital
Management, Inc. is 200 Clarendon Street, F1 48, Boston, MA 02116.

(3) Based on information disclosed in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2017, Broadfin Capital, LLC, Broadfin Healthcare
Master Fund, Ltd., and Kevin Kotler share voting power and dispositive power with respect to these Common Shares. The address of Broadfin
Capital, LLC is 300 Park Avenue, 25th Floor, New York, NY 10022.

Name of Beneficial Owner(1)

Number of Common
Shares

Beneficially Owned
Percentage

Beneficially Owned
Adrian Adams 1,556,173(2) 2.4%
Jason M. Aryeh 92,755(3) *
Scott J. Charles 105,647(4) *
Neal F. Fowler 58,869 *
Mark A. Glickman 68,823(5) *
Rob Harris 1,423,081(6) 2.2%
Arthur S. Kirsch 119,930(7) *
Andrew I. Koven 269,551(8) *
Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. 89,059(9) *
Seth A. Rudnick, M.D. 86,891(10) *
F. Martin Thrasher 381,211(11) *
James P. Tursi, M.D. 71,647(12) *
All current directors, director nominees and executive officers as a group (14 persons) 4,410,709(13) 6.7%

*                 Less than 1%

(1)  Unless otherwise set forth herein, the address of the named beneficial owners is c/o Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc., 7100 West Credit Avenue,
Suite 101, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada, L5N 0E4.

(2)  This number includes 28,505 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of March 6, 2017 and 41,446 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to RSUs that will vest within 60 days of
March 6, 2017.

(3)  These Common Shares are held by JALAA Equities, LP, of which Mr. Aryeh is the General Partner, and include 45,468 Common Shares
issuable pursuant to warrants that are currently exercisable.

(4)   This number includes 10,859 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of March 6, 2017 and 15,789 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to RSUs that will vest within 60 days of
March 6, 2017.
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(5)   This number includes 10,443 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of March 6, 2017 and 15,184 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to RSUs that will vest within 60 days of
March 6, 2017.
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(6)   This number includes 190,830 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of March 6, 2017 and 45,469 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to warrants that are currently exercisable.

(7) This number includes 18,321 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable
within 60 days of March 6, 2017.

(8) This number includes 14,243 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of March 6, 2017 and 20,710 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to RSUs that will vest within 60 days of
March 6, 2017.

(9) This number includes 6,107 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of March 6, 2017.

(10)  This number includes 30,000 Common Shares held in the Seth A. Rudnick 2014 GST Trust U/A Dated 3/01/2014
(the �Trust�) for the benefit of Mr. Rudnick�s heirs. Mr. Rudnick�s spouse is the trustee of the Trust.

(11) This number includes 13,095 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become
exercisable within 60 days of March 6, 2017 and 90,938 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to warrants that are currently exercisable.

(12) This number includes 10,859 Common Shares issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable
within 60 days of March 6, 2017 and 15,789 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 6, 2017.

(13) This number includes 318,410 Common Shares issuable pursuant to stock options that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable
within 60 days of March 6, 2017, 130,943 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 6, 2017
and 136,407 Common Shares that are issuable pursuant to warrants that are currently exercisable.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, and the rules issued thereunder, requires our directors and executive officers and beneficial owners of more
than 10% of our equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in beneficial ownership of our equity securities with the SEC. Copies
of these reports are furnished to the Company. Based solely on our review of the copies of such reports furnished to us, and representations from
the persons subject to Section 16(a) with respect to the Company, we believe that during 2016 all of our executive officers, directors and 10%
shareholders complied with the Section 16(a) requirements, except that QLT Inc. filed one late Form 4 reporting one transaction.
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EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the disclosures contained in the �Compensation Discussion and
Analysis� below. Based on that review and discussion, the Compensation Committee has recommended to the Board that the Compensation
Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE:

Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. (Chairperson)
Neal F. Fowler
Seth A. Rudnick, M.D.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis explains our compensation program for Fiscal Year 2016 as it pertains to our named executive
officers. Our named executive officers for Fiscal Year 2016 consisted of the following:

•  Adrian Adams, Chief Executive Officer (�CEO�);

•  Andrew I. Koven, President and Chief Business Officer;

•  Scott J. Charles, Chief Financial Officer;

•  James P. Tursi, MD, Chief Medical Officer; and

•  Mark A. Glickman, Chief Commercial Officer.

For purposes of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we refer to these persons as our �named executive officers.�
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Executive Summary

Our 2016 fiscal year was a transformational year for our company. The Pozen and Tribute business combination was completed on February 5,
2016, and the combined entity now operates as Aralez. The combined company was intended to provide the former shareholders of Pozen and
Tribute with significant strategic and financial benefits over time, as the combined company is a more diversified provider of specialty
healthcare products with a strategic focus on cardiovascular and pain indications, a global footprint, and is better positioned to meet the
challenges of the evolving future landscape in the pharmaceutical industry.

In our first year of operation as Aralez, we have made excellent progress in delivering against the expectations that we outlined upon the
formation of the Company. In September 2016, Yosprala was approved by the FDA, and was launched in October 2016, strengthening our
therapeutic anchor position in cardiovascular disease. We acquired Zontivity in September 2016 and Toprol-XL and its authorized generic in
October 2016, leveraging our competitive platform by executing on our growth strategy and further diversifying our product offerings and
revenue stream. In addition, Blexten was approved by Health Canada in April 2016, and was launched commercially in Canada in
December 2016.

We have achieved this progress while also maintaining a sound financial position through disciplined decision making and cost management. As
a result, we ended 2016 with revenues and earnings that were greater than our original financial guidance and expenses that were less than our
original guidance.

2016 Compensation Actions

In anticipation, and since the completion of the Tribute Transaction, our Compensation Committee undertook a review of the Pozen executive
compensation program, and focused on creating the appropriate compensation metrics for a company the size of Aralez, at a similar stage and
with similar corporate objectives. In 2016, our Compensation Committee designed our new executive compensation program, including the
following:

•  Compensation Philosophy. Development of the Aralez compensation philosophy;

•  Peer Group. Establishment of the Aralez peer group, consisting of companies of a similar size to Aralez with
a similar business focus;

•  Annual Incentive Bonus Plan. Adoption of our annual incentive bonus plan for Fiscal Year 2016, based on
the potential achievement of Aralez corporate goals for Fiscal Year 2016;

•  Long-Term Equity Program. Development of our long-term equity-based incentive program, consisting of a
combination of time-based and performance-based equity awards; and
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•  Pay-For-Performance. Focus on compensation that is based on the achievement of pre-established
performance goals.

The executive compensation program developed by our Compensation Committee is designed to promote the short- and long-term objectives of
Aralez, and to ensure that our executives are provided compensation based on their performance and achievement against these objectives. Our
Compensation Committee also determined that our executive compensation program would include the following practices and policies, which
help to align the interests of our executives and our shareholders and reduce any risks involved in our compensation program:

ü  Share Ownership Guidelines. Robust share ownership guidelines that apply to our CEO.
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ü  Share Retention Policy. A share retention policy that applies to all of our named executive officers.

ü  Anti-Pledging Policy. Executives and directors are not permitted to pledge shares.

ü  Anti-Hedging Policy. Executives and directors may not enter into hedging transactions.

ü  Clawback Policy. Clawback policy that applies to incentive-based compensation awarded to executives if there
is a restatement of financials.

ü  No Repricings. The Aralez 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the �2016 Plan�) prohibits repricings without
shareholder approval.

ü  No Single Trigger Awards. New equity awards will not automatically accelerate upon a Change of Control.

ü  No Section 280G Gross-Ups. Employment agreements no longer contain a Section 280G excise tax gross-up.

In March 2017, our Compensation Committee determined that the pre-determined Company performance metrics set by the Compensation
Committee early in 2016 with respect to our 2016 Annual Incentive Bonus Plan had been achieved at the 196.76% level. However, our
Compensation Committee and our management determined that adjustments were appropriate in order to achieve a greater degree of alignment
between executive pay and the interests of our shareholders. In light of our recent share price performance and certain near-term business
challenges, our Compensation Committee and our management agreed that the annual incentive bonuses for our named executive officers would
be paid out at the target level, rather than the much higher level of actual achievement under the pre-determined Company performance metrics
for 2016 (for Mr. Glickman, the annual cash incentive award would be paid at target for the Company performance factor, and at his actual level
of achievement for his individual objectives). Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven also agreed to remove themselves from eligibility for a cash bonus
under our Annual Incentive Bonus Plan with respect to the 2017 performance period. Our Compensation Committee and management are
committed to aligning our executive compensation program with the interests of our shareholders, and this adjustment to the 2016 annual
incentive bonuses demonstrates this commitment.

2016 Shareholder Say-on-Pay Vote

Aralez provides shareholders the opportunity to cast an annual, non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation (a �say-on-pay proposal�).
Proposal 5 below is an advisory vote on the frequency of such say-on-pay proposals, and the Board recommends that our shareholders vote to
continue to hold say-on-pay proposals on an annual basis.
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During the portion of Fiscal Year 2016 prior to the say-on-pay proposal, the Compensation Committee was primarily focused on developing an
executive compensation program for Aralez following the completion of the Tribute Transaction. The Compensation Committee considered the
outcome of the prior Pozen say-on-pay proposal when developing the 2016 Aralez executive compensation program. At the Pozen annual
meeting of stockholders held on June 10, 2015, approximately 53% of the votes cast on the say-on-pay proposal were voted in favor of the
proposal.

Specifically, our Compensation Committee made the following changes to our executive compensation program for 2016, which differ from the
past practices of Pozen:

•  Double-Trigger Vesting on Equity Awards. Awards granted under the 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(the �2016 Plan�) will not automatically accelerate upon a change of control.

•  No Section 280G Gross-Ups. The employment agreements with our new executive management team
do not contain a tax gross-up with respect to any excise tax under Section 280G or 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the �Code�).

•  Objective Performance Goals. The Aralez Annual Incentive Bonus Plan provides annual incentive
bonuses based on the achievement of pre-established, objective performance goals rather than on a discretionary basis.

•  Mix of Long-Term Equity Awards. Long-term equity incentives are composed of a 50/50 mix of
time-based and performance-based awards, in order to more closely link pay to Company performance while retaining
our executives and aligning their interests with the interests of our shareholders.

•  Revised Peer Group. Our Compensation Committee developed a new peer group based on the
anticipated size and revenues of Aralez following the Tribute Transaction, and further refined the peer group during
the last quarter of 2016 to more closely track the market capitalization and revenues of Aralez.

•  Emphasis on Performance-Based Compensation. For Fiscal Year 2016, approximately 50% of our
CEO�s target compensation is earned based on the achievement of pre-established performance goals, and
approximately 77% of our CEO�s target compensation is variable.
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At the Aralez annual meeting of shareholders held on June 16, 2016, approximately 67% of the votes cast on the say-on-pay proposal were voted
in favor of the proposal.

Following the 2016 say-on-pay vote, the Compensation Committee and its representatives contacted several key shareholders, representing
approximately 23% of the outstanding shares, to discuss any concerns they may have with the Aralez executive
compensation program. Our Compensation Committee considered the feedback of these shareholders, as well as
certain concerns raised by ISS and Glass Lewis in their recommendations with respect to the say-on-pay proposal, in
order to determine whether changes should be made to the executive compensation program to better achieve our
compensation objectives.

The feedback received from these shareholders was generally positive with respect to the changes made to our executive compensation program
in 2016, particularly with respect to our focus on pay for performance, including the proportion of compensation based on the achievement of
pre-established, objective performance goals. We also received helpful, constructive input from several shareholders, including the suggestion
that we link more of our incentive compensation metrics to company strategy.

Our Compensation Committee is committed to aligning the interests of our executives with the interests of our shareholders, and analyzes our
compensation program with an eye towards the alignment of these interests. In March 2017, our Compensation Committee and our management
determined that, notwithstanding management exceeding the pre-determined Company performance metrics with respect to our 2016 Annual
Incentive Bonus Plan, such performance did not translate into increased shareholder return, indicating that there was a disconnect in the
alignment between executive compensation and the interests of our shareholders. In order to more closely align our compensation program with
our shareholders� interests, our Compensation Committee and our named executive officers agreed that the annual incentive bonuses would be
paid at the target level, a level far lower than the actual level of performance for 2016 (for Mr. Glickman, the annual cash incentive award would
be paid at target for the Company performance factor, and at his actual level of achievement for his individual objectives). In addition,
Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven agreed to remove themselves from eligibility for a cash bonus under the Annual Incentive Bonus Plan with respect to
the 2017 performance period. These significant reductions in the annual incentive bonuses earned by our named executive officers, together with
Mr. Adams� and Mr. Koven�s decision to opt out of eligibility for 2017 cash bonuses under the Annual Incentive Bonus Plan, demonstrate our
deep commitment to align executive pay with shareholder interests.

The input received from shareholders, as well as the say-on-pay vote results from 2016 and prior years, have been and will continue to be
considered by the Compensation Committee in the development and refinement of the executive compensation programs.

Philosophy and Compensation Process

The following is a description of our compensation philosophy and process for determining executive compensation, which applied to the
compensation decisions made during Fiscal Year 2016.

Objectives of Executive Compensation Program
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Our compensation philosophy was developed by our Compensation Committee following the completion of the Tribute Transaction, and will
continue to be refined to ensure alignment with our business and human capital objectives. Our executive compensation program is designed:

•  to promote the achievement of our annual and long-term performance objectives as approved by the
Compensation Committee and/or the Board;

•  to ensure that our executive officers� interests are aligned with maximizing shareholder value and the
medium to long-term success of the Company; and

•  to provide compensation packages that will attract, retain, and motivate superior executive personnel.

Our executive compensation program is designed to reward achievement of annual and long-term corporate goals, as well as individual goals
that are supportive of our corporate and strategic objectives. We aim to provide higher levels of pay when executive and organizational
performance exceeds performance standards. Likewise, individual and organizational performance that falls short of the pre-approved standards
will result in payments and overall compensation that are at the lower end of competitive pay ranges.
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Our compensation programs are designed not only to reward past performance, but to provide incentives for continued high levels of executive
performance, particularly through the multi-year vesting of time-based equity awards and the performance-based equity awards. All
compensation decisions are guided by the overarching principle that the highest comparative levels of compensation should be paid to our
highest performing executives when the Company is achieving high levels of performance.

Our Compensation Committee uses a mix of salary, variable cash and equity-based incentives in our executive compensation program in order
to motivate our executive officers to work to fulfill our corporate goals and to build long-term value for our shareholders. Our Compensation
Committee also believes that employees should be owners of the Company, and all of our executive officers are shareholders or hold unvested
equity-based incentive awards. As of December 31, 2016, our actively employed named executive officers beneficially owned 3.2% of the
outstanding Common Shares, which creates alignment with our shareholders.

Our Compensation Committee strives to mitigate excessive risk-taking that could harm our value or reward poor judgment by our executives.
Several features of our executive compensation program reflect sound risk management practices that balance incentive opportunities with
long-term value creation for our shareholders: (i) our annual cash incentives are based on the achievement of performance metrics that promote
progress towards long-term Company goals rather than rewarding high-risk investments at the expense of long-term Company value; (ii) our
Compensation Committee allocates compensation among base salary and short and long-term compensation target opportunities in such a way
as to not encourage excessive risk-taking; and (iii) our Compensation Committee grants a mix of equity award instruments that include
performance-based equity awards, full value awards, and appreciation awards, and have multi-year vesting periods, which mitigates risk and
properly accounts for the time horizon of risk. Our Compensation Committee has determined that our policies, practices, and programs do not
create risks that are likely to have a material adverse impact on the Company.

Role of Compensation Committee, Executive Officers, and Compensation Consultant

Our Compensation Committee is responsible for our executive compensation program. In accordance with its charter, our Compensation
Committee�s responsibilities include reviewing and approving our overall compensation philosophy and the adequacy and market effectiveness
of our compensation plans and programs; evaluating the performance of, and reviewing and approving total compensation for, its executive
officers; and administering its equity-based and other incentive programs.

As required by its charter, our Compensation Committee is composed solely of independent directors under NASDAQ and SEC rules and
�outside directors� as determined under Section 162(m) of the Code and the applicable Treasury Regulations.

Our Compensation Committee, when necessary, receives staff support from members of our executive management team, including Mr. Adams,
Jennifer Armstrong, our Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Administration, and Eric Trachtenberg, our General Counsel, Chief
Compliance Officer and Corporate Secretary. Our management provides input to our Compensation Committee regarding corporate goals and
performance criteria for our annual incentive awards and long-term performance awards. In evaluating our executive officers other than the
CEO, our Compensation Committee relies in part on the input and recommendations of our CEO. In evaluating our CEO�s compensation, our
Compensation Committee considers, among other factors, an annual self-assessment submitted by our CEO, as well as a thorough review of
corporate performance. Our CEO is not present during our Compensation Committee�s deliberations or determinations of his compensation.

In addition, our Compensation Committee has engaged Radford, an Aon Hewitt Company, and leading compensation consultant, to assist the
Compensation Committee in the performance of its duties. Radford served as an advisor to the Pozen Compensation Committee since 2008 in
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connection with the compensation decisions for the executive officers, and our Compensation Committee has continued this engagement
following the completion of the Tribute Transaction. During Fiscal Year 2016, Radford has assisted our Compensation Committee with the
development of our executive compensation program, including an assessment of Board compensation and the establishment of our peer group
(described below) and has provided data relating to the compensation practices of our peers. Other than services provided to our Compensation
Committee, Radford has not performed any services for Aralez, Pozen, or any of its management during 2016.

Peer Group and Benchmarking

In October 2015 and in preparation for the Tribute Transaction, the Pozen Compensation Committee engaged Radford to conduct an analysis of
Aralez�s peer group and suggest updates to the peer group based on the business model of Aralez and the anticipated valuation of Aralez
following the Tribute Transaction. A new peer group was selected based on the following criteria (reflecting projections as of October 2015):

•  Commercial biopharmaceutical/specialty pharmaceutical companies, with no preference for location.
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•  Market Capitalization: range of 0.5x to 3x of the estimated post-deal market capitalization (estimated in
October 2015 at $750 million).

•  Revenue: range of 0.5x to 3x of the estimated post-deal annual revenue (estimated in October 2015 at
$75 million).

•  Preference for companies with fewer than 300 employees that meet the financial metrics set forth above
to reflect the business model and organization complexity of similar leadership roles.

Using these criteria, the Pozen Compensation Committee approved the following peer group for purposes of compensation benchmarking for
Aralez during 2016 following the completion of the Tribute Transaction:

Aegerion Pharmaceuticals Momenta Pharmaceuticals
ANI Pharmaceuticals Osiris Therapeutics
Anika Therapeutics Raptor Pharmaceutical Corp.
ARIAD Pharmaceuticals Repligen
BioDelivery Sciences International Retrophin
Eagle Pharmaceuticals SciClone Pharmaceuticals
Enanta Pharmaceuticals Spectrum Pharmaceuticals
ImmunoGen Sucampo Pharmaceuticals
Intersect ENT Supernus Pharmaceuticals
Ligand Pharmaceuticals Vanda Pharmaceuticals

In selecting peer companies, the Pozen Compensation Committee considered a number of factors, including whether a potential peer has
products on the market, whether a potential peer has executive positions of similar scope of responsibility, as well as whether investors might
consider such company as a peer when considering investments in the Company. Our peer group shares only a few peers with the Pozen peer
group due to the larger size and different business model of Aralez. The Pozen Compensation Committee determined that it was appropriate to
have peers that ranged from 0.5x to 3x of our anticipated market capitalization due to the anticipated growth of Aralez through acquisitions
following the Tribute Transaction. The approved peers have market capitalization ranging from approximately $200 million to $2 billion, and
annual revenue ranging from approximately $20 million to $250 million.

In November 2016, our Compensation Committee engaged Radford to perform an updated analysis of our peer group to determine its
appropriateness and whether any peer companies should be added or removed. Our Compensation Committee considered similar factors as those
considered by the Pozen Compensation Committee in determining the sector and stage of the updated peer group, but made adjustments with
respect to market capitalization and revenue. The updated peers range from 0.5x to 3.0x of our current market capitalization (which is between
0.3x and 2.0x of our projected market capitalization based on anticipated growth) and from 0.5x to 3.0x of our projected revenue assuming our
continued growth. The new peers have market capitalization ranging from approximately $223 million to $1.4 billion, and annual revenue
ranging from approximately $60 million to $441 million.

The new peer group, detailed below, will be used for purposes of compensation benchmarking for 2017:
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AMAG Pharmaceuticals Merrimack Pharmaceuticals
Amarin Momenta Pharmaceuticals
ANI Pharmaceuticals Retrophin
Anika Therapeutics SciClone Pharmaceuticals
Arena Pharmaceuticals Spectrum Pharmaceuticals
Enanta Pharmaceuticals Sucampo Pharmaceuticals
ImmunoGen Vanda Pharmaceuticals

In determining our 2016 peer group and our updated peer group, our Compensation Committee considered the peer group criteria used by
institutional investor advisory groups such as ISS and Glass Lewis for making comparisons. Because the institutional investor advisory firms
select peer companies from broad industry categories and do not focus on companies with products on the market and with similar business
models, we have found that there is only limited overlap between the Aralez peer group and those used by the institutional investor advisory
firms.
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Elements of Compensation

Our executive compensation program, as designed by our Compensation Committee, incorporates four primary elements of compensation,
described below:

•  Base salary: Fixed compensation based on the role of the executive and the base salary for similar
positions in our market for talent. Base salary provides compensation regardless of market performance or external
factors and helps to retain our management team.

•  Annual cash incentives: Variable compensation based on Company performance and, for named
executive officers other than the CEO, individual performance. Annual cash incentives encourage our executives to
work towards our corporate goals and provides our executives an opportunity to earn additional compensation for
outstanding performance.

•  Long-term incentive compensation: Variable compensation based on the value of our Common Shares.
We grant both time-based awards and performance-based awards in order to retain our executives and to reward them
for above-target performance. Equity-based compensation aligns the interests of our executives with the interests of
our shareholders.

•  Other benefits: Our executives participate in our benefit plans on the same basis as other employees,
and we do not provide material perquisites.

In addition, employment agreements with each of our named executive officers provide for potential payments upon certain terminations of
employment and upon a change of control of our company, which are described in the narrative accompanying the Summary Compensation
Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2016 Table and the section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and
Change of Control�. Our Compensation Committee believes that each of these compensation elements complements the others and that together
they serve to achieve our compensation objectives.

Compensation awarded to our named executive officers is weighted towards performance-based compensation, with an emphasis on long-term
equity incentive awards. We believe that putting a substantial proportion of our named executive officers� compensation �at risk� motivates our
executives to achieve our corporate objectives, and delivering compensation in the form of equity creates an ownership culture amongst our
executives and ensures that our executives are focused on the interests of our shareholders.

The chart below illustrates the proportion of our CEO�s targeted compensation for 2016 that is allocated to each type of compensation.
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The target annual cash incentive bonus and performance share units are earned based on pre-established Company performance goals, meaning
that approximately 50% of our CEO�s target compensation is only earned if the performance goals have been satisfied. Equity-based
compensation makes up approximately 53% of our CEO�s target compensation, the value of which will increase or decrease with the price of our
Common Shares, ensuring an alignment between our executives and our shareholders. Only 23% of our CEO�s target compensation is fixed, and
the remaining 77% is variable, based on our performance and/or the price of our Common Shares.

Base Salary

The base salary of our CEO and other named executive officers is intended to provide a level of assured cash compensation that is
commensurate with their senior professional status and career accomplishments. Accordingly, their base salaries are designed to be competitive
with similar positions within the biopharmaceutical industry. Our Compensation Committee relies on peer group analysis, surveys, and the
advice of Radford to set base salaries for our named executive officers that are benchmarked to similar roles in the peer group.
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Base salary adjustments include a combination of cost-of-living and merit increases, based on the executive�s performance of his or her key
responsibilities and duties, and will be generally approved, communicated, and implemented in March of each year to allow for evaluation of the
entire year, including our financial performance. Our Compensation Committee considers the CEO�s assessment of and recommendations with
respect to each of the other executive officers. In addition, our Compensation Committee considers the market pay practices for the individual
jobs.

Our Compensation Committee reviewed the base salaries of our named executive officers in March 2016, and determined that no changes would
be made. The base salary for Messrs. Adams, Koven, Charles and Glickman and Dr. Tursi for Fiscal Year 2016 remained at the level that was
negotiated when they joined Pozen during Fiscal Year 2015, as set forth below.

Named Executive Officer 2016 Base Salary
Adrian Adams $ 700,000
Andrew I. Koven $ 450,000
Scott J. Charles $ 400,000
James P. Tursi, MD $ 400,000
Mark A. Glickman $ 385,000

Annual Cash Incentives

We award annual cash incentives to our named executive officers in order to reward them for the achievement of short-term goals relating to the
financial performance of the Company as well as their execution of our operating plan and strategic initiatives. Annual cash incentives are paid
pursuant to our Annual Incentive Bonus Plan, which is a sub-plan under our 2016 Plan.

Target annual cash incentives are based on a percentage of each named executive officer�s base salary. The target annual cash incentive level for
each named executive officer is specified in his employment agreement. Annual cash incentive targets were set based upon advice from the
Compensation Committee�s independent consultants and through negotiations with our executives when they were hired.

Named Executive Officer
2016 Annual Cash
Incentive Target

Adrian Adams 100%
Andrew I. Koven 75%
Scott J. Charles 45%
James P. Tursi, MD 45%
Mark A. Glickman 45%

The annual cash incentive for our CEO is based solely on the achievement of Company goals, while the annual cash incentive for our other
named executive officers is based 75% on the achievement of Company goals and 25% on the achievement of individual performance goals
related to the named executive officer�s role with the Company.

Company Performance Goals
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For Fiscal Year 2016, our Compensation Committee set Company performance goals based on three separate performance metrics, with the
weightings set forth below:

Company Operating Metric Weighting
Net Revenues(1) 50%
Adjusted EBITDA 25%
Adjusted Net Income 25%

(1)  Net Revenue includes the revenue from Tribute and Pozen beginning January 1, 2016 prior to the closing of the
Tribute Transaction on February 5, 2016.
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Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income results are adjusted at the end of the performance period to take into account items of significant
income or expense which are determined to be appropriate adjustments and to exclude the following one-time/discrete items:

•  Items related to a change in accounting principle and tax law;

•  Costs to evaluate, execute and integrate acquisitions, and related accounting implications, including
acquired in-process research and development;

•  Items related to the sale or disposition of a business, segment or product, including discontinued
operations;

•  Other items including changes in foreign currency exchange rates, asset impairment charges, income
tax adjustments and losses on extinguishment or modification of debt;

•  Charges related to share-based compensation including charges related to warrants;

•  Depreciation and amortization;

•  Restructuring costs; and

•  Financing costs as well as related interest expense implications.

Performance goals are based on our corporate plan for Fiscal Year 2016, with performance at the budget level resulting in a payout at
approximately the target level.

Each performance goal is assigned a threshold, target, stretch, super-stretch, and super-super-stretch level. Payout (as a percentage of target) for
each level of achievement is set forth below:
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Payout
(% of Target)

Below Threshold 0%
Threshold 75%
Target 100%
Stretch 200%
Super-Stretch 250%
Super-Super-Stretch 300%

The threshold level of performance must be achieved on the Net Revenue goal and also either Adjusted EBITDA or Adjusted Net Income in
order for payment on any performance goal to be paid out above the target level. The Net Revenue target for 2016 was $53.0 million, with a
threshold performance target of $42.4 million and maximum payout at the performance target of $175.0 million. The Adjusted EBITDA target
was ($60.0) million, with a threshold performance target of ($72.0) million and maximum payout at the performance target of ($36.0) million.
The Adjusted Net Income target was ($65.0) million, with a threshold performance target of ($78.0) million and maximum payout at the
performance target of ($50.0) million. Payout percentages are interpolated in a straight-line basis between band points. Our Compensation
Committee set performance goals that are aligned with our corporate plan for Fiscal Year 2016 such that the stretch, super-stretch, and
super-super-stretch payout levels would require extraordinary performance.

Individual Performance Goals

For 2016, 25% of each named executive officer�s (other than our CEO) potential bonus, as set forth above, is based on the achievement of the
executive�s individual performance goals for the year. The individual goals are set at the beginning of the year and are based on each executive�s
role with the Company and to closely correlate to the Company�s strategic goals for 2016. Our CEO�s annual cash incentive for 2016 is based
only on the achievement of Company performance targets.

Mr. Koven�s individual goals primarily related to his role as President and Chief Business Officer, including business development, management
of Tribute Canada, implementation of supply chain organization, support for Regulatory Affairs, management of the Ireland subsidiary, and
ensuring manufacture of sufficient quantities of Yosprala for launch.

Mr. Charles� individual goals primarily related to his role as Chief Financial Officer, including management of financial reports, guidance, and
budgeting, building presence and credibility with the investor/analyst community, implementation of a ERP system to facilitate reporting and
analysis, and ensuring that the Company has adequate access to capital.
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Dr. Tursi�s individual goals primarily related to his role as Chief Medical Officer, including support of the Fibricor launch, gaining FDA approval
of Yosprala and preparation for the Yosprala launch, development of a Medical Science Liaison organization, and development of a global
safety structure to support the Fibricor and Yosprala launches

Mr. Glickman�s individual goals primarily related to his role as Chief Commercial Officer, including achievement of net revenue targets for
Fibricor and Yosprala, development of best-in-class launches of Fibricor and Yosprala, and the hiring and management of the sales team.

2016 Performance

In the first quarter of 2017, our Compensation Committee reviewed 2016 performance and determined the level of achievement of the
performance goals for the annual incentive bonuses and the individual performance of each of our named executive officers other than the CEO.
The actual results with respect to 2016 Company performance are set forth below:

Company Operating Metric

Actual
Performance
(in millions)

Percentage of
Target

Net Revenues $ 56.9 108.36%
Adjusted EBITDA $ (41.7) 270.31%
Adjusted Net Income $ (44.1) 300.00%
Total Achievement (as percentage of target): 196.76%

With respect to individual performance, our Compensation Committee determined that Mr. Koven achieved 125% of his individual
objectives; Mr. Charles achieved 124% of his individual objectives; Dr. Tursi achieved 118% of his individual
objectives; and Mr. Glickman achieved 85% of his individual objectives. Based on the Company and individual
performance for 2016, Mr. Adams would have been entitled to an annual incentive bonus equal to 196.76% of his
target bonus; Mr. Koven would have been entitled to 178.82%; Mr. Charles would have been entitled to 178.57%;
Dr. Tursi would have been entitled to 177.07%; and Mr. Glickman would have been entitled to 168.82%.

Notwithstanding the higher achievements of our named executive officers under the 2016 pre-determined performance metrics, the
Compensation Committee and our management have determined that the annual incentive bonuses earned under the 2016 formula should be
adjusted downward in order to achieve a greater degree of alignment with our shareholders. Our Compensation Committee and management
agreed that the annual cash incentive awards would be paid out only at the target level for all of our named executive officers (for Mr. Glickman,
the annual cash incentive award would be paid at target for the Company performance factor, and at his actual level of achievement for his
individual objectives), rather than the higher level resulting from the use of the 196.76% Company performance factor and each individual
named executive officer�s actual level of individual performance. As a result of this determination, the annual cash incentive awards earned by
many of our named executive officers is close to half of the amount they would have been entitled to receive under the pre-determined formula.
In addition, Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven have agreed to remove themselves from eligibility for a cash bonus under the Annual Incentive Bonus
Plan with respect to the 2017 performance period. The significant reduction in annual cash incentive awards earned and the foregoing by
Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven of their eligibility to receive cash bonuses for 2017 under the Annual Incentive Bonus Plan shows the commitment
by the Compensation Committee and management to align our executive compensation program with the interests of our shareholders to a very
significant degree. We note that annual incentive bonus is only one component of executive pay. The long-term equity incentive portion of
executive pay is already fully aligned with the interests of our shareholders.
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The amount each named executive would have been entitled to under the actual 2016 results and the actual amount paid to each named executive
officer is set forth below:

Named Executive Officer

2016 Annual Cash
Incentive � Actual

Results

 2016 Annual Cash
Incentive � Amount

Paid
Adrian Adams $ 1,377,320 $ 700,000
Andrew I. Koven $ 603,518 $ 337,500
Scott J. Charles $ 321,426 $ 180,000
James P. Tursi, MD $ 318,726 $ 180,000
Mark A. Glickman $ 292,481 $ 166,861
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Long-Term Incentive Compensation

Long-term equity-based incentive compensation is a key element of the Aralez executive compensation program.  Equity-based incentive
compensation ties a significant portion of compensation to Company performance by linking a significant portion of the executive�s total pay
opportunity to the price of our Common Shares. The long-term equity-based compensation package granted to our executives is composed of
stock options, time-based RSUs, and performance-based restricted stock units (�PSUs�), in the proportions set forth below:

Stock
Options RSUs PSUs

20% 30% 50%

Our Compensation Committee grants these types of awards together in order to balance the goals of retention and pay-for-performance.

Stock Options: Stock options vest in equal installments on a monthly basis over a four-year vesting
period, and have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our Common
Shares on the date of grant. Accordingly, the actual value an executive will realize is
tied to future stock appreciation and is therefore aligned with corporate performance
and shareholder returns.

Restricted Stock Units: RSUs vest in equal annual installments over a three year vesting period. RSUs ensure
that each of our executives is a true owner of the Company and help to retain our
executives over the vesting period.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units: PSUs vest at the end of a three-year performance period based on the achievement of
pre-determined performance goals. Our Compensation Committee granted PSUs to
our named executive officers in Fiscal Year 2016 with a three-year relative total
shareholder return as the performance goal (measured against companies in the
NASDAQ biotechnology index with annual revenue between $50 million and $500
million). Target performance (TSR in the 50th percentile) will pay out the
target number of PSUs, while threshold performance (TSR in the
25th percentile) will pay out 50% of the PSUs, performance above
target (TSR in the 75th percentile) will pay out 150%, and stretch
performance (TSR in the 90th percentile) will pay out 200%. PSUs
motivate our executives by providing them an opportunity to increase
their compensation for extraordinary performance and align the
interests of our executives with the interests of our shareholders.

Our named executive officers were granted equity awards on March 17, 2016, with the following value (at the target level):

Named Executive Officer Stock Options(1) RSUs(1) PSUs(1)
Adrian Adams $ 315,000 $ 472,500 $ 787,500
Andrew I. Koven $ 157,500 $ 236,250 $ 393,750
Scott J. Charles $ 120,000 $ 180,000 $ 300,000
James P. Tursi, MD $ 120,000 $ 180,000 $ 300,000
Mark A. Glickman $ 115,500 $ 173,250 $ 288,750

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

81



(1)  Grant date fair value of stock options was determined using a Black-Scholes model. The grant date fair value of
RSUs and PSUs was determined using the �face value� of these awards, based on the closing price of our stock on
NASDAQ on the date of grant (although, for accounting purposes and in the Summary Compensation Table, the PSUs
will be subject to a �Monte Carlo� simulation).

Procedures and Policies for Granting Equity-Based Awards

Our Compensation Committee approves the grant of all equity and equity-based awards to our CEO and other executive officers, as well as to
the non-employee members of our Board. Equity awards to our named executive officers for Fiscal Year 2016 were granted in March on the
second clear trading day following the end of our year-end blackout period. In all cases, stock options are granted at exercise prices equal to the
closing price of our Common Shares as reported on NASDAQ on the date of grant.

38

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

82



New-hire grants for our executive officers are approved by our Compensation Committee prior to employment. As permitted under the 2016
Plan, our Compensation Committee delegated to the CEO the authority to grant stock options and RSUs to new non-executive officer employees
upon commencement of employment in accordance with a specified schedule of numbers of stock options or RSUs per grant, based on hiring
position.

During 2015, in connection with the hiring of our new management team, the Pozen Board and Compensation Committee granted certain
sign-on RSU awards to Messrs. Adams, Koven, Charles and Glickman and Dr. Tursi, which vest in equal installments on the first four
anniversaries of the date of grant. RSU awards were also granted to Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi and Mr. Glickman during 2016 as additional sign-on
awards, described in further detail below in the section of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis entitled �Additional Sign-On Equity
Awards to Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman� and also in the narrative accompanying the Summary Compensation Table and Grants of
Plan-Based Awards in 2016 Table.

Other Benefits

Benefits offered to our named executive officers serve as a safety net of protection against financial catastrophes that can result from illness,
disability or death. Benefits offered to our named executive officers are substantially the same as those offered to all of our regular full-time
employees. We maintain a 401(k) plan for our employees, including our named executive officers, to encourage our employees to save some
portion of their cash compensation for their eventual retirement. Effective April 1, 2016, we match 50% of the first 6% of an employee�s eligible
earnings in the 401(k) plan. Effective January 1, 2017, the 401(k) match was capped at $12,000. We generally do not provide substantial
perquisites to our executives. In addition, we offer tax preparation services for our named executive officers who are primarily located in the
United States but are required to file tax returns in Canada. We also reimburse our named executive officers for the Canadian Pension Payment
that they are required under Canadian law to pay, despite being ineligible to receive Canadian pension benefits, and we provide a tax
equalization payment to reimburse these named executive officers for Canadian, US and state taxes that apply to such payment.

Post-Employment Benefits

Providing reasonable severance benefits to our named executive officers in the context of termination by us without cause or by the executive for
good reason (as defined in their employment agreements), either in connection with a change of control or otherwise, is an important part of
maintaining a competitive executive compensation program and contributes to our ability to attract and retain high quality executives. In part,
this reflects a recognition that it may be difficult for a senior executive to find a comparable position in a relatively short period of time
following termination of employment. Providing reasonable protections to our named executive officers in the event of a change of control is
helpful in aligning our executives� interests with those of our shareholders in the event a potential change of control situation should occur.

Pozen entered into employment agreements with our named executive officers when they were initially hired by Pozen. These agreements
require that we provide severance and related benefits in the event of a termination of employment or a change of control. In connection with
negotiating these provisions in our executives� employment agreements, the Pozen Compensation Committee received advice from its legal and
compensation consultants as to practices and levels of such benefits among comparable companies. These provisions and benefits, as well as an
estimate of the dollar value of these benefits that would be payable to our executive officers under specified assumed conditions are described in
the section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control.�
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We do not offer post-employment health or life insurance to our named executive officers other than the continuation of medical benefits for a
period following certain terminations (subject to payment of active employee rates) pursuant to their employment agreements.

Additional Sign-On Equity Awards to Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman

During 2015, we entered into employment agreements with several new executives, including Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman. These
three executives each received a sign-on grant of 29,137 RSUs upon their engagement by Pozen, which vest on an annual basis ratably over four
years, subject to their continued service through the applicable vesting dates. The size of the sign-on RSU grants was determined through
negotiation with the executives. During the negotiations with Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman, the Pozen Compensation Committee
recognized that any equity-based awards granted to the executives prior to the Tribute Transaction would be subject to the 15% excise tax
imposed by Section 4985 of the Code. As described in further detail in the section of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis entitled
�Compensation Issues Related to the Tribute Transaction and Formation of Aralez�Section 4985 Tax Equalization�, the Pozen Board determined
that Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman would receive an equalization payment to cover the amount of the excise tax and any additional
taxes attributable to the equalization.
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In addition, in order to lower the costs associated with the sign-on RSU grants, the Pozen Compensation Committee only granted 25% of the
total number of RSUs that were intended to be eventually granted to Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman at the time of hire, with the
understanding that the additional 75% of the intended sign-on RSU award would be granted on or about the one-year anniversary of
employment. None of Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or Mr. Glickman had a legal, contractual, or enforceable right to any additional equity grants, and
neither Pozen nor Aralez was obligated to grant additional RSUs to Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or Mr. Glickman. Since the completion of the Tribute
Transaction was delayed past the originally anticipated closing date, and the price of Pozen common stock fell between the executives� dates of
hire and the closing date, the Aralez Compensation Committee determined that the costs associated with the sign-on RSUs would be
significantly lower than originally anticipated, and that the additional sign-on RSU award would provide retention and incentive benefits to
Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman and should not be further delayed. On February 12, 2016, the Aralez Compensation Committee
granted each of Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman an additional sign-on grant of 86,863 RSUs (the additional 75% of the award referred
to above), which vest in four equal installments on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the executive�s date of hire, and agreed to
provide a tax equalization payment with respect to the additional sign-on grant, as described above.

The terms of the employment agreements entered into with Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman are included in the narrative
accompanying the Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2016 Table and the section of this Proxy Statement
entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control�.

Compensation Matters Related to the Tribute Transaction and Formation of Aralez

During Fiscal Year 2015, the Pozen Board and Compensation Committee paid close attention to the executive compensation matters that arose
as a result of the Tribute Transaction. Retaining critical members of our management team through the closing of the Tribute Transaction was
key to the success of the transaction and formation of Aralez. Pozen�s Board and Compensation Committee took steps to encourage the retention
of these individuals, and considered the increased tax burden on our named executive officers relative to the other shareholders due to the
structure of the Tribute Transaction.

Section 4985 Tax Equalization

Section 4985 of the Code imposes a 15% excise tax on the value of certain equity compensation held during the period commencing six months
before and ending six months after the closing of the Tribute Transaction by individuals who are and/or were directors and executive officers of
Pozen and are or were subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act during the same period. This excise tax applies
to all compensation (or rights to compensation) granted to such persons by Pozen if the value of such compensation or right is based on (or
determined by reference to) the value of stock in Pozen or its affiliates (but excluding statutory incentive stock options and holdings in
tax-qualified plans). This includes: (i) unexercised vested or unvested time-based and performance-based nonqualified stock options;
(ii) unvested restricted stock; (iii) unvested RSUs; and (iv) other stock-based compensation held by such persons during this 12-month period.
The excise tax, however, does not apply to any stock option that is exercised on or prior to the closing date of the Tribute Transaction or any
other stock compensation that is distributed, cashed-out, or otherwise paid in a manner resulting in income inclusion (for U.S. purposes) prior to
the closing of the Tribute Transaction.

The Pozen Board carefully considered the potential impact of the excise tax on Pozen�s executive officers and directors at the time it approved
the Tribute Transaction and reviewed the approach taken by other issuers in similar transactions, including in transactions where executive
officers and directors were reimbursed for excise tax applicable as a result of the transaction. The financial analysis considered by the Pozen
board of directors at the time the Tribute Transaction was approved included an estimate of potential excise tax equalization payments.
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The Pozen Compensation Committee held several meetings to consider the excise tax matter. Under the current understanding of Section 4985
of the Code, the Pozen Compensation Committee determined that there were four viable alternatives with respect to the treatment of the excise
tax payable by the executive officers and directors:

•  Provide an equalization payment to the Pozen executive officers and directors for the amount of the
excise tax and for any additional taxes attributable to equalization.  We refer to these payments as tax equalization
payments. Providing the Pozen executives and directors with a tax equalization payment would have the highest cost
to Pozen but would ensure that all of the incentive and retention aspects of the equity awards remain in place.

•  Accelerate the vesting for some or all of the outstanding awards.  Accelerating the vesting of some or
all of the Pozen stock options and RSUs would reduce the value of the equity compensation subject to the excise tax.
Pozen could then reimburse the excise tax and additional taxes attributable to equalization for only awards that are not
accelerated. This alternative would reduce the tax equalization payments and lower the cost to Pozen, but would also
reduce the incentive and retention value of the awards.
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•  Convert outstanding awards into cash-based awards not tied to the performance of Pozen stock.  This
alternative would eliminate those new awards from the applicability of the excise tax, but only if the Tribute
Transaction closed more than six months after the conversion of the awards and Pozen would still be required to make
significant cash payments at the time of vesting.

•  Take no action at all.  While there would be no cash cost to Pozen, this alternative would result in the
Pozen executive officers and directors being subject to the 15% excise tax, and not receiving the intended benefits of
the awards, and indeed being unfairly penalized financially, as a result of the imposition of an excise tax that was not
contemplated when many of the awards were issued.

Based upon the advice of its independent advisers, as well as reports from management of Pozen, including an examination of the potential
impact of the excise tax on Pozen�s executive officers and directors, the Pozen Compensation Committee determined to take the following
actions: (i) accelerate the vesting of the outstanding equity awards for the legacy Pozen employees; (ii) provide a tax equalization payment for
the new management team officers (including Messrs. Adams, Koven, Charles and Glickman and Dr. Tursi); (iii) provide a tax equalization
payment to executive officers hired prior to May 31, 2015 and directors for any vested stock options that are �underwater� at the completion of the
Tribute Transaction (i.e., the strike price is above the stock price on the day of the transaction); and (iv) provide a tax equalization payment to
the directors for outstanding unvested RSUs that are being assumed and converted. The Pozen Compensation Committee determined this would
be appropriate for the following reasons:

•  There should be no financial penalty to the executive officers and non-employee directors.  Since the
Tribute Transaction was pursued for the benefit of all of Pozen�s shareholders, the Pozen Compensation Committee
determined that the executive officers should not be financially penalized, relative to Pozen�s shareholders in general,
for either their efforts to complete the Tribute Transaction or their mere status as individuals covered by Section 4985
of the Code. The Pozen executive officers and directors were responsible for consummating the Tribute Transaction,
which should benefit Pozen�s shareholders, and they should not be penalized for creating these benefits. The tax
equalization payments will put the Pozen executive officers and directors in the same net after tax position they would
have been in if no such excise tax had been applied. All Pozen executive officers and directors will still be subject to
applicable income and capital gains taxes on these equity awards when due.

•  The awards held by the recently hired executive officers were meant to retain their services.
Acceleration of these awards could avoid any potential excise tax, but would not serve to retain these executives. It is
vital for Aralez to retain the services of these highly skilled executives in order to realize the strategic benefits of the
Tribute Transaction. If these executives were forced to pay the excise tax on their recently granted equity awards,
Pozen and Aralez would need to offer additional incentives to make up for the loss of compensation, or else risk
losing these talented executives during a key time for the company.

•  Converting the awards into cash-based awards was not appropriate.  This would require a large outlay
of cash at the time of the ultimate payment of the awards and would not provide the intended benefit if the Tribute
Transaction closed prior to the end of Fiscal Year 2015 as originally anticipated (in which event the excise tax still
would be payable, notwithstanding the conversion of the awards).

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

87



•  Acceleration for legacy officers would reduce the potential tax equalization payments.  This split
approach, acceleration of some awards and tax equalization payments for other awards, provides a good balance
between reducing the cash costs payable and maintaining a significant portion of the outstanding equity awards for
both long-term incentive and retention purposes. The Pozen Compensation Committee estimated that the acceleration
of the awards held by legacy officers would reduce the aggregate tax equalization payments by approximately
$0.6 million.

For all new executive officers and non-employee directors, the Pozen Compensation Committee and Board approved the payment by Pozen of a
tax equalization payment in the amount of the excise tax payable with respect to the equity compensation that remained unvested as of the
closing of the Tribute Transaction, and the additional sign-on RSUs granted in February 2016, as well as any additional taxes payable by the
current executive officers as a result of equalization. The Pozen Compensation Committee and Board also approved the payment of tax
equalization payments to the legacy executive officers and directors for the excise tax and the attendant related taxes for any vested stock options
that were underwater at the time of the completion of the Tribute Transaction.
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At the special meeting of Pozen stockholders to approve the Tribute Transaction, Pozen held a shareholder advisory vote to approve certain
compensatory arrangements between Pozen and its named executive officers relating to the Tribute Transaction, which included disclosure of
the excise tax equalization payments. Approximately 77% of Pozen�s shareholders voted to approve these compensatory arrangements, including
the excise tax equalization payments.

The Tribute Transaction closed on February 5, 2016, which triggered the excise tax on awards held by our named executive officers and
additional awards granted during the six months following the closing of the transaction. The total tax equalization payment provided to our
named executive officers during 2016 is detailed in the following table:

Named Executive Officer
Tax Equalization

Payment
Adrian Adams $ 5,070,389
Andrew I. Koven $ 4,213,206
Scott J. Charles $ 534,580
James P. Tursi, MD $ 534,580
Mark A. Glickman $ 524,563

Share Ownership Guidelines

Employee ownership is a core component of our operating culture, and we believe that share ownership encourages our executives to create
value for our shareholders over the long term, and promotes retention and affiliation with the Company by allowing our employees to share in
our long-term success while aligning employee and executive interests with those of our shareholders. To reflect this commitment to employee
ownership, we have adopted share ownership guidelines, which require the CEO to hold shares with a value equal to six times base salary, as
well as a share retention policy for all named executive officers, which requires such officers to retain at least 50% of the total equity credited
from grants of equity awards (net of amounts required to pay taxes and exercise prices) while such individual remains a named executive officer.
As of December 31, 2016, Mr. Adams owned Common Shares with a value greater than nine times his 2016 base salary. We expect that the
members of our management team will comply with the share retention policy as their equity awards vest.

Anti-Hedging/Anti-Pledging Policy

Certain short-term or speculative transactions in our securities by directors or executive officers create the potential for heightened legal risk
and/or appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct involving our securities. As a result, we do not allow any director or executive officer to
hedge the economic risk of his or her ownership of Common Shares, which includes entering into any derivative transaction on Aralez securities
(e.g., any short-sale, forward, option, collar). Further, we do not allow any director or executive officer to pledge Aralez securities at any time,
which includes having Aralez securities in a margin account or using Aralez securities as collateral for a loan.

Clawback of Incentive Compensation

Our Board adopted an incentive-based compensation recovery policy that applies to all executives, including the named executive officers. The
policy relates to the recoupment of incentive compensation awarded to these executives if there is a restatement of published financials.
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Tax and Accounting Implications

In setting elements of compensation, our Compensation Committee considers the impact of the following tax and accounting provisions:

•  Section 162(m).  In making compensation decisions, our Compensation Committee is mindful of the
potential impact of Section 162(m) of the Code, which generally disallows a tax deduction to public companies for
certain compensation over $1 million paid in any year to its chief executive officer and its three most highly
compensated executive officers (other than its chief executive officer and chief financial officer). Qualifying
performance-based compensation is not subject to this deduction limit if certain requirements are met. Our
Compensation Committee generally seeks, where feasible, to structure the incentive compensation granted to our
named executive officers in a manner that is intended to minimize or eliminate the impact of Section 162(m) of the
Code. However, the Compensation Committee may at times elect to make awards that are subject to the
Section 162(m) deduction limit, such as time-based RSUs or cash awards when it believes that such awards are
appropriate to attract and retain top-quality executives or otherwise achieve its compensation objectives.
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Also, under Section 162(m)(4)(G) of the Code, the $1 million compensation deduction limitation referenced above is reduced (but not below
zero) by the amount of any payment made directly or indirectly by Aralez of the excise tax imposed on those employees under Section 4985 of
the Code. As discussed above in the section of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis entitled �Compensation Issues Related to the Tribute
Transaction and Formation of Aralez�Section 4985 Tax Equalization,� our named executive officers became eligible to receive a payment
following the completion of the Tribute Transaction. Our Compensation Committee considered the impact of the tax equalization payments on
the deduction limitation under Section 162(m) of the Code, but determined that the tax equalization payments are appropriate.

•  Section 409A.  Section 409A of the Code, which governs the form and timing of payment of deferred
compensation, generally changes the tax rules that affect most forms of deferred compensation that were not earned
and vested prior to 2005. It also expands the types of compensation that are considered deferred compensation subject
to these regulations. Section 409A imposes sanctions, including a 20% penalty and an interest penalty, on the recipient
of deferred compensation that does not comply with Section 409A. Our Compensation Committee considers the
potential implications of Section 409A of the Code in determining the form and timing of compensation awarded to
our executives.

•  Sections 280G and 4999.  No employment agreement executed since January 1, 2009 provides for a
gross-up payment to reimburse the executive for certain excise taxes imposed under Section 4999 of the Code as well
as additional taxes resulting from such reimbursement, and there is no gross-up payment provision in the employment
agreements with our named executive officers.

•  Accounting Rules.  Various rules under generally accepted accounting principles determine the manner
in which grants for equity-based and other compensation are accounted for in our financial statements. Aralez records
compensation expenses with respect to equity awards in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. Among the factors it
has considered when making compensation decisions for our named executive officers, our Compensation Committee
has taken into account the accounting treatment under FASB ASC Topic 718 of equity-based and alternative forms of
compensation.
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Summary Compensation Table (for fiscal years 2016 and 2015)

The following table summarizes the total compensation paid to or earned by, or with regard to stock awards and options, the grant date fair value
of such awards granted during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 to our named executive officers. None of our named
executive officers were named executive officers in 2014.

Name and Principal Position(1) Year
Salary
($)

Bonus
($)(2)

Stock
Awards
($)(3)

Option
Awards
($)(3)

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan

Compensation
($)(4)

All Other
Compensation

($)
Total
($)

Adrian Adams 2016 700,000 � 1,373,981 174,666 700,000 5,085,997(5) 8,034,644
Chief Executive Officer 2015 410,217 � 14,858,944 � 408,333 197,882 15,875,376
Andrew I. Koven 2016 450,000 � 686,557 87,277 337,500 4,229,174(6) 5,790,508
President and Chief 2015 264,383 � 11,281,789 � 196,875 221,919 11,964,966
Business Officer
Scott J. Charles 2016 400,000 � 1,014,194 66,540 180,000 545,688(7) 2,206,422
Chief Financial Officer, 2015 175,572 400,000 355,471 � 77,500 � 1,008,543

James P. Tursi, MD 2016 400,000 � 1,014,194 66,540 180,000 544,631(8) 2,205,365
Chief Medical Officer
Mark A. Glickman 2016 385,000 � 994,134 63,989 166,861 536,653(9) 2,146,637
Chief Commercial Officer 2015 204,321 200,000 362,464 � 90,956 9,660 867,401

(1)  Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven joined Pozen on May 31, 2015. Mr. Charles joined Pozen on July 27, 2015 as
Senior Vice President, Finance, and was appointed Chief Financial Officer effective January 1, 2016. Mr. Glickman
joined Pozen on June 22, 2015. Dr. Tursi joined Pozen on October 1, 2015, and was not a named executive officer
with respect to 2015.

(2)  The amounts included in this column are the sign-on awards paid to Mr. Charles and Mr. Glickman at the time
of hire.

(3)  The amounts included in this column are the dollar amounts representing the full grant date fair value of each
stock option, RSU or PSU award, as applicable, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 (excluding the
effect of estimated forfeitures), and do not represent the actual value that may be recognized by the named executive
officers upon option exercise or settlement of the RSU or PSU award. For stock options, amounts are computed by
multiplying the fair value of the award (as determined under the Black-Scholes option pricing model) by the total
number of options granted. For RSUs, fair value is computed by multiplying the total number of shares subject to the
award by the closing market price of Common Shares on the date of grant. For PSUs, fair value is based on the Monte
Carlo valuation model, and the amount disclosed in this column is based on the probable outcome of the performance
conditions. The following amounts represent the maximum potential PSU value by individual for fiscal 2016 (based
on the value of Common Shares on the date of grant): Mr. Adams: $1,802,962; Mr. Koven: $900,912; Mr. Charles:
$686,838; Dr. Tursi: $686,838; and Mr. Glickman: $660,512. For information on the valuation assumptions used in
calculating the grant date fair value of stock options, see Note 12 to Aralez�s audited financial statements included in
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the 2016 Annual Report. For Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman, the amounts set forth in the Stock Awards
column for 2016 reflect both the RSU and PSU awards granted as part of 2016 compensation program and the
additional sign-on RSU awards described above in the section titled �Additional Sign-On Equity Awards to
Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman.�
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(4)  For 2016, this amount represents the amount that was paid to our named executive officers under our Annual
Incentive Bonus Plan. The amounts actually paid to each named executive officer are less than the amounts earned
based on performance objectives identified at the beginning of the performance period. The results and final payouts
with respect to 2016 are described above in the section titled �Compensation Discussion and Analysis � Elements of
Compensation � Annual Cash Incentives .� The 2015 awards for Messrs. Adams, Koven, Charles and Glickman were
guaranteed at the target level, pro-rated for the portion of Fiscal Year 2015 in which they were employed by Pozen.

(5)  This amount includes $12,000 in employer matching contributions to Mr. Adams� 401(k) plan, $3,605 in tax
equalization payments related to the Canadian Pension Payment,  and $5,070,389 in tax equalization payments related
to the excise tax under Section 4985 of the Code.

(6)  This amount includes $12,000 in employer matching contributions to Mr. Koven�s 401(k) plan, $3,968 in tax
equalization payments related to the Canadian Pension Payment,  and $4,213,206 in tax equalization payments related
to the excise tax under Section 4985 of the Code.

(7)  This amount includes $9,000 in employer matching contributions to Mr. Charles� 401(k) plan, $2,108 in tax
equalization payments related to the Canadian Pension Payment,  and $534,580 in tax equalization payments related
to the excise tax under Section 4985 of the Code.

(8)  This amount includes $9,503 in employer matching contributions to Dr. Tursi�s 401(k) plan, $548 in tax
equalization payments related to the Canadian Pension Payment,  and $534,580 in tax equalization payments related
to the excise tax under Section 4985 of the Code.

(9)  This amount includes $11,665 in employer matching contributions to Mr. Glickman�s 401(k) plan, $425 in tax
equalization payments related to the Canadian Pension Payment,  and $524,563 in tax equalization payments related
to the excise tax under Section 4985 of the Code.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2016

The following table provides additional information about awards granted to our named executive officers in 2016.

Estimate Future Payouts Under Non-
Equity Incentive Plan Awards (2)

Estimated Future Payouts Under
Equity Incentive Plan Awards (3)

All Other
Stock

Awards:
Number of
Shares of
Stock or

All Other
Option
Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying

Exercise
or Base
Price of
Option

Grant Date
Fair Value
of Stock
and

Option

Name

Award
Type
(1)

Grant
Date

Date of
Action

Threshold
($)

Target
($)

Maximum
($)

Threshold
(#)

Target
(#)

Maximum
(#)

Units
(#)(4)

Options
(#)(5)

Awards
($/Sh)

Awards
($)(6)

Adrian
Adams AIC 3/8/2016 525,000 700,000 2,100,000

OPT 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 105,251 3.80 315,000
RSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 124.342 472,500
PSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 103,619 207,237 414,474 901,481

Andrew I.
Koven AIC 3/8/2016 253,125 337,500 1,012,500

OPT 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 52,592 3.80 157,500
RSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 62,132 236,250
PSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 51,777 103,553 207,106 450,456

Scott J.
Charles RSU 2/12/2016 2/12/2016 86,863 490,776

AIC 3/8/2016 135,000 180,000 540,000
OPT 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 40,096 3.80 120,000
RSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 47,368 180,000
PSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 39,474 78,947 157,894 343,419

James P.
Tursi, MD RSU 2/12/2016 2/12/2016 86,863 490,776

AIC 3/8/2016 135,000 180,000 540,000
OPT 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 40,096 3.80 120,000
RSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 47,368 180,000
PSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 39,474 78,947 157,894 343,419

Mark A.
Glickman RSU 2/12/2016 2/12/2016 86,863 490,776

AIC 3/8/2016 129,938 173,250 519,750
OPT 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 38,559 3.80 115,500
RSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 45,553 173,250
PSU 3/17/2016 3/8/2016 37,961 75,921 151,842 330,256

(1)            Award types are as follows: AIC is an annual incentive cash award, OPT is a stock option, RSU is a restricted stock unit, and PSU is a
performance-based restricted stock unit.

(2)            Each annual incentive cash award amount represents the individual�s current salary multiplied by their target bonus opportunity. The material terms of
the annual cash incentive awards, including the actual results and individual payouts for 2016, are described above in the section titled �Compensation Discussion
and Analysis � Elements of Compensation � Annual Cash Incentives.�

(3)            PSU awards cliff vest at the end of the performance period (December 31, 2018) based on the actual percentile ranking of Aralez�s total shareholder
return compared to peer performance. The material terms of the PSU awards are described above in the section titled �Compensation Discussion and Analysis �
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Elements of Compensation � Long-Term Incentive Compensation.�

(4)            The RSU awards granted on February 12, 2016 to Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi and Mr. Glickman vest in four equal installments on the first, second, third
and fourth anniversary of the executive�s date of hire. The RSU awards granted on March 17, 2016 vest in equal annual installments over a three year vesting
period.

(5)            The stock option awards vest in equal installments on a monthly basis over a four-year vesting period.

(6)            The amounts included in this column are the dollar amounts representing the grant date fair value of each option, RSU, or PSU, as applicable,
calculated in accordance with FASB ASC TOPIC 718 (excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures), and do not represent the actual value that may be recognized
by the named executive officers upon option exercise or vesting of RSUs or PSUs. For PSUs, grant date fair value is based on the Monte Carlo valuation model,
and the amount disclosed in this column is based on the probable outcome of the performance conditions.

Employment and Other Agreements

During Fiscal Year 2016, each of our named executive officers was employed pursuant to employment agreements with us. Each employment
agreement specifies, among other things, the named executive officer�s initial base salary, bonus and equity opportunity, entitlement to
participate in the company�s benefits plans and post-termination benefits and obligations. The post-employment benefits are described in the
section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control�.

Employment Agreement with Adrian Adams

Adrian Adams was appointed Chief Executive Officer on May 31, 2015. Under the terms of Mr. Adams� employment agreement, which has an
initial term of three years, he is entitled to (i) a base salary of $700,000, with annual increases, if any, to be made based on performance and in
the sole discretion of the Board; (ii) an annual cash bonus, based on performance, payable in the discretion of the Compensation Committee,
with a targeted amount of 100% of base salary; (iii) annual equity awards under the Company�s equity compensation plan with a target value of
not less than 225% of his base salary (50% of which will vest ratably over four years and 50% of which will vest based on the achievement of
performance criteria); (iv) a one-time sign-on equity award in the form of 1,944,888 RSUs, which vest in equal annual installments on the first
four anniversaries of the date of grant; and (v) reimbursement of up to $100,000 for reasonable legal fees associated with negotiating his
employment agreement. He will also receive a tax equalization payment for any taxes imposed by Section 4985 of the Code. In addition,
Mr. Adams� employment agreement provides for benefits if his employment is terminated under certain circumstances which are described in the
section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control�.
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In March 2017, we amended Mr. Adams� employment agreement to provide that he has agreed not to be eligible for a cash bonus under the
Annual Incentive Bonus Plan with respect to the 2017 performance period, but that, for purposes of calculating any severance that he may
become entitled to, his 2017 bonus will be deemed to have been paid at the target level.

Employment Agreement with Andrew I. Koven

Andrew I. Koven was appointed President and Chief Business Officer on May 31, 2015. Under the terms of Mr. Koven�s employment agreement,
which has an initial term of three years, Mr. Koven will receive (i) an annual base salary of $450,000, with annual increases, if any, to be made
based on performance and in the sole discretion of the Board; (ii) an annual cash bonus, based on performance, payable in the discretion of the
Compensation Committee, with a targeted amount of 75% of base salary; (iii) annual equity awards under the Company�s equity compensation
plan with a target value of not less than 175% of Mr. Koven�s base salary (50% of which will vest ratably over four years and 50% of which will
vest based on the achievement of performance criteria); (iv) a one-time sign-on equity award in the form of 1,476,674 RSUs, which vest in equal
annual installments on the first four anniversaries of the date of grant; (v) a tax equalization payment for any taxes imposed by Section 4985 of
the Code; and (vi) reimbursement up to $100,000 for reasonable legal fees associated with negotiating his employment agreement. In addition,
Mr. Koven�s employment agreement provides for benefits if his employment is terminated under certain circumstances which are described in the
section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control�.

In March 2017, we amended Mr. Koven�s employment agreement to provide that he has agreed not to be eligible for a cash bonus under the
Annual Incentive Bonus Plan with respect to the 2017 performance period, but that, for purposes of calculating any severance that he may
become entitled to, his 2017 bonus will be deemed to have been paid at the target level.

Employment Agreement with Scott J. Charles

Scott J. Charles was appointed Senior Vice President, Finance on July 27, 2015, and was been appointed Chief Financial Officer effective
January 1, 2016. Under the terms of Mr. Charles� employment agreement, which was effective as of July 27, 2015 and has an initial term of three
years, Mr. Charles will receive (i) an annual base salary of $400,000, with annual increases, if any, to be made based on performance and in the
sole discretion of the Compensation Committee; (ii) an annual cash bonus, based on performance, payable in the discretion of the Compensation
Committee, with a targeted payout amount of 45% of Mr. Charles� base salary; (iii) annual equity awards under the Company�s equity
compensation plan with a target value of not less than 150% of Mr. Charles� base salary; (iv) a one-time sign-on equity award in the form of
29,137 RSUs; (v) a signing bonus of $400,000; and (vi) a tax equalization payment for any taxes imposed by Section 4985 of the Code. In
addition, Mr. Charles� employment agreement provides for benefits if Mr. Charles� employment is terminated under certain circumstances which
are described in the section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control�.

Employment Agreement with James P. Tursi

James P. Tursi, MD, was appointed Chief Medical Officer on October 1, 2015. Under the terms of Dr. Tursi�s employment agreement, which was
effective as of October 1, 2015 and has an initial term of three years, Dr. Tursi will receive (i) an annual base salary of $400,000, with annual
increases, if any, to be made based on performance and in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee; (ii) an annual cash bonus, based
on performance, payable in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, with a targeted payout amount of 45% of Dr. Tursi�s base salary;
(iii) annual equity awards under the Company�s equity compensation plan with a target value of not less than 150% of Dr. Tursi base salary;
(iv) a one-time sign-on equity award in the form of 29,137 RSUs; and (v) a tax equalization payment for any taxes imposed by Section 4985 of
the Code. In addition, Dr. Tursi�s employment agreement provides for benefits if Dr. Tursi�s employment is terminated under certain
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circumstances which are described in the section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control�.

Employment Agreement with Mark A. Glickman

Mark A. Glickman was appointed Chief Commercial Officer on June 19, 2015. Under the terms of Mr. Glickman�s employment agreement,
which was effective as of June 22, 2015 and has an initial term of three years, Mr. Glickman will receive (i) an annual base salary of $385,000,
with annual increases, if any, to be made based on performance and in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee; (ii) an annual cash
bonus, based on performance, payable in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, with a targeted payout amount of 45% of
Mr. Glickman�s base salary; (iii) annual equity awards under the Company�s equity compensation plan with a target value of not less than 150%
of Mr. Glickman�s base salary; (iv) a one-time sign-on equity award in the form of 29,137 RSUs; (v) a signing bonus of $200,000; and (vi) a tax
equalization payment for any taxes imposed by Section 4985 of the Code. In addition, Mr. Glickman�s employment agreement provides for
benefits if Mr. Glickman�s employment is terminated under certain circumstances which are described in the section of this Proxy Statement
entitled �Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control�.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2016

The following table summarizes the equity awards made to our named executive officers that had not been exercised and remained outstanding
as of December 31, 2016.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options

Exercisable
(#)

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options

Unexercisable
(#)

Equity
Incentive
Plan

Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options
(#)

Option
Exercise
Price
($)(1)

Option
Expiration

Date

Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not
Vested
(#)

Market
Value of
Shares or
Units of
Stock
That

Have Not
Vested
($)(2)

Equity
Incentive
Plan

Awards:
Number of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That

Have Not
Vested
(#)

Equity
Incentive
Plan

Awards:
Market or
Payout
Value of
Unearned
Shares,
Units, or

Other Rights
That

Have Not
Vested
(2)

Adrian Adams 19,734(3) 85,517 � 3.80 3/17/2026 1,458,666(4) 6,432,717 � �
� � � � � 124,342(5) 548,348 � �
� � � � � � � 103,619(7) 456,960

Andrew I.
Koven 9,861(3) 42,731 � 3.80 3/17/2026 1,107,506(4) 4,884,101 �

� � � � � 62,132(5) 274,002 �
� � � � � � � 51,777(7)

Scott J.
Charles 7,518(3) 32,578 � 3.80 3/17/2026 21,853(4) 96,372 � �

� � � � � 65,148(6) 287,303 � �
� � � � � 47,368(5) 208,893 �
� � � � � � � 39,474(7) 174,080

James P. Tursi,
MD 7,518(3) 32,578 � 3.80 3/17/2026 21,853(4) 96,372 � �

� � � � � 65,148(6) 287,303 � �
� � � � � 47,368(5) 208,893 � �
� � � � � � � 39,474(7) 174,080

Mark A.
Glickman 7,229(3) 31,330 � 3.80 3/17/2026 21,853(4) 96,372 � �

� � � � � 65,148(6) 287,303 � �
� � � � � 45,553(5) 200,889 � �
� � � � � � � 37,961(7) 167,408

(1)            The exercise price of each of the options included in this table is equal to the closing price of our Common Shares as reported by NASDAQ on the
respective date of grant.

(2)            Calculated by multiplying the closing market price of our Common Shares on December 30, 2016 ($4.41) by the unvested number of RSUs or
unearned PSUs (at the threshold level of performance).

(3)            The stock options were granted on March 17, 2016 and vest in equal installments on a monthly basis over a four-year vesting period.

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

99



(4)            The RSUs vest in equal installments on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the date of grant (June 2, 2015 for Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven;
July 27, 2015 for Mr. Charles; October 1, 2015 for Dr. Tursi; and June 22, 2015 for Mr. Glickman).

(5)            The RSUs vest in equal installments on the March 17, 2017, March 17, 2018, and March 17, 2019.

(6)            The RSUs vest in equal installments on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the date of hire (July 27, 2015 for Mr. Charles; October 1,
2015 for Dr. Tursi; and June 22, 2015 for Mr. Glickman).

(7)            The PSUs vest on December 31, 2018 based on the actual percentile ranking of Aralez�s total shareholder return over the performance period compared
to peer performance. The number of PSUs included in the table are based on achievement of the threshold level of performance.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in Fiscal Year 2016

The following table provides information regarding our named executive officers� exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock awards
during Fiscal Year 2016.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number of
Shares
Acquired
on Exercise

(#)

Value
Realized

on Exercise
($)

Number of
Shares
Acquired
on Vesting

(#)

Value
Realized
on Vesting
($)(1)

Adrian Adams � � 486,222 1,930,301
Andrew I. Koven � �  369,168 1,465,597
Scott J. Charles � � 28,999 102,656
James P. Tursi, MD � � 28,999 140,645
Mark A. Glickman � � 28,999 96,857

(1)  Represents the value of RSUs that vested during 2016. Calculated by multiplying the number of Common
Shares represented by the RSUs by the closing market price of our Common Shares on the vesting date.
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Pension Benefits for Fiscal Year 2016

The table disclosing the value of accumulated benefits under and other information concerning defined benefit plans during the year is omitted
because we do not have a defined benefit plan for our named executive officers or other employees. The only retirement plan available to our
named executive officers in 2016 was our 401(k) plan which is available to all employees.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for Fiscal Year 2016

The table disclosing contributions to and aggregate earnings under or distributions from nonqualified defined contribution or other deferred
compensation plans is omitted because we do not maintain any such nonqualified deferred compensation plans.

Potential Payments on Termination and Change of Control

Upon termination of employment or a change of control, our named executive officers are entitled to certain compensation and benefits under
the terms of their employment agreements, as well as other plans and arrangements provided by us. The tables below list the potential
compensation payable to our named executive officers under various hypothetical termination scenarios. The discussion and the amounts shown
in the tables assume that the termination or change of control took place on December 31, 2016 (and thus include amounts earned through such
time), and assume that the price per Common Share was the closing market price on December 30, 2016 ($4.41 per share). The amounts shown
are estimates of the amounts that would be paid out to the named executive officers. The amounts that the named executive officers would
receive in an actual termination or change of control can only be determined at the time the event occurs.

Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven

Mr. Adams, our CEO, and Mr. Koven, our President and Chief Business Officer, entered into employment agreements with us which provide
certain payments and benefits upon termination of employment under certain circumstances.

In the event the employment of Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven is terminated without cause, if either voluntarily terminates his employment for good
reason, in the event of his death, or if either is terminated due to disability, Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven, as applicable, will receive: (i) accrued but
unpaid base salary and vacation through the date of termination; (ii) a lump sum payment equal to 24 months of base salary; (iii) a lump sum
payment equal to two times the greater of (x) the average annual bonus paid over the previous two years or (y) the annual bonus paid the year
preceding the year in which his termination of employment occurs, provided that if Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven, as applicable, is not employed for
a sufficient time to have received an annual cash bonus with respect to a full year, such calculation will assume that a target annual cash bonus
was paid; (iv) continuation of medical benefits for a period of 24 months following the date of termination (subject to his payment of active
employee rates), or, if such benefits cannot be provided, a cash payment payable within 60 days in an amount equal to the fair market value of
the benefits which were to be provided; and (v) acceleration of the vesting of all equity and equity-based awards that would otherwise vest in the
next 24 month period.
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In the event that, within 12 months of a change of control of Aralez, the employment of Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven is terminated without cause or
if either voluntarily terminates his employment for good reason, Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven, as applicable, will receive: (i) accrued but unpaid
base salary and vacation through the date of termination; (ii) a lump sum payment equal to 36 months of base salary; (iii) a lump sum payment
equal to three times the greater of (x) the average annual bonus paid over the previous two years or (y) the annual bonus paid the year preceding
the year in which his termination of employment occurs, provided that if Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven, as applicable, is not employed for a
sufficient time to have received an annual cash bonus, such calculation will assume that a target annual cash bonus was paid; (iv) continuation of
medical benefits for a period of 36 months following the date of termination (subject to his payment of active employee rates), or, if such
benefits cannot be provided, a cash payment payable within 60 days in an amount equal to the fair market value of the benefits which were to be
provided; and (v) immediate and full vesting of all outstanding unvested equity awards. In the event of a change of control, Mr. Adams and
Mr. Koven will not be entitled to a tax gross-up with respect to excise taxes under Section 4999 of the Code. Instead, any payments to
Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven that would be subject to the excise tax will be reduced to the level at which the excise tax will not be applied unless
Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven would be in a better net after-tax position by receiving the full payments and paying the excise tax.
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The payment of all severance benefits is contingent on Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven, as applicable, executing a general release of claims in favor of
the Company and not revoking such release. Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven are subject to non-competition, non-solicitation and non-interference
covenants for one year following termination of employment for any reason.

In March 2017, we amended Mr. Adams� and Mr. Koven�s employment agreements to provide that they have agreed not to be eligible for a cash
bonus under the Annual Incentive Bonus Plan with respect to the 2017 performance period, but that, for purposes of calculating any severance
that they may become entitled to, their 2017 bonus will be deemed to have been paid at the target level.

Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman

Mr. Charles, our Chief Financial Officer, Dr. Tursi, our Chief Medical Officer, and Mr. Glickman, our Chief Commercial Officer, entered into
employment agreements with us that provide certain payments and benefits upon termination of employment under certain circumstances.

In the event the employment of Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi or Mr. Glickman is terminated without cause or if either voluntarily terminates his
employment for good reason, Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or Mr. Glickman, as applicable, will receive (i) accrued but unpaid base salary and
vacation through the date of termination; (ii) an amount, payable in 12 equal monthly installments, equal to the sum of (x) one times his base
salary in effect immediately prior to the date of termination, and (y) one times the average annual cash bonus paid over the previous two years,
provided that if Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or Mr. Glickman, as applicable, is not employed for a sufficient time to have received an annual cash
bonus with respect to a full year, such calculation will assume that a target annual cash bonus was paid; (iii) continuation of medical benefits for
a period of 12 months following the date of termination (subject to his payment of active employee rates), or, if such benefits cannot be
provided, a cash payment payable within 60 days in an amount equal to the fair market value of the benefits which were to be provided; and
(iv) acceleration of the vesting of all equity and equity-based awards that would otherwise vest in the 12 month period following the date of
termination.

In the event that, within 12 months of a change of control of Aralez, the employment of Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or Mr. Glickman is terminated
without cause or if he voluntarily terminates his employment for good reason, Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or Mr. Glickman, as applicable, will
receive (i) accrued but unpaid base salary and vacation through the date of termination; (ii) a lump sum cash amount, payable on the 60th day
following the date of termination, equal to two times his base salary in effect immediately prior to date of termination; (iii) a lump sum cash
amount, payable on the 60th day following date of termination, equal to two times the greater of (x) the average annual cash bonus received for
each of the preceding two years and (y) the annual cash bonus received during the preceding year, provided that if Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or
Mr. Glickman, as applicable, is not employed for a sufficient time to have received an annual cash bonus with respect to a full year, such
calculation will assume that a target annual cash bonus was paid; (iv) continuation of medical benefits for a period of 24 months following the
date of termination (subject to his payment of active employee rates), or, if such benefits cannot be provided, a cash payment payable within
60 days in an amount equal to the fair market value of the benefits which were to be provided; and (v) immediate and full vesting of all
outstanding equity or equity-based awards. In the event of a change of control, Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman will not be entitled to a
tax gross-up with respect to excise taxes under Section 4999 of the Code. Instead, any payments to Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or Mr. Glickman that
would be subject to the excise tax will be reduced to the level at which the excise tax will not be applied unless Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or
Mr. Glickman would be in a better net after-tax position by receiving the full payments and paying the excise tax.

The payment of all severance benefits is contingent on Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, or Mr. Glickman, as applicable, executing a general release of
claims in favor of the Company and not revoking such release. Mr. Charles, Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman are subject to non-competition,
non-solicitation and non-interference covenants for one year following termination of employment for any reason.
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Applicable Definitions in Employment Agreements

Cause: In the employment agreements with our named executive officers, �cause� means:

•  the executive is convicted of, or pleads guilty or nolo contendere to, a felony or a crime involving
moral turpitude;

•  in carrying out his duties, the executive engages in conduct that constitutes willful gross misconduct, or
willful gross neglect and that, in either case, results in material economic or reputational harm to the company, which
executive fails to cure after 30 days� written notice; or

•  the executive refuses to perform, or repeatedly fails to undertake good faith efforts to perform, the
duties or responsibilities reasonably assigned to him, which has continued for 30 days following written notice of such
non-performance.
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Good Reason:  In the employment agreements with our named executive officers, �good reason� means the occurrence,
without the executive�s written consent, of any of the following:

•  a change in authority, duties, responsibilities or reporting lines (including, for Mr. Koven, no longer
reporting to Mr. Adams);

•  a reduction in base salary;

•  any relocation of principal office or principal place of employment to a location more than 50 miles
from Philadelphia, Pennsylvania or such other corporate headquarters as is approved by the CEO;

•  a material breach of the agreement by Aralez; or

•  Aralez fails to extend the term of the employment agreement.

For Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven, �good reason� also occurs if Aralez ceases to have any class of securities registered under Section 12 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. For Mr. Adams, �good reason� also occurs if Aralez fails to appoint him to, or removes him from,
the Board.

Change of control:  In the employment agreements with our named executive officers, �change of control� means the first
to occur of any of the following:

•  a person or affiliated group acquires more than 50% of Aralez�s then outstanding voting securities;

•  the shareholders of Aralez approve a plan of complete liquidation;

•  the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of Aralez�s assets;
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•  a merger, consolidation or reorganization of Aralez with or involving another entity unless the holders of
Aralez voting shares immediately prior to the merger have at least 50% of the combined voting power of the securities
in the merged entity or its parent;

•  a majority of the Board of Aralez are replaced during any 12-month period by directors whose appointment
or election are not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board before the date of appointment or election.

Accelerated Vesting of Options and Other Stock-Based Awards

2010 Plan

Under the change of control provisions of the 2010 Plan, unless the Compensation Committee determines otherwise, all outstanding options and
stock appreciation rights, including those held by our named executive officers, will automatically accelerate and become fully exercisable, the
restrictions and conditions on all outstanding stock awards will immediately lapse, and all stock units, dividend equivalents and other
stock-based awards will become fully vested and will be paid at their target value or in such greater amounts as the Compensation Committee
may determine. The Compensation Committee may also take certain other actions as provided in the 2010 Plan, including determining that
outstanding options and stock appreciation rights that are not exercised will be assumed by, or replaced with comparable options or rights by, the
surviving corporation (or a parent or subsidiary of the surviving corporation), and other outstanding grants that remain in effect after the change
of control will be converted to similar grants of the surviving corporation or a parent or subsidiary of the surviving corporation).  Mr. Charles,
Dr. Tursi, and Mr. Glickman currently hold awards under the 2010 Plan. Following the completion of the Tribute Transaction, no new awards
may be granted under the 2010 Plan.
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For purposes of the 2010 Plan, a change of control is generally defined to include any of the following:

•  a person, entity or affiliated group (with certain exceptions) acquires more than 50% of Aralez�s then
outstanding voting securities;

•  Aralez merges into another entity unless the holders of Aralez�s voting shares immediately prior to the
merger have at least 50% of the combined voting power of the securities in the merged entity or its parent;

•  Aralez sells or disposes of all or substantially all of its assets;

•  Aralez is liquidated or dissolved; or

•  a majority of the Aralez Board have been members of the Board for less than one year, unless the
election or nomination for election of each new Director who was not a director at the beginning of such one year
period was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who were directors at the
beginning of such period.

Inducement Grants

Mr. Adams and Mr. Koven each hold RSUs that were made as �inducement grants� under the NASDAQ rules, and were not granted under the
2010 Plan. The RSUs subject to the inducement grants will become fully vested and will be paid upon a change of control. For purposes of the
inducement grants, �change of control� has the same meaning as the term has in the 2010 Plan.

2016 Plan

Our named executive officers each hold stock options, RSUs, and performance-based RSUs under the 2016 Plan. Under the change of control
provisions of the 2016 Plan, unless the awards are assumed by, or replaced with comparable options or rights by, the surviving corporation (or a
parent or subsidiary of the surviving corporation), all outstanding options and stock appreciation rights, including those held by our named
executive officers, will automatically accelerate and become fully exercisable, all outstanding restricted stock awards and restricted stock units
which do not vest based on the achievement of performance goals will become fully vested, and all outstanding restricted stock awards and
restricted stock units which vest based on the achievement of performance goals will become vested at the target level of performance (unless
the award agreements for such awards provide for a higher level of vesting). The award agreements for the performance-based RSUs held by our
named executive officers provide that, unless the awards are assumed or replaced with identical awards by the surviving company, the awards
will vest at the greater of the target level of performance or the actual level of performance assuming that the change of control date was the last
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day of the performance period. The Compensation Committee may also specify in award agreements that awards will vest upon certain
terminations following a change of control.
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For purposes of the 2016 Plan, a change of control is generally defined to include any of the following:

•  a person, entity or affiliated group (with certain exceptions) acquires more than 50% of the total voting
power or the total fair market value of the capital stock of Aralez;

•  a person, entity or affiliated group acquires assets from Aralez with a total fair market value equal to or
more than 50% of the total gross fair market value of the assets of Aralez immediately prior to such acquisition; or

•  a majority of the Aralez Board has been replaced during a 12-month period by directors whose
appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Aralez Board immediately prior to such
appointment or election.

Performance-Based RSUs Under the 2016 Plan

The performance-based RSUs (�PSUs�) granted under the 2016 Plan provide that, unless otherwise provided in another agreement with the
Company, the PSUs will be forfeited upon termination of employment of the participant prior to the last day of the performance period.
However, in the event an agreement with the Company purports to accelerate the vesting of the PSUs upon a termination of employment, the
accelerated PSUs will be paid on the date such PSUs would have been paid had the participant�s employment continued through the end of the
performance period, with the number of PSUs that are earned based on the achievement of the performance goals through the end of the
performance period and pro-rated based on the number of full months during the performance period that the participant was employed by the
Company.

Upon a change of control of the Company, unless the PSUs are continued or assumed by the surviving or successor entity, the participant will be
deemed to have earned and vest in the number of PSUs equal to the greater of (i) the target number of PSUs and (ii) the actual number of PSUs
that would have been vested and earned if the last day of the performance period had been the date of the change of control. If the PSUs are
continued or assumed by the surviving or successor entity following a change of control, and the participant is terminated without Cause or
resigns for Good Reason (each as defined in the participant�s employment agreement) following the change of control but prior to the last day of
the performance period, the participant will be deemed to have earned and vest in the number of PSUs determined as set forth above if the PSUs
had not been continued or assumed.
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Estimated Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

The following table illustrates the value of the payments and benefits our named executive officers would be entitled to receive upon a
termination of employment or upon a change on control of Aralez, in either case as of December 31, 2016.

Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Termination

Termination
For Cause or
Voluntary
Termination
Without

Good Reason

($)

Termination
Without Cause
or Voluntary
Termination
for Good

Reason (Other
than in

connection
with a Change
of Control)

($)

Death or
Disability

($)

Change of
Control

(Termination
Without
Cause or
Voluntary
Termination

for Good Reason)
($)

Change of
Control (No
Termination)

($)
Adrian Adams
Cash Severance�Salary � 1,400,000 1,400,000 2,100,000 �
Cash Severance�Bonus(1) � 1,400,000 1,400,000 2,100,000 �
Stock Options�Accelerated(2) � 32,102 32,102 52,165 �
RSUs and PSUs�Accelerated(2) � 5,476,567 5,476,567 7,894,980 6,432,717
Health Care Continuation(3) � 55,655 55,655 83,482 �

Andrew I. Koven
Cash Severance�Salary � 900,000 900,000 1,350,000 �
Cash Severance�Bonus(1) � 675,000 675,000 1,012,500 �
Stock Options�Accelerated(2) � 16,041 16,041 26,066 �
RSUs and PSUs�Accelerated(2) � 3,849,736 3,849,736 5,614,772 4,884,097
Health Care Continuation(3) � 55,655 55,655 83,482 �

Scott J. Charles
Cash Severance�Salary � 400,000 � 800,000 �
Cash Severance�Bonus(1) � 180,000 � 360,000 �
Stock Options�Accelerated(2) � 6,115 � 19,873 �
RSUs and PSUs�Accelerated(2) � 180,113 � 940,724 96,372
Health Care Continuation(3) � 27,827 � 55,655 �

James P. Tursi, MD
Cash Severance�Salary � 400,000 � 800,000 �
Cash Severance�Bonus(1) � 180,000 � 360,000 �
Stock Options�Accelerated(2) � 6,115 � 19,873 �
RSUs and PSUs�Accelerated(2) � 180,113 � 940,724 96,372
Health Care Continuation(3) � 27,827 � 55,655 �

Mark A. Glickman
Cash Severance�Salary � 385,000 � 770,000 �
Cash Severance�Bonus(1) � 173,250 � 346,500 �
Stock Options�Accelerated(2) � 5,880 � 19,111 �
RSUs and PSUs�Accelerated(2) � 178,112 � 919,375 96,372
Health Care Continuation(3) � 27,827 � 55,655 �

(1)  Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreements, the amount used as a basis for the cash severance�bonus
calculation is the target bonus.
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(2)  Calculated by multiplying the closing market price of Common Shares on December 30, 2016 ($4.41) by the
accelerated number of RSUs or PSUs. For stock options, the aggregate value is based on the spread between the
closing market price of Common Shares on December 30, 2016 ($4.41) and the exercise price of the options.

(3)  Health care continuation is based on Aralez�s rates for coverage during the 2017 plan year, assuming that each
executive elected to participate in COBRA at the same level as the executive currently participates.
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Director Compensation

Discussed in the following paragraphs and tables is the compensation paid to the non-employee directors of Aralez. The directors who served on
the Pozen Board in Fiscal Year 2016 prior to the Tribute Transaction did not receive separate compensation for their service on the Pozen Board
during 2016. Directors who were also employees of Aralez did not receive any additional compensation for their service as directors.

In March 2016, the Aralez Board determined the fees and equity awards that would be granted to the non-employee members of the Board. Each
non-employee director receives a cash retainer in the amount of $40,000, paid in equal quarterly installments, and an annual equity award of
15,000 stock options and 7,500 RSUs, each with a one-year vesting term. Directors may elect to defer the receipt of the shares subject to the
RSUs until such time as the director ceases to provide services to the Company.

In addition, the non-employee directors are eligible to receive the following cash retainer fees for service on the Board:

•  an additional annual retainer for the Chairperson of the Board in the amount of $30,000;

•  an annual retainer for Board committee Chairpersons, as follows: $17,500 for service as Chairperson of
the Transaction Committee; $12,000 for service as Chairperson of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee;
$17,500 for service as Chairperson of the Compensation Committee; and $25,000 for service as Chairperson of the
Audit Committee; and

•  an annual retainer for Board committee members (other than committee Chairpersons), as follows:
$10,000 for service on the Transaction Committee; $8,000 for service on the Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee; $10,000 for service on the Compensation Committee; and $12,500 for service on the Audit Committee.

Each new director will receive a sign-on grant of 30,000 stock options and 15,000 RSUs, which will vest in three equal annual installments.

Director Compensation for Fiscal Year 2016

The following table further summarizes the compensation paid by Aralez to the non-employee directors during Fiscal Year 2016. Except as
noted below, all of the Aralez directors are paid at the same rate. The differences among directors in the table below are a function of additional
compensation for chairing a committee and/or serving on one or more committees.
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Name

Fees
Earned
or

Paid in
Cash
($)

Stock
Awards
($)(1)

Option Awards
($)(1)

All Other
Compensation

($)(2)
Total
($)

Jason M. Aryeh 61,010 25,650 25,367 � 112,027
Neal F. Fowler 58,000 25,650 25,367 22,157 131,174
Rob Harris 45,192 25,650 25,367 � 96,209
Arthur S. Kirsch 113,000 25,650 25,367 34,535 198,552
Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. 70,000 25,650 25,367 23,111 144,128
Seth A. Rudnick, M.D. 62,000 25,650 25,367 22,157 135,174
F. Martin Thrasher 54,885 25,650 25,367 � 105,902

(1)  The amounts included in this column are the dollar amounts representing the full grant date fair value of
each restricted stock unit award or option award, as applicable, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
For information on the valuation assumptions used in calculating this amount, see Note 12 to Aralez�s audited financial
statements included in the 2016 Annual Report.

(2)  The amounts included in this column are the tax equalization payments related to the excise tax under
Section 4985 of the Code. For more information on the tax equalization payments, see the section of the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis above entitled �Compensation Issues Related to the Tribute Transaction and
Formation of Aralez�Section 4985 Tax Equalization.�
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The following table lists the number of outstanding RSUs and the number of outstanding options held by each of the directors as of
December 31, 2016, each of which was granted at an exercise price equal to the closing price of Common Shares as reported by NASDAQ on
the respective date of grant.

Name

Restricted Stock
Units Outstanding
as of December 31,

2016 (#)

Options
Outstanding

as of
December 31,

2016 (#)
Jason M. Aryeh 7,500 15,000
Neal F. Fowler 7,500 15,000
Rob Harris 7,500 205,831
Arthur S. Kirsch 7,500 33,321
Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. 7,500 21,107
Seth A. Rudnick, M.D. 7,500 15,000
F. Martin Thrasher 7,500 28,095
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EQUITY PLANS AND INDUCEMENT GRANTS

We grant equity and equity-based awards under the 2016 Plan, which was approved by Pozen�s shareholders on February 2, 2016. We also have
equity and equity-based awards outstanding under the 2010 Plan and under two �inducement grants� issued pursuant to NASDAQ rules. The
material terms of the 2016 Plan are described in Proposal 3 of this Proxy Statement. The following is a summary of certain material terms of the
2010 Plan and the inducement grants.

Pozen Inc. 2010 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan

Prior to the Tribute Transaction and the adoption of the 2016 Plan, Pozen�s executive officers and directors participated in the 2010 Plan. Certain
stock options and restricted stock units remain outstanding under the 2010 Plan.

Shares Available. As of February 5, 2016, there were 2,131,963 Common Shares remaining available for issuance under
the 2010 Plan.  Upon adoption of the 2016 Plan, these Common Shares became available for issuance under the 2016
Plan.  No further awards may be granted under the 2010 Plan as of February 5, 2016.

Shares Issued. As of March 9, 2017, the total number of Common Shares to be issued upon vesting or exercise, as
applicable, of equity-based awards granted prior to February 5, 2016 under the 2010 Plan is 1,595,919, representing
approximately 2.4% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares as of the date of this Proxy Statement.

Adjustments. In connection with stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and certain other events affecting our
Common Shares, the Compensation Committee will make adjustments as it deems appropriate in the number and kind
of shares covered by outstanding grants and the price per share or market value of any outstanding grants. Any
fractional shares resulting from such adjustment will be eliminated. Any adjustments to outstanding grants shall be
consistent with Section 409A or 424 of the Code, to the extent applicable.

Administration. The 2010 Plan is administered and interpreted by the Compensation Committee. Ministerial functions
may be performed by an administrative committee of our employees appointed by the Compensation Committee. The
Compensation Committee has the authority to (i) determine the individuals to whom grants would be made under the
Plan, (ii) determine the type, size, terms and conditions of such grants, (iii) determine when grants would be made and
the duration of any applicable exercise or restriction period, including the criteria for exercisability and the
acceleration of exercisability, (iv) amend the terms and conditions of any previously issued grant, subject to certain
limitations and (v) deal with any other matters arising under the 2010 Plan.
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Eligibility for Participation. All of the employees, non-employee directors, consultants and advisors of Pozen were eligible
to receive grants under the 2010 Plan.

Stock Options. The 2010 Plan authorized options intended to qualify as incentive stock options within the meaning of
Section 422 of the Code (�ISOs�) or �nonqualified stock options� that are not intended to so qualify (�NQSOs�).
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The exercise price per share of options was determined by the Pozen Compensation Committee on the date of grant. The exercise price of
options granted under the 2010 Plan was not less than the fair market value of Pozen�s common stock on the date of grant. However, if the
grantee of an ISO was a person who held more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of Pozen�s outstanding stock, the
exercise price per share of an ISO granted to such person was at least 110% of the fair market value of Pozen�s common stock on the date of
grant.

The Pozen Compensation Committee determined the term of each option, which could not exceed ten years from the date of grant.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the grantee of an ISO was a person who held more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of
Pozen�s outstanding stock, the term of the ISO could not exceed five years from the date of grant. To the extent that the aggregate fair market
value of shares of Pozen�s common stock, determined on the date of grant, with respect to which ISOs became exercisable for the first time by a
grantee during any calendar year exceeded $100,000, such ISOs were required to be treated as NQSOs.

The Pozen Compensation Committee determined the terms and conditions of options, including when they became exercisable. The
Compensation Committee may accelerate the exercisability of any options. Except as provided in the grant instrument or as otherwise
determined by the Compensation Committee, an option may only be exercised while a grantee is employed by or providing service to us or our
subsidiaries or during an applicable period after termination of employment or service.

A grantee may exercise an option by delivering notice of exercise to the Company. The grantee will pay the exercise price and any withholding
taxes for the option: (i) in cash, (ii) in certain circumstances as permitted by our Compensation Committee, by the surrender of Common Shares
with an aggregate fair market value on the date the option is exercised equal to the exercise price, (iii) by payment through a broker in
accordance with the procedures permitted by Regulation T of the Federal Reserve Board or (iv) by another method approved by our
Compensation Committee. The 2010 Plan also includes a net exercise feature to allow us to issue to a grantee on exercise of a nonqualified stock
option, a net number of Common Shares, by reducing the Common Shares that would otherwise be issued on exercise by a number of Common
Shares with a fair market value equal to the difference between the exercise price and the current value. This will result in less Common Shares
being issued and sold into the market and will allow a grantee to exercise options without making a cash payment for the exercise of the options.

Prohibition on Repricing. Neither our Board nor the Compensation Committee can amend the 2010 Plan or options
previously granted under the 2010 Plan to permit a repricing of options, without prior approval of our shareholders.

Stock Units. The Pozen Compensation Committee could grant stock units to anyone eligible to participate in the 2010
Plan. Each stock unit provides the grantee with the right to receive a Common Share or an amount based on the value
of a Common Share at a future date. The Pozen Compensation Committee determined the number of stock units that
would be granted, whether stock units would become payable based on achievement of performance goals or other
conditions, and the other terms and conditions applicable to stock units.

Stock units are paid at the end of a specified period or deferred to a date authorized by the Compensation Committee. If a stock unit becomes
distributable, it will be paid to the grantee in cash, in Common Shares, or in a combination of cash and Common Shares, as determined by the
Compensation Committee. All unvested stock units are forfeited if the grantee�s employment or service is terminated for any reason, unless the
Compensation Committee determines otherwise.
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The Pozen Compensation Committee could grant dividend equivalents in connection with grants of stock units made under the 2010 Plan.
Dividend equivalents entitle the grantee to receive amounts equal to ordinary dividends that are paid on the Common Shares underlying a grant
while the grant is outstanding. The Pozen Compensation Committee could determine whether dividend equivalents will be paid currently or
credited to a bookkeeping account as a dollar amount or in the form of stock units. Dividend equivalents may be paid in cash, in Common
Shares, or in a combination of the two. The terms and conditions of dividend equivalents were determined by the Pozen Compensation
Committee.

Limits. The maximum number of Common Shares that may be made subject to awards granted under the 2010 Plan
during a calendar year to any one person was 1,000,000 Common Shares.

Assignability. Except as permitted by a transfer of non-qualified stock options to or for family members, only the
participant may exercise rights under a grant during the participant�s lifetime, and a participant may not transfer those
rights except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

Termination of Employment. The Pozen Compensation Committee determined in the grant agreement under what
circumstances and during what time periods a participant would be permitted to exercise an option or stock units
would become payable after termination of employment or service.
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Change of Control. Unless the Compensation Committee determines otherwise, effective upon the date of the change of
control (as defined in the 2010 Plan):

•  All outstanding options will automatically accelerate and become fully exercisable; and

•  All stock units and dividend equivalents will become fully vested and will be paid at their target value,
or in such greater amounts as the Compensation Committee may determine.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a change of control, the Compensation Committee may take any of the following actions with
respect to any or all outstanding grants under the 2010 Plan:

•  Require that grantees surrender their options in exchange for payment by us, in cash or Common Shares
as determined by the Compensation Committee, in an amount equal to the amount by which the then fair market value
of the Common Shares subject to the grantee�s unexercised options exceeds the exercise price of the options;

•  After giving grantees the opportunity to exercise their options, terminate any or all unexercised options
at such time as the Compensation Committee deems appropriate; or

•  Determine that outstanding options that are not exercised will be assumed by, or replaced with
comparable options or rights by the surviving corporation (or a parent or subsidiary of the surviving corporation), and
other outstanding grants that remain in effect after the change of control will be converted to similar grants of the
surviving corporation (or a parent or subsidiary of the surviving corporation).

Amendment and Termination of the 2010 Plan. Our Board may amend or terminate the 2010 Plan at any time, subject to
shareholder approval if such approval is required under any applicable laws or stock exchange requirements.

Inducement Grants

Grant and Vesting of Restricted Stock Units. On June 2, 2015, Pozen granted awards of 1,944,888 and 1,476,674 restricted
stock units to Adrian Adams and Andrew I. Koven, respectively, representing approximately 3.0% and 2.2% of the
issued and outstanding Common Shares as of the date of this Proxy Statement, respectively, in connection with their
hire. The awards were not granted under a shareholder-approved equity plan, and instead were granted pursuant to the

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

119



�inducement grant� exception under NASDAQ rules. The restricted stock units vest in four equal installments on each
of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant, provided that 75% of the restricted stock units would have been
forfeited if Pozen was sold by merger, stock purchase, or sale of assets to a person who had made an offer to the
Board of Pozen prior to June 1, 2015, and such transaction had concluded by November 30, 2015. No such transaction
took place during the relevant time period.
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Payment of Restricted Stock Units. When the restricted stock units vest, the Company will issue one Common Share for
each restricted stock unit. Partial restricted stock units will be paid in cash based on the fair market value of a share on
the date of vesting. Restricted stock units will be subject to tax withholding obligations when they vest.

Dividend Equivalents. The restricted stock units will accrue dividend equivalents, which will be subject to the same
vesting requirements as the underlying restricted stock units, and will be paid at the same time as the underlying
restricted stock units.

Adjustments. In connection with stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and certain other events affecting our
Common Shares, the Compensation Committee will make adjustments as it deems appropriate in the number and kind
of shares covered by outstanding restricted stock units. Any fractional shares resulting from such adjustment will be
eliminated. Any adjustments to outstanding grants shall be consistent with Section 409A or 424 of the Code, to the
extent applicable.

Termination of Employment. Except as otherwise provided in their employment agreements, if Mr. Adams or Mr. Koven
terminate employment for any reason prior to the time the restrictions on the restricted stock units lapse, the unvested
restricted stock units will be forfeited.

Change of Control. In the event of a Change of Control (as defined in the 2010 Plan), all restrictions on the restricted
stock units will lapse and they will become fully vested.

Administration. The Compensation Committee has the power to administer and interpret the inducement grants, to make
factual determinations and to adopt or amend such rules, regulations, agreements and instruments for implementing
the inducement grants as it deems necessary and advisable.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2016 regarding our compensation plans, including individual compensation
agreements, under which equity securities were authorized for issuance:

Plan Category

Number of
securities
to be issued

upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Weighted
average
exercise
price of

outstanding
options,
warrants
and rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available for

future
issuance

under equity
compensation

plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
column (a))

(a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 4,822,353(1) $ 5.85(2) 1,972,907
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 2,566,172(3) � �
Total 7,388,525 $ 5.85 1,972,907

(1)  Represents 1,595,919 Common Shares associated with outstanding options and RSUs that were granted under the
Pozen equity compensation plans approved by security holders.  The awards outstanding under these plans as of
February 5, 2016 were assumed by Aralez upon the closing of the Tribute Transaction, and no further awards will be
granted under the Pozen equity compensation plans.  This number also includes 3,226,434 Common Shares associated
with outstanding options, RSUs and performance share units (at target) that were granted under the the 2016 Plan.

(2)  Represents the weighted average exercise price of the outstanding options reported in column (a).  Does not take
into account the outstanding RSUs reported in column (a).

(3)  Represents Common Shares underlying inducement RSU grants to certain executive officers that were issued
outside of security holder approved equity plans. See the section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Equity Plans and
Inducement Grants� for additional information.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee oversees the Company�s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board. Management is responsible for the Company�s
disclosure controls and procedures and financial reporting process, including its system of internal control over financial reporting, and for
preparing the Company�s financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The Company�s
independent auditors are responsible for auditing those financial statements and issuing a report thereon. The Audit Committee�s responsibility is
to monitor and oversee these processes.

The Audit Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention and oversight of the independent auditors. The
Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board, a copy of which is set forth in Annex C to this Proxy Statement and posted on
the Company�s website at www.aralez.com.

The Audit Committee has met and held discussions with management and the independent auditors, both separately and together. Management
has represented to the Audit Committee that the audited financial statements of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 were
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed
the financial statements with management and the independent auditors. The Audit Committee discussed with the independent auditors the
matters required to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 1301, �Communications with Audit Committees� issued by the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (�PCAOB�).

In addition, the Audit Committee has discussed with the independent auditors their independence from the Company and its management,
including the written disclosures and the letter required by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent auditor�s
communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence. Finally, the Audit Committee has discussed with the Company�s
independent auditors the overall scope and plans for their audits, the results of their examinations, their evaluations and assessment of the
Company�s internal control over financial reporting and the overall quality of the Company�s financial reporting.

In its oversight function, the Audit Committee relies on the representations of management and the independent auditors and thus does not have
an independent basis to determine that management has maintained appropriate accounting and financial reporting principles or policies or
appropriate internal control over financial reporting, that the Company�s financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, that the audit of the Company�s financial statements for Fiscal Year 2016 has been carried out
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, or that the independent auditors are in fact �independent.�

Based upon the Audit Committee�s discussions with management and the independent auditors, as described above, and the Audit Committee�s
review of the representations of management and the report of the independent auditors to the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee
recommended to the Board that the audited financial statements of the Company for Fiscal Year 2016 be included in the Company�s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and Canadian Securities
Administrators.

AUDIT COMMITTEE:
Arthur S. Kirsch, Chairperson
Kenneth B. Lee, Jr.
F. Martin Thrasher
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The information contained in the foregoing report shall not be deemed to be �soliciting material� or to be �filed� with the SEC or furnished to
Canadian Securities Regulators, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, applicable securities laws in Canada or any stock exchange, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by
reference in such filing.

Financial Statements

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for Fiscal Year 2016, together with the auditor�s report thereon, will be submitted
at the Meeting, but no vote thereon is required. These audited consolidated financial statements, together with the management�s discussion and
analysis thereon, may also be obtained on the Company�s corporate website at www.aralez.com, on the EDGAR website maintained by the SEC
at www.sec.gov and on the SEDAR website maintained by the CSA at www.sedar.com. The Company�s corporate website does not form part of
this Proxy Statement.
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PROPOSAL 1

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

At the Meeting, eight directors will be elected by the shareholders to serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors
are elected. The Named Proxies will vote properly submitted proxies �FOR� the election as directors of each of the eight persons named below,
unless the proxy contains instructions to the contrary. Proxies cannot be voted for a greater number of persons than the number of nominees
named in this Proxy Statement. Management has no reason to believe that any of the nominees is unable or unwilling to serve, if elected.
However, in the event that any of the nominees should become unable or unwilling to serve as a director, the Named Proxies will vote properly
submitted proxies for the election of such person or persons as shall be designated by the Board.

Nominees for the Board of Directors

The Board has nominated Adrian Adams, Kenneth B. Lee, Jr., Arthur S. Kirsch, Seth A. Rudnick, M.D., Neal F. Fowler, Rob Harris, Jason M.
Aryeh, and F. Martin Thrasher for election as directors. Information regarding each nominee and his background and service on boards of
directors of other public companies is provided in the section of this Proxy Statement entitled �Board of Directors and Corporate Governance�The
Board in General�.

The Board has identified each of the members of the Board, with the exception of Mr.  Adams, who serves as our Chief Executive Officer, and
Mr. Harris, who previously served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Tribute, as independent for purposes of the applicable NASDAQ
listing standards, and for purposes of NI 58-101.

Vote Required

A plurality of the votes duly cast in person or by proxy by the shareholders at the Meeting with respect to each director is required for the
election of each director. Under the BCBCA and the Company�s Articles, director elections are based on the plurality system, where shareholders
vote FOR or WITHHOLD their votes for a director. Votes withheld are not counted, with the result that, technically, a director will be elected to
the Board with just one vote in favor; however, pursuant to the Company�s Majority Voting Policy, if a nominee in an uncontested election does
not receive at least the majority of the votes cast (including votes �FOR� and votes �WITHHELD�), such director is required to promptly tender his
or her resignation for consideration by the Board.

Majority Voting Policy

In accordance with the Toronto Stock Exchange Company Manual, the Company has adopted a Majority Voting Policy, which requires that in
an uncontested election of directors, if any nominee receives a greater number of votes �WITHHELD� than votes �FOR,� the nominee will tender a
resignation to the Chairperson of the Board immediately following the meeting of shareholders. As set out in the Majority Voting Policy, an
�uncontested election� means an election where the number of nominees for director shall be equal to the number of directors to be elected, as
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determined by the Board. The Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee will consider the offer of resignation in a timely manner and shall
make a recommendation to the Board. The Board will make a final decision on the resignation within 90 days of the meeting of shareholders,
having considered the factors reviewed by the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee, and is expected to accept the resignation except in
situations where exceptional or extraordinary circumstances would warrant the director continuing to serve on the Board. A director who tenders
his or her resignation will not participate in the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee�s or the Board�s consideration of whether to accept
the tendered resignation. The Board will promptly disclose its decision in a press release, and should the Board decline to accept the resignation,
the press release will state the reasons for its decision.

The foregoing description of the Majority Voting Policy is intended as a summary only and does not purport to be complete and is subject to,
and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the Majority Voting Policy, which is appended to the Corporate
Governance Guidelines as Annex B and a copy of which is available on the Company�s corporate website at http://www.aralez.com.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE �FOR� THE ELECTION OF EACH OF ADRIAN ADAMS, KENNETH B. LEE, JR.,
ARTHUR S. KIRSCH, SETH A. RUDNICK, M.D., NEAL F. FOWLER, ROB HARRIS, JASON M. ARYEH, AND F. MARTIN

THRASHER.

Unless a proxy specifies that the Common Shares it represents should be withheld from voting in respect of the election of directors or
otherwise voted in accordance with the specification in the proxy, the Named Proxies intend to vote FOR the election of each of the
Board nominees listed in this Proxy Statement.
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PROPOSAL 2

APPROVAL OF THE APPOINTMENT OF THE COMPANY�S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Overview

E&Y, an independent registered public accounting firm, currently serves as the Company�s auditor and conducted the audit of the Company�s
financial statements for Fiscal Year 2016. At the Meeting, shareholders are being asked to approve the appointment of E&Y as the Company�s
auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017 (�Fiscal Year 2017�). The appointment of E&Y will be approved if a majority of the votes
cast by shareholders who are present in person or represented by proxy at the Meeting are voted in favor of this ordinary resolution. Pursuant to
Section 22.4 of the Articles, the Board is authorized to fix the remuneration of the auditor. The Company currently anticipates that
representatives of E&Y, will be present at the Meeting, will have an opportunity to make a statement, and will be available to respond to
appropriate questions.

Fees and Services of Ernst & Young LLP

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed to Aralez for professional services rendered to Aralez by E&Y for Fiscal Year 2016 and
to Aralez and Pozen for fiscal year ended December 31, 2015:

2016 2015
Audit Fees(1) $ 1,514,000 $ 1,314,997
Audit-Related Fees(2) � 163,010
Tax Fees(3) 15,000 275,664
All Other Fees 1,985 �
Total $ 1,530,985 $ 1,753,671

(1)  Audit Fees in 2016 consisted of fees associated with the annual audit and the reviews of the Company�s
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q.  Audit Fees in 2015 include $1,088,111 of audit fees attributable to services provided
to Pozen and $226,886 of audit fees attributable to services provided to Aralez. Audit fees in 2015 consisted of fees
associated with the annual audit and the reviews of Pozen�s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q along with fees associated
with SEC and accounting regulations and compliance consulting.  These fees also included audit procedures related to
the Tribute Transaction.

(2)  Audit-Related Fees in 2015 consisted of financial due diligence procedures related to the Tribute Transaction.
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(3)  Tax Fees in 2016 consisted of fees associated with New Jersey tax incentives consultations.  Tax Fees in 2015
consisted of fees associated with tax structuring consultations and tax-related due diligence provided by E&Y related
to the Tribute Transaction, as well as New Jersey tax incentives consultations and assistance provided to Pozen.

All of the services provided by E&Y to Pozen in 2015 were approved in advance in accordance with the Pozen Audit Committee�s pre-approval
policies and procedures. The Pozen Audit Committee did not rely on the waiver of pre-approval procedures permitted with respect to de
minimus non-audit services under the applicable rules of the SEC for its approval of any of the services provided by E&Y in 2015.
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Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our Audit Committee has adopted policies and procedures relating to the pre-approval of all audit and non-audit services to be provided by our
independent auditors. Under these policies and procedures, the Audit Committee approves in advance the provision of services and fees for such
services that are specifically identified in the independent auditor�s annual engagement letter for the audits and reviews, in management�s annual
budget relating to services to be provided by the independent auditors and any amendments to the annual budget reflecting additional services to
be provided by or higher fees of the independent auditors. All other services to be provided by the independent auditors are pre-approved by the
Audit Committee as they arise. The Chairperson of the Audit Committee has been delegated authority to pre-approve services in accordance
with these policies and procedures. The Chairperson is to report any such approval of services to the Audit Committee at its next meeting. The
Audit Committee considers, among other things, whether the provision of such audit or non-audit services is consistent with applicable
regulations regarding maintaining auditor independence, whether the provision of such services would impair the independent auditors�
independence and whether the independent auditors are best positioned to provide the most effective and efficient service.

Vote Required

A majority of the votes duly cast in person or by proxy by the shareholders at the Meeting is required to approve the appointment of E&Y as the
Company�s independent registered accounting firm for Fiscal Year 2017.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE �FOR�

THE APPROVAL OF THE APPOINTMENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, AS

THE COMPANY�S AUDITORS FOR FISCAL
YEAR 2017.

Unless a proxy specifies that the Common Shares it represents should be withheld from voting in respect of the appointment of auditor
or otherwise voted in accordance with the specification in the proxy, the Named Proxies intend to vote FOR the appointment of Ernst &
Young LLP, as auditor of the Company.

65

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

129



PROPOSAL 3

APPROVAL OF THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 2016 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Our shareholders are being asked to approve amendments to and the restatement of the Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. 2016 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (the �2016 Plan�) to increase by 4,300,000 the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance under the 2016 Plan and other amendments
that are described further below. Upon the recommendation of our Compensation Committee, our Board approved the amendments to and
restatement of the 2016 Plan on March 8, 2017, subject to shareholder approval. Until the amendments are approved by our shareholders, no
awards may be granted under the 2016 Plan with respect to the additional Common Shares reserved for issuance under the amendments.

Background

Our Board adopted the 2016 Plan on December 11, 2015, which was subsequently approved by our shareholders on February 2, 2016. The
Board adopted the 2016 Plan to enable Aralez to continue to grant stock options and other awards to employees of Aralez and its subsidiaries at
levels reasonably necessary to attract, retain and motivate talent after completion of the transactions.

Summary of Proposal

As of December 31, 2016 there were 1,972,907 Common Shares available for grant under the 2016 Plan. The Board determined that the number
of Common Shares remaining available under the 2016 Plan is not adequate for our current equity compensation needs and amended and
restated the 2016 Plan, subject to shareholder approval, to (i) increase the number of Common Shares covered by, and reserved for issuance
under, the 2016 Plan by 4,300,000 Common Shares, (ii) to add a minimum vesting requirement for all stock options and stock appreciation
rights, and (iii) to adopt new amendment provisions consistent with the requirements of the Toronto Stock Exchange Company Manual. The
Board believes the proposed amendments to the 2016 Plan will allow Aralez to continue utilizing a broad array of equity incentives and
performance cash incentives in order to secure and retain the services of employees of Aralez and its subsidiaries, and to continue providing long
term incentives that align the interests of employees with the interests of Aralez shareholders.
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The Importance of the Proposed Amendment to Increase Shares Available under the 2016 Plan

In order to continue to achieve results for our shareholders, it is crucial that we attract, retain and incentivize a talented and experienced team of
executives, key employees and non-employee directors. Equity-based compensation creates an ownership culture that rewards executives for
maximizing shareholder value over time and aligns the interests of employees and directors with those of our shareholders. We have
traditionally granted stock options or RSUs to new employees in connection with their commencement of employment and stock options, RSUs,
and performance-based RSUs, as well as other forms of equity-based compensation, to key employees as part of their ongoing compensation
packages. We believe that providing additional grants of equity compensation beyond an initial new hire grant provides management and other
key employees with a strong link to long-term corporate performance and the creation of shareholder value, as well as providing continued
retention via long-term and milestone driven vesting.

We have experienced considerable growth during 2016, and we expect rapid growth over the next several years and therefore need to ensure that
we have an equity incentive plan with a sufficient number of available shares to incentivize the expected influx of new employees of Aralez and
its subsidiaries. Without an increase in the number of shares available under the 2016 Plan, we may not be able to attract and provide long-term
incentives to new executives and other professional talent that we may need to achieve our research and development goals and, assuming
regulatory approval, to maximize the revenue potential of our products through effective introduction and commercialization.

Key Considerations in the Determination of the Number of Shares to Request

Our Compensation Committee determined that 4,300,000 additional Common Shares would provide us the ability to continue compensating our
executive officers and other key employees. In determining the number of Common Shares to be authorized under the 2016 Plan, the
Compensation Committee considered the following principal factors:

•  Number of Shares Available for Grant under 2016 Plan:  As of December 31, 2016, 1,972,907 Common
Shares remained reserved and available for issuance under the 2016 Plan.

•  Number of Awards Outstanding:  As of December 31, 2016, the following awards were outstanding under
the 2016 Plan, the Pozen Inc. 2010 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the �2010 Plan�), and inducement awards granted
during 2015: options with respect to 3,065,033 shares with a weighted average exercise price of $5.85 and a weighted
average remaining term of 5.54 years, and full value awards with respect to 4,323,492 shares.

•  Burn Rate:  Burn rate measures the usage of shares for our stock plans as a percentage of our outstanding
shares. For 2014 and 2015, Pozen�s burn rate was approximately 2.87% and 17.57%, and for 2016, Aralez�s burn rate
was approximately 7.51%, resulting in a three year average burn rate of approximately 9.08%. The higher burn rate
for 2015 was primarily due to the engagement of our management team. The Compensation Committee believes that
4,300,000 additional shares are appropriate at this time to allow us to grant awards with a burn rate similar to our 2016
burn rate for the next three years.
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•  Overhang:  As of December 31, 2016, 7,388,525 shares were subject to outstanding Aralez awards
(3,065,033 options and 4,323,492 restricted shares and RSUs), resulting in an overhang of approximately 13%. If an
additional 4,300,000 shares are reserved for issuance under the 2016 Plan, the overhang would be approximately
17.7%
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Minimum Vesting Requirement

The 2016 Plan has been amended to expand the minimum restriction period that currently applies only to full value awards. The 2016 Plan, as
amended, requires a minimum vesting period of one year for all stock options and stock appreciation rights, and a one year minimum restriction
period for full value awards granted to non-employee directors. Previously, the 2016 Plan contained a three-year minimum restriction period that
applied only to full value awards (or a 12 month minimum restriction period for full value awards that vest based on the satisfaction of
performance goals). Awards may be granted without the minimum vesting period or minimum restriction period with respect to 5% of the shares
available under the 2016 Plan.

Key Features Designed to Protect Shareholders� Interests

The 2016 Plan�s design reflects our commitment to strong corporate governance and our desire to preserve shareholder value as demonstrated by
the following 2016 Plan features:

•  Independent Administrator.  The Compensation Committee, comprised solely of independent,
non-employee directors, administers the 2016 Plan. Administrative powers may be delegated to officers and other
employees, but all determinations regarding awards to our executive officers and non-employee directors must be
made by the Compensation Committee.

•  No Evergreen Feature.  The 2016 Plan does not contain an �evergreen� provision that automatically increases
the number of shares authorized for issuance under the 2016 Plan.

•  No Liberal Share Recycling Policy.  The 2016 Plan does not permit shares tendered by a participant or
withheld by us, as full or partial payment of the exercise price of stock options or to satisfy a participant�s tax
withholding obligations, to become available for issuance under the 2016 Plan.

•  Repricing and Reloading Prohibited.  Shareholder approval is required for any repricing, replacement, or
buyout of underwater awards. In addition, no new awards are granted automatically upon the exercise or settlement of
any outstanding award.

•  No Discount Awards; Maximum Term Specified.  Stock options and stock appreciation rights must have an
exercise price no less than the closing price per share on the date the award is granted.
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•  Per-Participant Limits on Awards.  The 2016 Plan limits the size of awards that may be granted during any
one year to any one participant.

•  Award Design Flexibility.  Different kinds of awards may be granted under the 2016 Plan, giving us the
flexibility to design our equity incentives to complement the other elements of compensation and to support our
attainment of strategic goals.

•  Performance-based Awards.  The 2016 Plan permits the grant of performance-based stock and
cash-incentive awards that are payable only upon the attainment of specified performance goals. The 2016 Plan
includes the provisions necessary to enable us to grant qualified performance-based awards which are intended to be
exempt from the $1,000,000 limit on deductions for compensation paid to covered employees.

•  No Dividends on Performance-based Awards Unless and Until Performance Goals Are Met.  The 2016
Plan prohibits the payment of dividends or dividend equivalents on performance-based awards unless and until
applicable performance goals are met.

•  No Liberal Definition of Change in Control.  The 2016 Plan�s definition of a change in control transaction
provides that any award benefits triggered by the transaction are contingent upon the actual consummation of the
transaction, not merely its approval by our Board or shareholders.

•  No Transfers for Value.  Participants are not permitted to transfer awards for value under the 2016 Plan.
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•  Awards Subject to Claw Back Policy.  Awards granted under the 2016 Plan generally will be subject to any
and all policies, guidelines, codes of conduct, or other agreement or arrangement adopted by our Board with respect to
the recoupment, recovery or clawback of compensation.

The Compensation Committee has full discretion to determine the number of awards to be granted to participants under the 2016 Plan, subject to
an annual limitation on the total number of awards that may be granted to any one person. No awards have been granted contingent upon
shareholder approval of the 2016 Plan.

Summary of the 2016 Plan

The following is a summary of certain material terms of the 2016 Plan, as proposed to be amended and restated. The summary is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the complete text of the amended and restated 2016 Plan, which is incorporated into this Proxy Statement by reference in
its entirety and attached as Annex A to this Proxy Statement.

Background and Purpose

The purpose of the 2016 Plan is to (i) promote our long-term financial interests and growth by attracting and retaining management and other
personnel and key service providers with the training, experience and ability to enable them to make a substantial contribution to the success of
our business; (ii) motivate management personnel by means of growth-related incentives to achieve long-range goals; and (iii) further the
alignment of interests of participants with those of our shareholders through opportunities for increased share ownership in Aralez.

Administration

The Compensation Committee is the administrator of the 2016 Plan (the �Administrator�). At any time, the Board may serve as the Administrator
of the 2016 Plan, in lieu of, or in addition, to the Compensation Committee. Except as provided otherwise under the 2016 Plan, the
Administrator has plenary authority to grant awards pursuant to the terms of the 2016 Plan to eligible individuals, determine the types of awards
and the number of shares to be covered by the awards, establish the terms and conditions for awards and take all other actions necessary or
desirable to carry out the purpose and intent of the 2016 Plan.

The Compensation Committee (or Board) may delegate to officers and employees limited authority to perform administrative actions under the
2016 Plan to assist in its administration, to the extent permitted by applicable law and stock exchange rules. This delegation of authority,
however, may not extend to the exercise of discretion with respect to awards to participants who are �covered employees� within the meaning of
Section 162(m) of the Code or officers under Section 16 of the Exchange Act. With respect to any award to which Section 16 of the Exchange
Act applies, the Administrator shall consist of either the Board or the Compensation Committee, which committee shall consist of two or more
directors, each of whom is intended to be a �non-employee director� as defined in Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act and an �independent director� to
the extent required by NASDAQ. With respect to any award that is intended to be a qualified performance-based award, the Administrator shall
consist of two or more directors, each of whom is intended to be an �outside director� as defined under Section 162(m) of the Code. Any member
of the Administrator who does not meet the foregoing requirements shall abstain from any decision regarding an award and shall not be
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considered a member of the Administrator to the extent required to comply with Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act or Section 162(m) of the Code.

Eligibility and Participation

Participation in the 2016 Plan is generally open to all officers, employees and other individuals, including non-employee directors, who are
natural persons providing bona fide services to Aralez or any of its subsidiaries. However, any individual whose services to Aralez or any of its
subsidiaries are limited to capital-raising transactions, or the promotion and maintenance of a market for Aralez securities, are ineligible to
participate in the 2016 Plan. Prospective officers, employees and other service providers who have accepted offers to provide services to Aralez
may also participate in the 2016 Plan.

Shares Available

As of the original effective date of the 2016 Plan, a total of 6,281,167 Common Shares were reserved for issuance under the 2016 Plan
representing approximately 9.82% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (consisting of 2,131,963 Common Shares available
under the 2010 Plan and 830,614 Common Shares available under the Amended and Restated Option Plan of Tribute
Pharmaceuticals Canada Inc. as of February 5, 2016; 1,018,590 Common Shares required to cover options granted in
substitution of outstanding Tribute options; and 2,300,000 Common Shares approved for the 2016 Plan). As of
December 31, 2016, a total of 3,226,434 Common Shares are subject to awards outstanding under the 2016 Plan
(which includes 342,727 shares to be issued upon the exercise of Tribute options that were assumed by Aralez in the
Tribute Transaction) representing approximately 4.9% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. As amended
and restated, the total Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2016 Plan will increase from the current
reserve of 1,972,907 by 4,300,000 Common Shares, such that a total of 6,272,907 Common Shares will be reserved
for issuance under the 2016 Plan representing approximately 9.48% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.
The share pool will be reduced by one share for each stock option or stock appreciation right granted under the 2016
Plan, and by 1.59 shares for each stock award, stock unit, performance share or other stock-based award granted under
the 2016 Plan, provided that the share pool will not be reduced for awards that are required to be paid in cash pursuant
to their terms. The number of shares available for issuance under the 2016 Plan will increase, on the relevant date, by
one share for each stock option or stock appreciation right that terminates, expires, or is cancelled, forfeited,
exchanged or surrendered without having been exercised, and by 1.59 shares for each stock award, stock unit,
performance share or other stock-based award that is forfeited. Shares tendered by a participant or withheld by us, as
full or partial payment of the exercise price of stock options or to satisfy a participant�s tax withholding obligations,
will not become available for issuance under the 2016 Plan.
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The number and class of shares subject to the 2016 Plan, the number and class of shares subject to any numerical limit in the 2016 Plan, and the
number, price and class of shares subject to awards will be adjusted in the event of a merger, consolidation, stock rights offering, statutory share
exchange or similar event affecting Aralez or a stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, separation, spinoff, reorganization, extraordinary
dividend of cash or other property, share combination or subdivision, or recapitalization or similar event affecting our capital structure that
occurs at any time.

In the event of a corporate transaction involving Aralez (including, without limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, extraordinary cash
dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, or exchange of shares), the Compensation
Committee may make discretionary adjustments, including the cancellation of outstanding awards for cash, securities, other property or a
combination of the three and the substitution of cash, securities, other property, a combination of the three or equivalent awards of the surviving
or successor entity or its Aralez company.

Types of Awards

The 2016 Plan enables the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards, stock unit awards, performance shares, cash-based
performance units and other stock-based awards, each of which may be granted separately or in tandem with other awards. The 2016 Plan
contains all elements necessary to enable such awards granted to covered employees to qualify for the performance-based exemption to the
$1,000,000 deduction limit under Section 162(m) of the Code, if desired, to ensure maximum deductibility by Aralez. All awards made under
the 2016 Plan may be subject to vesting and other contingencies as determined by the Administrator and will be evidenced by agreements
approved by the Administrator which set forth the terms and conditions of each award.

Stock Options.    Stock options entitle the participant, upon exercise, to purchase a specified number of shares at a
specified price for a specified period of time. The Administrator may grant incentive stock options and nonqualified
stock options under the 2016 Plan. The exercise price for each stock option is determined by the Administrator but
will in no event be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Common Shares on the grant date. The �Fair Market
Value� means, if the principal market for our Common Shares is a national securities exchange or an established
securities market (e.g., the Nasdaq Stock Market or the Toronto Stock Exchange), the official closing price per
Common Share for the regular market session on the day of determination, or, if the principal market for our Common
Shares is not a national securities exchange or an established securities market, but the Common Shares are quoted by
a national quotation system, the average of the highest bid and lowest asked prices for our common shares on the day
of determination as reported on a national quotation system, or in the absence of an established market for the stock or
its quotation by a national quotation system, the value determined by the Administrator in good faith by the reasonable
application of a reasonable valuation method, which method may, but need not, include taking into account an
appraisal of the fair market value of the Common Shares conducted by a nationally recognized appraisal firm selected
by the Administrator.

Any stock options that are granted in the form of an incentive stock option will be intended to comply with the requirements of Section 422 of
the Code. Only options granted to employees qualify for incentive stock option treatment.

Each stock option will expire at the time the Administrator determines on the grant date. No stock option will be exercisable later than the tenth
anniversary of its grant, unless required otherwise by applicable law. A stock option may be exercised in whole or in installments. Shares
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purchased upon the exercise of a stock option must be paid for in full at the time of exercise in cash or such other consideration as determined by
the Administrator.

Stock Appreciation Rights.    A stock appreciation right (�SAR�) is the right to receive a payment equal to the excess of the
Fair Market Value of a specified number of shares on the date the SAR is exercised over the base price per share
specified in the award agreement. The base price for each SAR cannot be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of
Common Shares on the grant date and the exercise price of any tandem stock option to which the SAR is related, and
the term of a SAR cannot be more than 10 years from the grant date, unless required otherwise by applicable law. At
the discretion of the Administrator, the payment upon a SAR exercise may be in cash, shares or a combination of the
two.
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Prohibition on Repricing for Stock Options and SARs.    Except in connection with a corporate transaction involving Aralez
(including, without limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, extraordinary cash dividend, recapitalization,
reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, or exchange of shares), the terms of stock
options and SARs granted under the 2016 Plan may not be amended, after the date of grant, to reduce the exercise
price of such stock options or SARs, nor may outstanding stock options or SARs be canceled in exchange for (i) cash,
(ii) stock options or SARs with an exercise price that is less than the exercise price of the original outstanding stock
options or SARs, or (iii) other awards, unless such action is approved by Aralez�s shareholders.

Restricted Stock.    Awards of restricted stock are actual Common Shares that are issued to a participant, but that are
subject to forfeiture if the participant does not remain employed by us for a certain period of time and/or if certain
performance goals are not met. Except for these restrictions and any others imposed by the Administrator, the
participant will generally have all of the rights of a shareholder with respect to the restricted stock, including the right
to vote the restricted stock upon the expiration of the restricted period, but will not be permitted to sell, assign,
transfer, pledge or otherwise encumber shares of restricted stock before the risk of forfeiture lapses. Dividends
declared payable on shares of restricted stock that are granted subject to risk of forfeiture conditioned solely on
continued service over a period of time will be paid either at the dividend payment date or deferred for payment to
such later date as determined by the Administrator, and may be paid in cash or as unrestricted shares of our Common
Shares or may be reinvested in additional shares of restricted stock. Dividends declared payable on shares of restricted
stock that are granted subject to risk of forfeiture conditioned on satisfaction of performance goals will be held by us
and made subject to forfeiture at least until the applicable performance goal related to such shares of restricted stock
has been satisfied.

Restricted Stock Units.    An award of RSUs represents a contractual obligation of Aralez to deliver to the participant a
number of Common Shares, an amount in cash equal to the fair market value of the specified number of shares subject
to the award, or a combination of shares and cash. Until Common Shares are issued to the participant in settlement of
stock units, the participant shall not have any rights of a shareholder of Aralez with respect to the stock units or the
shares issuable thereunder. Vesting of RSUs may be subject to performance goals, the continued service of the
participant or both. The Administrator may provide that dividend equivalents will be paid or credited with respect to
RSUs, but such dividend equivalents will be held by us and made subject to forfeiture at least until any applicable
performance goal related to such RSUs has been satisfied.

Performance Shares and Performance Units.    An award of performance shares refers to Common Shares or stock units that
are expressed in terms of our Common Shares, the issuance, vesting, lapse of restrictions or payment of which is
contingent on performance as measured against predetermined objectives over a specified performance period. An
award of performance units refers to dollar-denominated units valued by reference to designated criteria established
by the Administrator, other than our Common Shares, whose issuance, vesting, lapse of restrictions or payment is
contingent on performance as measured against predetermined objectives over a specified performance period. The
applicable award agreement will specify whether performance shares and performance units will be settled or paid in
cash or Common Shares or a combination of both, or will reserve to the Administrator or the participant the right to
make that determination prior to or at the payment or settlement date.
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The Administrator will, prior to or at the time of grant, condition the grant, vesting or payment of, or lapse of restrictions on, an award of
performance shares or performance units upon (i) the attainment of performance goals during a performance period; or (ii) the attainment of
performance goals and the continued service of the participant. The length of the performance period, the performance goals to be achieved
during the performance period, and the measure of whether and to what degree such performance goals have been attained will be conclusively
determined by the Administrator in the exercise of its absolute discretion. Performance goals may include minimum, maximum and target levels
of performance, with the size of the award or payout of performance shares or performance units or the vesting or lapse of restrictions with
respect thereto based on the level attained. An award of performance shares or performance units will be settled as and when the award vests or
at a later time specified in the award agreement or in accordance with an election of the participant, if the Administrator so permits, that meets
the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

Qualified Performance-Based Awards.    The Administrator may, prior to or at the time of grant, designate an award of
restricted stock, RSUs, performance shares or performance units as a qualified performance-based award intended to
qualify for the performance-based exemption to the $1,000,000 deduction limit under Section 162(m) of the Code, if
desired. For any award so designated as a qualified performance-based award, the Administrator will take steps to
ensure that the terms of the award are consistent with such designation. The Administrator may retain in an award
agreement the discretion to reduce, but not to increase, the amount or number of qualified performance-based awards
which will be earned based on the achievement of performance goals. Achievement of the performance goals will be
certified by a committee of outside directors, within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, before any payment
is made under a qualified performance-based award.
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If Full Value Awards are intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, the award agreement must
specify a predetermined amount of cash or shares that may be earned by the covered employee to the extent that one or more predetermined
performance goals based on the following specified performance metrics are attained within a predetermined performance period:

•  Earnings or Profitability Metrics:  any derivative of revenue; earnings/loss (gross, operating, net, or
adjusted); earnings/loss before interest and taxes (�EBIT�); earnings/loss before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (�EBITDA�); profit margins; operating margins; expense levels or ratios; provided that any of the
foregoing metrics may be adjusted to eliminate the effect of any one or more of the following: interest expense, asset
impairments or investment losses, early extinguishment of debt or stock-based compensation expense;

•  Return Metrics:  any derivative of return on investment, assets, equity or capital (total or invested);

•  Investment Metrics:  relative risk-adjusted investment performance; investment performance of assets under
management;

•  Cash Flow Metrics:  any derivative of operating cash flow; cash flow sufficient to achieve financial ratios or
a specified cash balance; free cash flow; cash flow return on capital; net cash provided by operating activities; cash
flow per share; working capital;

•  Liquidity Metrics:  any derivative of debt leverage (including debt to capital, net debt-to-capital,
debt-to-EBITDA or other liquidity ratios);

•  Stock Price and Equity Metrics:  any derivative of return on shareholders� equity; total shareholder return;
stock price; stock price appreciation; market capitalization; earnings/loss per share (basic or diluted) (before or after
taxes); and

•  Strategic Metrics:  product research and development; completion of an identified special project; clinical
trials; regulatory filings or approvals; patent application or issuance; manufacturing or process development; sales or
net sales; market share; market penetration; economic value added; customer service; customer satisfaction; inventory
control; balance of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities; growth in assets; key hires; employee
satisfaction; employee retention; business expansion; acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures or financing; legal
compliance or safety and risk reduction.

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

141



Performance metrics may apply to an individual, one or more business units, divisions or affiliates or on an Aralez-wide basis. Performance
metrics may be expressed in absolute terms, relative to a base period or relative to the performance of one or more comparable companies, peer
groups or an index covering multiple companies. Performance goals may be applied on a per share or absolute basis and relative to one or more
performance metrics, or any combination thereof, and may be measured pursuant to GAAP, non-GAAP or other objective standards in a manner
consistent with Aralez�s or its subsidiary�s established accounting policies, all as the Administrator shall determine at the time the performance
goals for a performance period are established. The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide that one or more objectively determinable
adjustments shall be made to the manner in which one or more of the performance goals is to be calculated or measured to take into account, or
ignore, one or more of the following: (1) items related to a change in accounting principle; (2) items relating to financing activities; (3) expenses
for restructuring or productivity initiatives; (4) other non-operating items; (5) items related to acquisitions; (6) items attributable to the business
operations of any entity acquired by Aralez during the performance period; (7) items related to the sale or disposition of a business or segment of
a business; (8) items related to discontinued operations that do not qualify as a segment of a business under U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles; (9) items attributable to any stock dividend, stock split, combination or exchange of stock occurring during the performance period;
(10) any other items of significant income or expense which are determined to be appropriate adjustments; (11) items relating to unusual or
extraordinary corporate transactions, events or developments, (12) items related to amortization of acquired intangible assets; (13) items that are
outside the scope of Aralez�s core, on-going business activities; (14) changes in foreign currency exchange rates; (15) items relating to changes in
tax laws; (16) certain identified expenses (including, but not limited to, cash bonus expenses, incentive expenses and acquisition-related
transaction and integration expenses); (17) items relating to asset impairment charges; or (18) items relating to gains or unusual or nonrecurring
events or changes in applicable law, accounting principles or business conditions. For all awards intended to qualify as qualified
performance-based awards, such determinations shall be made within the time prescribed by, and otherwise in compliance with,
Section 162(m) of the Code.

Other Stock-Based Awards.    The Administrator may from time to time grant to eligible individuals awards in the form of
our Common Shares or any other award that is valued in whole or in part by reference to, or is otherwise based upon,
Common Shares, including without limitation dividend equivalents and convertible debentures (�Other Stock-Based
Awards�). Other Stock-Based Awards in the form of dividend equivalents may be (i) awarded on a free-standing basis
or in connection with another award other than a stock option or SAR, (ii) paid currently or credited to an account for
the participant, including the reinvestment of such credited amounts in common share equivalents, to be paid on a
deferred basis, and (iii) settled in cash or our Common Shares as determined by the Administrator; provided, however,
that dividend equivalents payable on Other Stock-Based Awards that are granted as a performance award shall, rather
than be paid on a current basis, be accrued and made subject to forfeiture at least until the applicable performance goal
related to such Other Stock-Based Awards has been satisfied. Any such settlements, and any such crediting of
dividend equivalents, may be subject to such conditions, restrictions and contingencies as the Administrator may
establish.
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Minimum Restriction Period.    Under the 2016 Plan, as amended and restated, except as provided below, each award
granted under the 2016 Plan (other than a performance unit that cannot be paid in shares) will be subject to a
minimum vesting period or minimum restriction period as follows: (i) each stock option or SAR will be subject to a
minimum vesting period of 12 months from the date of grant, (ii) each award of stock, stock units, performance
shares, performance units payable in shares and other stock-based awards (�Full Value Awards�) granted to
non-employee directors will be subject to a minimum restriction period of 12 months from the date of grant, and
(iii) each Full Value Award granted to a participant other than a non-employee director will be subject to a minimum
restriction period of 12 months from the date of grant if vesting of or lapse of restrictions on such award is based on
the satisfaction of performance goals and a minimum restriction period of 36 months from the date of grant, applied in
either pro rata installments or a single installment, if vesting of or lapse of restrictions on such award is based solely
on the participant�s satisfaction of specified service requirements with us (provided that no such Full Value Awards
will vest or have its restrictions lapse during the first 12 months following the date of grant). If the grant of a
performance award is conditioned on satisfaction of performance goals, the performance period must not be less than
12 months� duration, but no additional minimum restriction period need apply to such award. The minimum vesting
period or minimum restriction period will not apply in the case of death or disability of a participant or in the event of
a change in control. Awards that result in the issuance of an aggregate of up to 5% of the share pool under the 2016
Plan may be granted without regard to such minimum vesting period or minimum restriction period.

Award Limitations

The following limitations on awards are imposed under the 2016 Plan.

•  ISO Award Limit.  The maximum number of Common Shares that may be issued in connection with awards
granted under the 2016 Plan that are intended to qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Code is
equal to the number of shares available under the 2016 Plan.

•  Insider Limit. The maximum number of Common Shares that may (a) be issued to insiders (as defined in the
Securities Act (Ontario)) within any one year period and (b) issuable to insiders (as defined in the Securities Act
(Ontario)) at any time under the 2016 Plan or when combined with all of Aralez�s other security based compensation
arrangements, cannot exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.

•  Section 162(m) Individual Limits:

•  Appreciation Awards.  The maximum number of Common Shares that may be made subject to awards
granted under the 2016 Plan during a calendar year to any one person in the form of stock options or SARs is, in the
aggregate, 1,000,000 shares, which represents 1.5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.
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•  Stock-Based Performance Awards.  The maximum number of common shares that may be made subject to
awards granted under the 2016 Plan during a calendar year to any one person in the form of performance shares is, in
the aggregate, 1,000,000 shares, which represents 1.5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. If such
performance shares will be settled in cash, the maximum cash amount payable thereunder is the amount equal to the
number of performance shares to be settled in cash multiplied by the closing price of the Common Shares, as
determined as of the payment date.

•  Cash-Based Performance Units.  In connection with awards granted under the 2016 Plan during a calendar
year to any one person in the form of cash-based performance units, the maximum cash amount payable under such
performance units is $5,000,000.

•  Adjustments to Limits during Initial Year of Service.  Each of the individual limits set forth above (as
required by Section 162(m) of the Code) are multiplied by two when applied to awards granted to any individual
during the calendar year in which such individual first commences service with us.
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•  Adjustments for Multi-year Performance Periods.  The individual limits set forth above for stock-based
performance awards are multiplied by the number of calendar years over which the applicable performance period
spans (in whole or in part), if the performance period is longer than 12 months� duration.

If any award is terminated, surrendered or canceled in the same year as the year in which it is granted, that award nevertheless will continue to
be counted against the Code Section 162(m) individual limits set forth above for the calendar year in which it was granted.

Assignability

Awards granted under the 2016 Plan shall not be subject in any manner to alienation, anticipation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, or
encumbrance, except as otherwise determined by the Administrator; provided, however, that this restriction shall not apply to the Common
Shares received in connection with an award after the date that the restrictions on transferability of such shares set forth in the applicable award
agreement have lapsed.

Termination of Service

Except as provided in the applicable award agreement or otherwise determined by the Administrator, and subject to the minimum vesting period
or minimum restriction period described above, upon termination of service (as defined in the 2016 Plan):

•  Stock options or stock appreciation rights shall be forfeited, to the extent stock options or stock
appreciation rights are not vested and exercisable;

•  During the applicable restriction period, restricted stock and any accrued but unpaid dividends that are
at that time subject to restrictions shall be forfeited; and

•  During the applicable deferral period or portion thereof to which forfeiture conditions apply, or upon
failure to satisfy any other conditions precedent to the delivery of common chares or cash to which RSUs relate, all
RSUs and any other accrued but unpaid dividend equivalents with respect to such restricted stock units that are then
subject to deferral or restriction shall be forfeited.

Change in Control

In the event of a change in control (as defined in the 2016 Plan) of Aralez, outstanding awards will terminate upon the effective time of the
change in control unless  provision is made for the continuation, assumption or substitution of awards by the surviving or successor entity or its
parent. Unless an award agreement says otherwise, the following will occur with respect to awards that terminate in connection with a change in
control of Aralez:
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•  stock options and SARs, whether vested or unvested, will become fully exercisable and holders of these
awards will be permitted immediately before the change in control to exercise them;

•  restricted stock and RSUs with time-based vesting (i.e., not subject to achievement of performance goals)
will become fully vested immediately before the change in control, and RSUs will be settled as promptly as is
practicable in accordance with applicable law; and

•  restricted stock, RSUs, performance shares, and performance units that vest based on the achievement of
performance goals will become fully vested and earned based on the target performance level as to the performance
goals, such that 100% of the target award is earned as of the date of the change of control; and the RSUs and
performance units will be settled as promptly as is practicable in accordance with applicable law.

Duration, Amendment and Termination

The 2016 Plan will terminate on the earlier of (i) the earliest date as of which all awards granted under the 2016 Plan have been satisfied in full
or terminated and no shares approved for issuance under the 2016 Plan remain available to be granted under new awards, or (ii) the tenth
anniversary of date the 2016 Plan, as amended and restated, is approved by our shareholders.

The Administrator may amend, alter or discontinue the 2016 Plan, but no amendment, alteration or discontinuation will be made that would
materially impair the rights of a participant with respect to a previously granted award without his or her consent, except such an amendment
made to comply with applicable law or rule of any securities exchange or market on which our Common Shares are listed or admitted for trading
or to prevent adverse tax or accounting consequences to Aralez or the participant. In no event, however, will an amendment be made without the
approval of our shareholders to the extent such amendment would (i) materially increase the benefits accruing to participants under the 2016
Plan, (ii) increase the number of shares that may be issued under the 2016 Plan or to a participant, (iii) materially expand the eligibility for
participation in the 2016 Plan, (iv) eliminate or modify the prohibition on repricing of stock options and SARs, (v) lengthen the maximum term
or lower the minimum exercise price or base price permitted for stock options and SARs, (vi) modify the prohibition on the issuance of reload or
replenishment options, (vii) amend the amendment provisions in the 2016 Plan, or (viii) amend the 2016 Plan to remove or exceed the 10%
insider participation limit.
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New Plan Benefits Table

Awards that may be granted to eligible persons under the 2016 Plan are subject to the discretion of the Compensation Committee, so we cannot
currently determine the benefits or amounts that will be received or allocated to our current named executive officers, executive officers as a
group, directors who are not executive officers as a group, and employees, including all current officers who are not executive officers, as a
group. Consequently, no new plan benefits table is included in this Proxy Statement.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a general summary of the United States federal income tax treatment of certain awards, which are authorized for grant under the
2016 Plan, based upon the provisions of the Code as of the date of this Proxy Statement. Non-U.S. residents should consult with their tax adviser
regarding the specific tax consequences as a result of the grant of awards under the 2016 Plan in their country of origin. This summary is not
intended to be exhaustive and the exact tax consequences to any award holder depend upon his or her particular circumstances and other facts.
Participants in the 2016 Plan should consult their tax advisor with respect to any state, local and non-U.S. tax considerations or relevant federal
tax implications of awards granted under the 2016 Plan.

Incentive Stock Options.    An option holder recognizes no taxable income for regular income tax purposes as a result of
the grant or exercise of an incentive stock option that qualifies under Section 422 of the Code. Option holders who do
not dispose of their shares within two years of the date that the option was granted and within one year following the
exercise of the option, normally recognize a capital gain or loss on the sale of shares equal to the difference, if any,
between the sale price and the purchase price of the shares. If an option holder satisfies these holding periods, on the
sale of shares, we are not entitled to any deduction for federal income tax purposes. Where an option holder disposes
of shares within two years after the grant date of those options or within one year after the date of exercise (a
�disqualifying disposition�), the difference between the fair market value of the shares on the exercise date and the
option exercise price (which is not to exceed the gain realized on the sale, if the disposition is a transaction with
respect to which a loss, if sustained, would be recognized) is taxed as ordinary income at the time of disposition. Any
gain in excess of that amount is a capital gain. If a loss is recognized, there is no ordinary income, and such loss is a
capital loss. Any ordinary income recognized by the option holder on a disqualifying disposition of shares generally
results in a deduction by us for federal income tax purposes.

Nonqualified Stock Options.    Options not designated or qualifying as incentive stock options are nonqualified stock
options having no special tax status. An option holder generally recognizes no taxable income as a result of the grant
of the option. On the exercise of a nonqualified stock option, the option holder normally recognizes ordinary income
in the amount of the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of the shares on the
exercise date. Where the option holder is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of
income and employment taxes. On the sale of shares acquired by the exercise of a nonqualified stock option, any gain
or loss (based on the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the exercise date), is taxed as a
capital gain or loss. No tax deduction is available to us with respect to the grant of a nonqualified stock option or the
sale of the stock acquired pursuant to such grant. We should generally be entitled to a deduction equal to the amount
of ordinary income recognized by the option holder as a result of the exercise of a nonqualified stock option.

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

147



Restricted Stock and RSUs.    The fair market value of any shares and any cash received by a participant in connection
with restricted stock or RSUs are generally includible in the participant�s ordinary income. In the case of restricted
stock, this amount is includible in the participant�s income when shares vest, unless the participant has filed an election
with the IRS to include the fair market value of the shares in income as of the date the award was granted. In the case
of RSUs, generally, the value of any cash and the fair market value of any shares received by a participant are
includible in income when the awards are paid. Any dividends or dividend equivalents paid on unvested restricted
stock or RSUs are also ordinary income for participants.

Deductibility of Compensation.    The Code allows publicly held corporations to deduct compensation that is in excess of
$1 million paid to Aralez�s chief executive officer and any of its three most highly compensated executive officers
(other than the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer) if the compensation is payable solely based on
the attainment of one or more performance goals and where certain statutory requirements are satisfied. It is intended
that compensation arising from awards granted under the 2016 Plan in the form of stock options and SARs, are to be
deductible by us as qualified performance-based compensation not subject to the $1 million limitation on deductibility
under the Code. We may also choose to grant performance awards under the 2016 Plan that satisfy the requirements
for deductibility of compensation. We reserve the right, however, to grant awards under the 2016 Plan that do not
result in qualified performance-based compensation and, as such, may not entitle us to a tax deduction.

75

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

148



Vote Required and Board Recommendation

A majority of the votes duly cast in person or by proxy by the shareholders at the Meeting is required to approve the amendments to and the
restatement of the 2016 Plan.

Shareholders will be asked at the Meeting to approve the following resolution pursuant to this Proposal No. 3:

Whereas the Board of Directors of the Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the �Company�) approved on March 8, 2017 certain amendments to and the
restatement of the Company�s 2016 Long Term Incentive Plan (the �2016 Plan�) as described in the Company�s definitive proxy statement for the
2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders in order to, among other things:

1.  Increase the maximum number of common shares (the �Common Shares�) issuable upon the exercise of awards
issued under the 2016 Plan by 4,300,000, to 6,600,000 plus the outstanding number of shares available under the 2010
Plan and the Amended and Restated Option Plan of Tribute Pharmaceuticals Canada Inc. as of February 5, 2016, and
the number of Common Shares required to cover options granted in substitution of outstanding Tribute options;

2.  Adopt a minimum vesting requirement for all stock options and stock appreciation rights under the 2016 Plan;
and

3.  Adopt new amendment provisions so as to comply with the requirements of the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Be it resolved that:

1.  The maximum number of Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of awards issued under the 2016 Plan be
increased by 4,300,000, to 6,600,000 plus the outstanding number of shares available under the 2010 Plan and the
Amended and Restated Option Plan of Tribute Pharmaceuticals Canada Inc. as of February 5, 2016, and the number of
shares required to cover options granted in substitution of outstanding Tribute options;

2.  The minimum vesting periods applicable to stock options and stock appreciation rights under the 2016 Plan be
adopted;
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3.  The provisions governing amendments to the 2016 Plan specifying when security holder approval of
amendments is required be adopted;

4.  Such other amendments as are reflected in the 2016 Plan, in the form appended as Annex A to the Company�s
definitive proxy statement for the 2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders, be and is hereby ratified and
approved; and

5.  Any director or officer of the Company be and is hereby authorized to do such things and to sign, execute and
deliver all documents that such director and officer may, in their discretion, determined to be necessary in order to
give full effect to the intent and purpose of this resolution.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE �FOR� THE APPROVAL OF THE AMENDED AND RESTATED 2016
PLAN.

Unless a proxy specifies that the Common Shares it represents should be voted against the approval of the Amended and Restated 2016
Plan or otherwise voted in accordance with the specification in the proxy, the Named Proxies intend to vote FOR the approval of the
Amended and Restated 2016 Plan.
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PROPOSAL 4

NON-BINDING, ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE THE COMPANY�S APPROACH TO THE COMPENSATION OF ITS NAMED
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, requires that our shareholders have the opportunity
to cast an advisory (non-binding) vote on executive compensation at the Meeting, commonly referred to as a �say-on-pay� vote.

The advisory vote on executive compensation is a non-binding vote on the compensation of our named executive officers as described in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis section, the tabular disclosure regarding such compensation, and the accompanying narrative disclosure,
set forth in this Proxy Statement. Please read the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this Proxy Statement for a detailed
discussion about our executive compensation programs, including the compensation of our named executive officers for Fiscal Year 2016.

The advisory vote on executive compensation is not a vote on our general compensation policies, the compensation of our Board, or our
compensation policies as they relate to risk management. The advisory vote relates to the compensation of our named executive officers, as
described in this Proxy Statement, in accordance with the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC. The Dodd-Frank Act requires that we hold
the advisory vote on executive compensation at least once every three years. At its 2011 annual meeting of stockholders, Pozen�s stockholders
recommended, on an advisory basis, that the frequency of the shareholder vote on the compensation of our named executive officers occur every
year. Pozen�s board of directors accepted its stockholders� recommendation with respect to an annual say-on-pay vote, and we have adopted this
policy as well.

The Compensation Committee of the Board oversees and administers our executive compensation program, including the evaluation and
approval of compensation plans, policies and programs offered to our named executive officers. The Compensation Committee has designed the
executive compensation program for our named executive officers to meet the following objectives:

•  Promote the achievement of our annual and long-term corporate strategies and business objectives, as well as
individual goals that are supportive of these strategies and objectives, by making a large portion of compensation
contingent on the achievement of performance goals.

•  Ensure that our executive officers� interests are aligned with the interests of our shareholders, by providing
compensation that is a mix of salary and variable cash and equity-based compensation.

•  Provide compensation packages that will attract, retain and motivate superior executive personnel, by
targeting executive compensation to the median of our peer group, granting awards that vest over a period of several
years, and providing opportunities for our executives to earn above-target compensation for above-target outcome.

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

151



We believe our approach to goal setting and setting of targets with payouts based upon performance results assists in mitigating excessive
risk-taking that could harm our value or reward poor judgment by our executives. Several features of our programs reflect sound risk
management practices, including a well-balanced allocation of compensation among base salary and short- and long-term compensation, annual
incentives that are based on metrics that align with our longer-term strategic plan, and awards with multi-year vesting periods. The
Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this Proxy Statement provides a more detailed discussion of our executive compensation
program and compensation philosophy.
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The vote solicited by this Proposal No. 4 is advisory, and therefore is not binding on the Company, the Board or the Compensation Committee.
The outcome of the vote will not require the Company, the Board or the Compensation Committee to take any action, and will not be construed
as overruling any decision by the Company or the Board.

Furthermore, because this non-binding, advisory resolution primarily relates to the compensation of our named executive officers that has
already been paid or contractually committed, there is generally no opportunity for us to revisit these decisions. However, the Board, including
the Compensation Committee, values the opinions of the Company�s shareholders and, to the extent there is any significant vote against the
executive officer compensation as disclosed in this Proxy Statement, we will consider our shareholders� concerns and evaluate what actions, if
any, may be appropriate to address those concerns.

Shareholders will be asked at the Meeting to approve the following resolution pursuant to this Proposal No. 4:

RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the named executive officers of Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the �Company�), as disclosed in the
Company�s definitive proxy statement for the 2017 Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders pursuant to the executive compensation
disclosure rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (which disclosure includes the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the
compensation tables, and the narrative disclosures that accompany the compensation tables), is hereby approved.

Vote Required

A majority of the votes duly cast in person or by proxy by the shareholders at the Meeting is required (on a non-binding advisory basis) to
approve the non-binding, advisory resolution.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT SHAREHOLDERS VOTE �FOR� THE
APPROVAL OF THE NON-BINDING, ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE THE COMPANY�S APPROACH TO THE
COMPENSATION OF ITS NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AS DISCLOSED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT

Unless a proxy specifies that the Common Shares it represents should be voted against the approval of the non-binding, advisory vote to
approve the Company�s approach to the compensation of its named executive officers as disclosed in this Proxy Statement or otherwise
voted in accordance with the specification in the proxy, the Named Proxies intend to vote FOR the approval of the say-on-pay vote.
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PROPOSAL 5

NON-BINDING, ADVISORY VOTE TO APPROVE THE FREQUENCY OF FUTURE ADVISORY VOTES TO APPROVE THE
COMPANY�S APPROACH TO THE COMPENSATION OF ITS NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

As described in Proposal No. 4 above, the Company�s shareholders are being provided the opportunity to cast an advisory vote on the Company�s
approach to the compensation of its named executive officers (the �say-on-pay� vote).

This Proposal No. 5 affords shareholders the opportunity to cast an advisory vote on how often the Company should include a say-on-pay vote in
its proxy materials for future annual shareholder meetings (or special shareholder meeting for which the Company must include executive
compensation information in the proxy statement for that meeting). Under this Proposal No. 5, shareholders may vote to have the say-on-pay
vote every year, every two years or every three years.

The Company believes that say-on-pay votes should be conducted every year so that shareholders may annually express their views on the
Company�s executive compensation program. The Compensation Committee, which administers the Company�s executive compensation
program, values the opinions expressed by shareholders in these votes and will continue to consider the outcome of these votes in making its
decisions on executive compensation.

Vote Required

A plurality of the votes duly cast in person or by proxy by the shareholders at the Meeting is required (on a non-binding advisory basis) will be
considered the shareholders� preferred frequency for holding future advisory say-on-pay votes.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT SHAREHOLDERS VOTE IN FAVOUR OF HOLDING FUTURE �SAY-ON-PAY� VOTES
EVERY YEAR.

Unless a proxy specifies that the Common Shares it represents should be voted in another manner, the Named Proxies intend to vote in
favour of holding future �say-on-pay� votes EVERY YEAR.
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OTHER MATTERS

The Board knows of no other matters other than those stated in this Proxy Statement that are to be presented for action at the Meeting. If any
other matters should properly come before the Meeting, it is intended that proxies in the accompanying form will be voted on any such matter in
accordance with the judgment of the persons voting such proxies. Discretionary authority to vote on such matters is conferred by such proxies
upon the persons voting them.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

None of the directors, executive officers, employees, former directors, former executive officers or former employees of the Company, and none
of their associates, is or has, within 30 days before the date of this Proxy Statement or at any time since the beginning of the most recently
completed financial year, been indebted to the Company or another entity whose indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement,
letter of credit or other similar agreement or understanding provided by the Company, except for routine indebtedness.

INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Except with respect to certain payments to the Deerfield Entities and Mr. Harris, as described in the section of this Proxy Statement entitled
�Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions�, none of (i) the directors or executive officers of the Company, (ii) the shareholders who
beneficially own or control or direct, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the voting shares of the Company, or (iii) any associate or affiliate
of the persons referred to in (i) and (ii), has or has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction since the commencement of the
Company�s most recently completed financial year or in any proposed transaction that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to
materially affect the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS OR COMPANIES IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON

Management is not aware of any material interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial ownership of Common Shares or otherwise, of any
director or executive officer of the Company, or of any associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing, in any matter to be acted on at the Meeting,
except as otherwise disclosed herein.

AVAILABILITY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

If you are a shareholder and wish to receive (or continue to receive) the Company�s quarterly interim financial statements (and the related
management discussion and analysis) by mail, you must complete and return the enclosed request form. If you do not do so, quarterly financial
statements will not be sent to you. Financial results are announced by media release, and financial statements are available on the Company�s
corporate website at www.aralez.com, on the EDGAR website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov and on the SEDAR website maintained by
the CSA at www.sedar.com.
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HOUSEHOLDING OF PROXY MATERIALS

Some brokers and other nominee record holders may be participating in the practice of �householding� proxy materials.
This means that only one copy of the Notice, and printed proxy materials, if requested, may have been sent to multiple shareholders in a
shareholder�s household, unless the Company has received contrary instructions from one or more of the shareholders. This procedure reduces
the the environmental impact of our annual meetings of shareholders, and reduces the Company�s printing and mailing costs. Shareholders who
participate in householding will continue to receive separate proxies or voting instruction forms where printed versions are requested.

The Company will promptly deliver a separate copy of the Notice, and printed proxy materials, if requested, to any shareholder who contacts the
Company�s Chief Financial Officer by writing to Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc., 7100 West Credit Avenue, Suite 101, Mississauga, Ontario,
Canada, L5N 0E4, or by calling (905) 876-1118. If a shareholder is receiving multiple copies of the Notice at the shareholder�s household and
would like to receive a single copy of the Notice for a shareholder�s household in the future, the shareholder should contact his or her bank,
broker or other financial intermediary, other nominee record holder, or the Company�s Chief Financial Officer to request mailing of a single copy
of the Notice.

THE COMPANY�S WEBSITE

In addition to the information about the Company contained in this Proxy Statement, extensive information about the Company can be found on
its website located at www.aralez.com including information about its management team, products and services and its corporate governance
practices. The content on the Company�s website is available for information purposes only, and should not be relied upon for investment
purposes, and is not deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Proxy Statement.

THE COMPANY�S PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICE

The Company�s principal executive office is located at 7100 West Credit Avenue, Suite 101, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada, L5N 0E4.

ANNUAL REPORT AND OTHER SEC FILINGS

The Company�s financial statements for Fiscal Year 2016, including the related management�s discussion & analysis, are included in the
Company�s 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current
Reports on Form 8-K are available on our corporate website www.aralez.com. These and other SEC and Canadian securities laws
filings, including this Proxy Statement, are also available on the EDGAR website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov and on the
SEDAR website maintained by the CSA at www.sedar.com.  The Company will provide, without charge, to any person upon written
request or telephone call a copy of any of our SEC filings. All such requests should be directed to our Chief Financial Officer, Aralez
Pharmaceuticals Inc., 7100 West Credit Avenue, Suite 101, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada, L5N 0E4, or by calling
(905) 876-1118.
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In addition, the Company has made available on the Company�s corporate website the Code of Conduct and Corporate Governance Guidelines,
as well as the charters of each of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Corporate Nominating/Governance Committee and
Transaction Committee. Copies of any of these documents are available in print to any shareholder upon request to the Corporate Secretary.
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ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS AND INFORMATION REGARDING

THE MEETING AND SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

Q:  What happens if additional proposals are presented at the Meeting?

A:  Other than the five proposals described in this Proxy Statement, we do not currently expect any matters to
be presented for a vote at the Meeting. If you grant a proxy, the persons named as proxy holders will have the
discretion to vote your Common Shares on any additional matters properly presented for a vote at the Meeting. If for
any unforeseen reason any of our nominees is not available as a candidate for director, the persons named as proxy
holders will vote your proxy for such other candidate or candidates as may be nominated by the Board.

Q:  May I propose nominees for election to the Board at next year�s Annual Meeting of Shareholders?

A:  Yes, our Articles establish an advance notice procedure for shareholders to make nominations for the
position of director at an annual meeting of shareholders. Director nominee proposals for the 2018 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders will not be considered timely unless such proposals are received by us no less than 30 days before the
date of the 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders in accordance with our Articles; provided, however, that if the 2018
Annual Meeting of Shareholders is held on a date that is less than 50 days after the date on which the first public
announcement of the date of the annual meeting is made, notice may be made not later than the close of business on
the 10th day following such public announcement. Any written notice delivered to the Company to nominate a
director to the Board must set forth the information required by our Articles.

Q:  May I propose actions for consideration at next year�s Annual Meeting of Shareholders?

A:  Yes, you may submit proposals for consideration at next year�s annual meeting of shareholders. The
Company is subject to both the rules of the SEC under the Exchange Act and the provisions of the BCBCA with
respect to shareholder proposals. As clearly indicated in the rules of the SEC under the Exchange Act and under the
BCBCA, simply submitting a shareholder proposal does not guarantee its inclusion in the proxy materials.

In order for a shareholder proposal to be considered for inclusion in the proxy statement in reliance on Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act and
presented at the 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, it must be in such form as is required by the rules and regulations promulgated by the
SEC and received by us not less than 120 calendar days before March 23, 2018 (or by November 23, 2017).
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Shareholder proposals may also be submitted pursuant to the applicable provisions of the BCBCA for inclusion in the Company�s proxy
materials for the Meeting.  Shareholder proposals submitted pursuant to the BCBCA must be received by February 3, 2018, which is three
months before the anniversary date of the Meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Eric L. Trachtenberg
General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer & Corporate Secretary

March 23, 2017
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1.  History; Effective Date.

ARALEZ PHARMACEUTICALS INC., a company formed under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada (�Aralez�), has
established the ARALEZ PHARMACEUTICALS AMENDED AND RESTATED 2016 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN, as set forth herein,
and as the same may be amended from time to time (the �Plan�). The Plan was originally adopted by the Board of Directors of Aralez (the �Board�)
on December 11, 2015, and this amendment and restated was adopted by the Board on March 8, 2017. The Plan became effective on February 5,
2016, upon the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the �Original Effective Date�), and the amended and
restated Plan became effective as of the on date it was approved by the shareholders of Aralez.

2.  Purposes of the Plan.

The Plan is designed to:

(a)           promote the long-term financial interests and growth of Aralez and its Subsidiaries (together, the �Company�)
by attracting and retaining management and other personnel and key service providers with the training, experience
and ability to enable them to make a substantial contribution to the success of the Company�s business;

(b)           motivate management personnel by means of growth-related incentives to achieve long-range goals; and

(c)           further the alignment of interests of Participants with those of the shareholders of Aralez through
opportunities for increased stock or stock-based ownership in Aralez.

Toward these objectives, the Administrator may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards, stock units, performance shares,
performance units, and other stock-based awards to eligible individuals on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Plan.

3.  Terminology.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in an Award Agreement, capitalized words and phrases used in the Plan or an Award Agreement shall
have the meaning set forth in the glossary at Section 17 of the Plan or as defined the first place such word or phrase appears in the Plan.

1
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4.  Administration.

(a)  Administration of the Plan.  The Plan shall be administered by the Administrator.

(b)  Powers of the Administrator.  The Administrator shall, except as otherwise provided under the Plan, have
plenary authority, in its sole and absolute discretion, to grant Awards pursuant to the terms of the Plan to Eligible
Individuals and to take all other actions necessary or desirable to carry out the purpose and intent of the Plan. Among
other things, the Administrator shall have the authority, in its sole and absolute discretion, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Plan to:

(i)            determine the Eligible Individuals to whom, and the time or times at which, Awards shall be granted;

(ii)           determine the types of Awards to be granted any Eligible Individual;

(iii)          determine the number of Common Shares to be covered by or used for reference purposes for each Award or
the value to be transferred pursuant to any Award;

(iv)          determine the terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to each Award (which need not be identical) and
any shares acquired pursuant thereto, including, without limitation, (A) the purchase price of any Common Shares,
(B) the method of payment for shares purchased pursuant to any Award, (C) the method for satisfying any tax
withholding obligation arising in connection with any Award, including by the withholding or delivery of Common
Shares, (D) subject to Section 5(f) and 7(b), the timing, terms and conditions of the exercisability, vesting or payout of
any Award or any shares acquired pursuant thereto, (E) the Performance Goals applicable to any Award and the extent
to which such Performance Goals have been attained, (F) the time of the expiration of any Award, (G) the effect of the
Participant�s Termination of Service on any of the foregoing, and (H) all other terms, conditions and restrictions
applicable to any Award or shares acquired pursuant thereto as the Administrator shall consider to be appropriate and
not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan;

(v)           subject to Sections 7(f), 7(k), 10(c) and 15, modify, amend or adjust the terms and conditions of any Award;

(vi)          subject to Section 7(b), accelerate or otherwise change the time at or during which an Award may be
exercised or becomes payable and waive or accelerate the lapse, in whole or in part, of any restriction, condition or
risk of forfeiture with respect to such Award; provided, however, that, except in connection with death, disability or a
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Change in Control, no such change, waiver or acceleration shall be made with respect to a Qualified
Performance-Based Award if the effect of such action would cause the Award to fail to qualify for the
Section 162(m) Exemption or shall be made to any Award that is considered �deferred compensation� within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code if the effect of such action is inconsistent with Section 409A of the Code;

(vii)         except for participants who receive their stock options by virtue of their employment in Canada, determine
whether an Award will be paid or settled in cash, Common Shares, or in any combination thereof and whether, to what
extent and under what circumstances cash or Common Shares payable with respect to an Award shall be deferred
either automatically or at the election of the Participant;

(viii)        for any purpose, including but not limited to, qualifying for preferred or beneficial tax treatment,
accommodating the customs or administrative challenges or otherwise complying with the tax, accounting or
regulatory requirements of one or more jurisdictions, adopt, amend, modify, administer or terminate sub-plans,
appendices, special provisions or supplements applicable to Awards regulated by the laws of a particular jurisdiction,
which sub-plans, appendices, supplements and special provisions may take precedence over other provisions of the
Plan, and prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to such sub-plans, supplements and special
provisions;

2
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(ix)          establish any �blackout� period, during which transactions affecting Awards may not be effectuated, that the
Administrator in its sole discretion deems necessary or advisable;

(x)           determine the Fair Market Value of Common Shares or other property for any purpose under the Plan or any
Award;

(xi)          administer, construe and interpret the Plan, Award Agreements and all other documents relevant to the Plan
and Awards issued thereunder, and decide all other matters to be determined in connection with an Award;

(xii)         establish, amend, rescind and interpret such administrative rules, regulations, agreements, guidelines,
instruments and practices for the administration of the Plan and for the conduct of its business as the Administrator
deems necessary or advisable;

(xiii)        correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any Award or Award
Agreement in the manner and to the extent the Administrator shall consider it desirable to carry it into effect; and

(xiv)        specify that vesting conditions in respect of Awards shall not extend beyond applicable limitations such that
the Award complies at all times with the exception in paragraph (k) of the definition of �salary deferral arrangement� in
subsection 248(1) of the Income Tax Act (Canada) or comparable legislation of any jurisdiction; and

(xv)         otherwise administer the Plan and all Awards granted under the Plan.

(c)  Delegation of Administrative Authority.  The Administrator may designate officers or employees of the
Company to assist the Administrator in the administration of the Plan and, to the extent permitted by applicable law
and stock exchange rules, the Administrator may delegate to officers or other employees of the Company the
Administrator�s duties and powers under the Plan, subject to such conditions and limitations as the Administrator shall
prescribe, including without limitation the authority to execute agreements or other documents on behalf of the
Administrator; provided, however, that such delegation of authority shall not extend to the granting of, or exercise of
discretion with respect to, Awards to Eligible Individuals who are �covered employees� within the meaning of
Section 162(m) of the Code or officers under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

(d)  Non-Uniform Determinations.  The Administrator�s determinations under the Plan (including without
limitation, determinations of the persons to receive Awards, the form, amount and timing of such Awards, the terms
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and provisions of such Awards and the Award Agreements evidencing such Awards, and the ramifications of a
Change in Control upon outstanding Awards) need not be uniform and may be made by the Administrator selectively
among Awards or persons who receive, or are eligible to receive, Awards under the Plan, whether or not such persons
are similarly situated.

(e)  Limited Liability; Advisors.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, no member of the Administrator shall
be liable for any action taken or decision made in good faith relating to the Plan or any Award thereunder. The
Administrator may employ counsel, consultants, accountants, appraisers, brokers or other persons. The Administrator,
Aralez, and the officers and directors of Aralez shall be entitled to rely upon the advice, opinions or valuations of any
such persons.

(f)  Indemnification.  To the maximum extent permitted by law, by Aralez�s Memorandum and Articles of
Association, and by any directors� and officers� liability insurance coverage which may be in effect from time to time,
the members of the Administrator and any agent or delegate of the Administrator who is a director, officer or
employee of Aralez or an Affiliate shall be indemnified by Aralez against any and all liabilities and expenses to which
they may be subjected by reason of any act or failure to act with respect to their duties on behalf of the Plan.

(g)  Effect of Administrator�s Decision.  All actions taken and determinations made by the Administrator on all
matters relating to the Plan or any Award pursuant to the powers vested in it hereunder shall be in the Administrator�s
sole and absolute discretion, unless in contravention of any express term of the Plan, including, without limitation, any
determination involving the appropriateness or equitableness of any action. All determinations made by the
Administrator shall be conclusive, final and binding on all parties concerned, including Aralez, its shareholders, any
Participants and any other employee, consultant, or director of Aralez and its Affiliates, and their respective
successors in interest. No member of the Administrator, nor any director, officer, employee or representative of Aralez
shall be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or
Awards.
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5.  Shares Issuable Pursuant to Awards.

(a)  Share Pool.  As of the Effective Date, the number of Common Shares issuable pursuant to Awards that may
be granted under the Plan (the �Share Pool�) shall be equal to the sum of (i) 6,600,000 Common Shares plus (ii) the
number of unallocated Common Shares available for issuance as of the Original Effective Date under the
POZEN, Inc. 2010 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan that are not then subject to outstanding Awards, and (iii) the
number of unallocated Common Shares available for issuance as of the Original Effective Date under the Amended
and Restated Option Plan of Tribute Pharmaceuticals Canada Inc. (�Tribute�) that are not then subject to outstanding
Awards and (iv) the number of Common Shares required to cover each stock option granted in substitution of stock
options held by employees of Tribute in connection with the pending business combination between Tribute and
Aralez.

(b)  Adjustments to Share Pool.  On and after the Effective Date, the Share Pool shall be adjusted, in addition to
any adjustments to be made pursuant to Section 10 of the Plan, as follows:

(i)            The Share Pool shall be reduced, on the date of grant, by one share for each stock option or stock
appreciation right granted under the Plan and by 1.59 shares for each stock award, stock unit, Performance Share
and/or Other Stock-Based Award granted under the Plan; provided that Awards that are valued by reference to
Common Shares but are required to be paid in cash pursuant to their terms shall not reduce the Share Pool;

(ii)           If and to the extent options or stock appreciation rights originating from the Share Pool terminate, expire, or
are canceled, forfeited, exchanged, or surrendered without having been exercised, or if any stock awards, stock units,
Performance Shares and/or Other Stock-Based Awards are forfeited, the Common Shares subject to such Awards shall
again be available for Awards under the Share Pool, and shall increase the Share Pool by one share for each stock
option or stock appreciation right and 1.59 shares for each stock award, stock unit, Performance Share and/or Other
Stock-Based Award issued in connection with such Award or by which the Award is valued by reference;

(iii)          Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following Common Shares shall not become available for issuance under
the Plan: (A) shares tendered by Participants, or withheld by the Company, as full or partial payment to the Company
upon the exercise of stock options granted under the Plan; (B) shares reserved for issuance upon the grant of stock
appreciation rights, to the extent the number of reserved shares exceeds the number of shares actually issued upon the
exercise of the stock appreciation rights; and (C) shares withheld by, or otherwise remitted to, the Company to satisfy
a Participant�s tax withholding obligations upon the lapse of restrictions on stock awards or the exercise of stock
options or stock appreciation rights granted under the Plan.

(c)  Code Section 162(m) and Other Individual Limits.  Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 10 of the
Plan:
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(i)            the maximum number of Common Shares that may be made subject to Awards granted under the Plan during
a calendar year to any one person in the form of stock options or stock appreciation rights is, in the aggregate,
1,000,000 shares;

(ii)           the maximum number of Common Shares that may be made subject to Awards granted under the Plan during
a calendar year to any one person in the form of Performance Awards is, in the aggregate, 1,000,000 shares, and

4
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(iii)          in connection with Awards granted under the Plan during a calendar year to any one person in the form of
Performance Shares, the maximum cash amount payable thereunder is the amount equal to the number of shares made
subject to the Award, as limited by Section 5(c)(ii), multiplied by the Fair Market Value as determined as of the
payment date; and

(iv)          in connection with Awards granted under the Plan during a calendar year to any one person in the form of
Performance Units, the maximum cash amount payable under such Performance Units is $5,000,000;

provided, however, that each of the limitations set forth above in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of this Section 5(c) shall be
multiplied by two when applied to Awards granted to any individual during the calendar year in which such individual
first commences service with Aralez or a Subsidiary; and provided, further, that the limitations set forth above in
clauses (ii) and (iii) of this Section 5(c) shall be multiplied by the number of calendar years over which the applicable
Performance Period spans (in whole or in part), if the Performance Period is longer than 12 months� duration, when
applied to Performance Awards. If an Award is terminated, surrendered or canceled in the same year in which it was
granted, such Award nevertheless will continue to be counted against the limitations set forth above in this
Section 5(c) for the calendar year in which it was granted.

(d)  ISO Limit.  Subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 10 of the Plan, the maximum number of Common
Shares that may be issued pursuant to stock options granted under the Plan that are intended to qualify as Incentive
Stock Options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code shall be equal to the number of shares in the Share Pool
as of the Effective Date of the Plan.

(e)  Source of Shares.  The Common Shares with respect to which Awards may be made under the Plan shall be
shares authorized for issuance under Aralez�s memorandum and articles of association but unissued, or issued and
reacquired, including without limitation shares purchased in the open market or in private transactions.

(f)  Stock Exchange Limits.

(i)            The number of Common Shares subject to Awards granted to any one Participant shall be determined by the
Board, but no one Participant shall be granted Awards which exceed, in aggregate, the maximum number permitted by
the Toronto Stock Exchange, or such other stock exchange on which Aralez�s securities are listed for trade from time
to time (the �Exchange�).

(ii)           Subject to the aggregate limit and adjustment provisions in Section 5 of this Plan, the aggregate number of
Common Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Awards under the Plan and all other security based
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compensation arrangements (as such term is defined in section 613 of the TSX Company Manual) of the Company are
subject to the following additional limitations:

(A)          in the aggregate, no more than 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (on a non-diluted basis)
may be reserved at any time for insiders (as defined in the Securities Act (Ontario) and includes an associate and
Affiliate, as defined in the Securities Act (Ontario) (�Insider(s)�) under the Plan, together with all other security based
compensation arrangements of the Company; and

(B)          the number of securities of the Company issued to Insiders, within any one year period, under all security
based compensation arrangements, cannot exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.

6.  Participation.

Participation in the Plan shall be open to all Eligible Individuals, as may be selected by the Administrator from time to time. The Administrator
may also grant Awards to Eligible Individuals in connection with hiring, recruiting or otherwise, prior to the date the individual first performs
services for Aralez or a Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Awards shall not become vested or exercisable, and no shares shall be issued to
such individual, prior to the date the individual first commences performance of such services.
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7.  Awards.

(a)  Awards, In General.  The Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall establish the terms of all Awards
granted under the Plan consistent with the terms of the Plan. Awards may be granted individually or in tandem with
other types of Awards, concurrently with or with respect to outstanding Awards. All Awards are subject to the terms
and conditions of the Plan and as provided in the Award Agreement, which shall be delivered to the Participant
receiving such Award upon, or as promptly as is reasonably practicable following, the grant of such Award. Unless
otherwise specified by the Administrator, in its sole discretion, or otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, an
Award shall not be effective unless the Award Agreement is signed or otherwise accepted by Aralez and the
Participant receiving the Award (including by electronic delivery and/or electronic signature). Unless the
Administrator determines otherwise, any failure by the Participant to sign and return the Award Agreement within
such period of time following the granting of the Award as the Administrator shall prescribe shall cause such Award
to the Participant to be null and void. The Administrator may direct that any stock certificate evidencing shares issued
pursuant to the Plan shall bear a legend setting forth such restrictions on transferability as may apply to such shares
pursuant to the Plan.

(b)  Minimum Vesting/Restriction Period. Except as provided below and notwithstanding any provision
of the Plan to the contrary (but subject to Section 11 of the Plan), each Award granted under the Plan (other than a
Performance Unit that cannot be paid in Common Shares) will be subject to a minimum vesting period or minimum
Restricted Period as follows: (i) beginning on the Effective Date, each stock option and stock appreciation right
granted under the Plan shall be subject to a minimum vesting period of 12 months from the date of grant, (ii) each Full
Value Award granted under the Plan to a non-employee director shall be subject to a minimum Restriction Period of
12 months from the date of grant, and (iii) each Full Value Award granted under the Plan to an Eligible Employee
who is not a non-employee director shall be subject to (A) a minimum Restriction Period of 12 months from the date
of grant if vesting of or lapse of restrictions on such Award is based on the satisfaction of Performance Goals and
(B) a minimum Restriction Period of 36 months from the date of grant, applied in either pro rata installments or a
single installment, if vesting of or lapse of restrictions on such Award is based solely on the Participant�s satisfaction
of specified service requirements with the Company (provided that no portion of the Full Value Award shall vest or
have its restrictions lapse during the first 12 months following the date of grant). If the grant of a Performance Award
is conditioned on satisfaction of Performance Goals, the Performance Period shall not be less than 12 months� duration,
but no additional minimum Restriction Period need apply to such Award. The minimum vesting period or minimum
Restriction Period shall not apply in the case of death or disability of a Participant or in the event of a Change in
Control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Awards that result in the issuance of an aggregate of up to 5% of the Share
Pool as set forth in Section 5(a) may be granted without regard to such minimum vesting period or minimum
Restriction Period.

(c)  Stock Options.

(i)  Grants.  A stock option means a right to purchase a specified number of Common Shares from Aralez at a specified price during a specified
period of time. The Administrator may from time to time grant to Eligible Individuals Awards of Incentive Stock Options or Nonqualified
Options; provided, however, that Awards of Incentive Stock Options shall be limited to employees of Aralez or of any current or hereafter
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existing �parent corporation� or �subsidiary corporation,� as defined in Sections 424(e) and 424(f) of the Code, respectively, of Aralez, and any other
Eligible Individuals who are eligible to receive Incentive Stock Options under the provisions of Section 422 of the Code. No stock option shall
be an Incentive Stock Option unless so designated by the Administrator at the time of grant or in the applicable Award Agreement.

(ii)  Exercise.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), stock options shall be exercisable at such time or times and subject to such
terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Administrator; provided, however, that Awards of stock options may not have a term in
excess of ten years� duration unless required otherwise by applicable law. The exercise price per share subject to a stock option granted under the
Plan shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of one Common Share on the date of grant of the stock option, except as provided under
applicable law or with respect to stock options that are granted in substitution of similar types of awards of a company acquired by Aralez or a
Subsidiary or with which Aralez or a Subsidiary combines (whether in connection with a corporate transaction, such as a merger, combination,
consolidation or acquisition of property or stock, or otherwise) to preserve the intrinsic value of such awards. Should the expiry date of a stock
option fall within a period during which the relevant Participant is prohibited from exercising a Nonqualified Option due to trading restrictions
imposed by the Company pursuant to any policy of the Company respecting restrictions on trading that is in effect at that time (a �blackout
period�) or within nine Business Days following the expiration of a blackout period, such expiry date of the Nonqualified Option shall be
automatically extended without any further act or formality to that date which is the tenth Business Day after the end of the blackout period,
such tenth Business Day to be considered the expiry date for such Nonqualified Option for all purposes under the Plan. The ten Business Day
period referred to in this paragraph may not be extended by the Board.

6

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

175



(iii)  Termination of Service.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), except as provided in the applicable Award Agreement or
otherwise determined by the Administrator, to the extent stock options are not vested and exercisable, a Participant�s stock options shall be
forfeited upon his or her Termination of Service provided that, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), the Administrator may provide,
by rule or regulation or in any Award Agreement, or may determine in any individual case, that vesting or forfeiture conditions relating to stock
options will be waived in whole or in part in the event of terminations resulting from specified causes, and the Administrator may in other cases
waive in whole or in part the forfeiture of stock options.

(iv)  Additional Terms and Conditions.  The Administrator may, by way of the Award Agreement or otherwise, determine such other terms,
conditions, restrictions, and/or limitations, if any, of any Award of stock options, provided they are not inconsistent with Section 7(b) or any
other section of the Plan.

(d)  Limitation on Reload Options.  The Administrator shall not grant stock options under this Plan that
contain a reload or replenishment feature pursuant to which a new stock option would be granted automatically upon
receipt of delivery of Common Shares to Aralez in payment of the exercise price or any tax withholding obligation
under any other stock option.

(e)  Stock Appreciation Rights.

(i)  Grants.  The Administrator may from time to time grant to Eligible Individuals Awards of stock appreciation rights. A stock appreciation
right entitles the Participant to receive, subject to the provisions of the Plan and the Award Agreement, a payment having an aggregate value
equal to the product of (i) the excess of (A) the Fair Market Value on the exercise date of one Common Share over (B) the base price per share
specified in the Award Agreement, times (ii) the number of shares specified by the stock appreciation right, or portion thereof, which is
exercised. The base price per share specified in the Award Agreement shall not be less than the lower of the Fair Market Value on the date of
grant or the exercise price of any tandem stock option to which the stock appreciation right is related, or with respect to stock appreciation rights
that are granted in substitution of similar types of awards of a company acquired by Aralez or a Subsidiary or with which Aralez or a Subsidiary
combines (whether in connection with a corporate transaction, such as a merger, combination, consolidation or acquisition of property or stock,
or otherwise) such base price as is necessary to preserve the intrinsic value of such awards.

(ii)  Exercise.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), stock appreciation rights shall be exercisable at such time or times and subject
to such terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Administrator; provided, however, that stock appreciation rights granted under the
Plan may not have a term in excess of ten years� duration unless required otherwise by applicable law. The applicable Award Agreement shall
specify whether payment by Aralez of the amount receivable upon any exercise of a stock appreciation right is to be made in cash or Common
Shares or a combination of both, or shall reserve to the Administrator or the Participant the right to make that determination prior to or upon the
exercise of the stock appreciation right. If upon the exercise of a stock appreciation right a Participant is to receive a portion of such payment in
Common Shares, the number of shares shall be determined by dividing such portion by the Fair Market Value of a Common Share on the
exercise date. No fractional shares shall be used for such payment and the Administrator shall determine whether cash shall be given in lieu of
such fractional shares or whether such fractional shares shall be eliminated.
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(iii)  Termination of Service.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), except as provided in the applicable Award Agreement or
otherwise determined by the Administrator, to the extent stock appreciation rights are not vested and exercisable, a Participant�s stock
appreciation rights shall be forfeited upon his or her Termination of Service; provided that, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), the
Administrator may provide, by rule or regulation or in any Award Agreement, or may determine in any individual case, that vesting or forfeiture
conditions relating to stock appreciation rights will be waived in whole or in part in the event of terminations resulting from specified causes,
and the Administrator may in other cases waive in whole or in part the forfeiture of stock appreciation rights.

(iv)  Additional Terms and Conditions.  The Administrator may, by way of the Award Agreement or otherwise, determine such other terms,
conditions, restrictions, and/or limitations, if any, of any Award of stock appreciation rights, provided they are not inconsistent with
Section 7(b) or any other section of the Plan.

(f)  Repricing.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, except in connection with a corporate
transaction involving Aralez (including, without limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, extraordinary cash
dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, or exchange of
shares), the terms of options and stock appreciation rights granted under the Plan may not be amended, after the date
of grant, to reduce the exercise price of such options or stock appreciation rights, nor may outstanding options or stock
appreciation rights be canceled in exchange for (i) cash, (ii) options or stock appreciation rights with an exercise price
or base price that is less than the exercise price or base price of the original outstanding options or stock appreciation
rights, or (iii) other Awards, unless such action is approved by Aralez�s shareholders.

(g)  Stock Awards.

(i)  Grants.  The Administrator may from time to time grant to Eligible Individuals Awards of unrestricted Common Shares or Restricted Stock
(collectively, �Stock Awards�) on such terms and conditions, and for such consideration, including no consideration or such minimum
consideration as may be required by law, as the Administrator shall determine, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b). Stock Awards
shall be evidenced in such manner as the Administrator may deem appropriate, including via book-entry registration.

(ii)  Vesting.  Restricted Stock shall be subject to such vesting, restrictions on transferability and other restrictions, if any, and/or risk of
forfeiture as the Administrator may impose at the date of grant or thereafter. The Restriction Period to which such vesting, restrictions and/or
risk of forfeiture apply may lapse under such circumstances, including without limitation upon the attainment of Performance Goals, in such
installments, or otherwise, as the Administrator may determine. In the event that the Administrator conditions the grant or vesting of a Stock
Award upon the attainment of Performance Goals, or the attainment of Performance Goals together with the continued service of the Participant,
the Administrator may, prior to or at the time of grant, designate the Stock Award as a Qualified Performance-Based Award. Subject to the
provisions of the Plan and the applicable Award Agreement, during the Restriction Period, the Participant shall not be permitted to vote, sell,
assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise encumber shares of Restricted Stock.

(iii)  Rights of a Shareholder; Dividends.  Except to the extent restricted under the Award Agreement relating to the Restricted Stock, a
Participant granted Restricted Stock shall have all of the rights of a shareholder of Common Shares including, without limitation, the right to
vote Restricted Stock upon the expiry of the Restriction Period. Subject to shareholder approval, cash dividends declared payable on Common
Shares shall be paid, with respect to outstanding Restricted Stock, either as soon as practicable following the dividend payment date or deferred
for payment to such later date as determined by the Administrator, and shall be paid in cash or as unrestricted Common Shares having a Fair
Market Value equal to the amount of such dividends or may be reinvested in additional shares of Restricted Stock as determined by the
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Administrator; provided, however, that dividends declared payable on Restricted Stock that is granted as a Performance Award shall be held by
Aralez and made subject to forfeiture at least until achievement of the applicable Performance Goal related to such shares of Restricted Stock.
Stock distributed in connection with a stock split or stock dividend, and other property distributed as a dividend, shall be subject to restrictions
and a risk of forfeiture to the same extent as the Restricted Stock with respect to which such Common Shares or other property has been
distributed. As soon as is practicable following the date on which restrictions on any shares of Restricted Stock lapse, Aralez shall deliver to the
Participant the certificates for such shares or shall cause the shares to be registered in the Participant�s name in book-entry form, in either case
with the restrictions removed, provided that the Participant shall have complied with all conditions for delivery of such shares contained in the
Award Agreement or otherwise reasonably required by Aralez.

8

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

178



(iv)  Termination of Service.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), except as provided in the applicable Award Agreement, upon
Termination of Service during the applicable Restriction Period, Restricted Stock and any accrued but unpaid dividends that are at that time
subject to restrictions shall be forfeited; provided that, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), the Administrator may provide, by
rule or regulation or in any Award Agreement, or may determine in any individual case, that restrictions or forfeiture conditions relating to
Restricted Stock will be waived in whole or in part in the event of terminations resulting from specified causes, and the Administrator may in
other cases waive in whole or in part the forfeiture of Restricted Stock.

(v)  Additional Terms and Conditions.  The Administrator may, by way of the Award Agreement or otherwise, determine such other terms,
conditions, restrictions, and/or limitations, if any, of any Award of Restricted Stock, provided they are not inconsistent with Section 7(b) or any
other section of the Plan.

(h)  Stock Units.

(i)  Grants.  The Administrator may from time to time grant to Eligible Individuals Awards of unrestricted stock Units or Restricted Stock Units
on such terms and conditions, and for such consideration, including no consideration or such minimum consideration as may be required by law,
as the Administrator shall determine, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b). Restricted Stock Units represent a contractual obligation
by Aralez to deliver a number of Common Shares, an amount in cash equal to the Fair Market Value of the specified number of shares subject to
the Award, or a combination of Common Shares and cash, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and any applicable
Award Agreement.

(ii)  Vesting and Payment.  Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to such vesting, risk of forfeiture and/or payment provisions as the
Administrator may impose at the date of grant. The Restriction Period to which such vesting and/or risk of forfeiture apply may lapse under such
circumstances, including without limitation upon the attainment of Performance Goals, in such installments, or otherwise, as the Administrator
may determine. In the event that the Administrator conditions the vesting and/or lapse of risk of forfeiture of Restricted Stock Units upon the
attainment of Performance Goals, or the attainment of Performance Goals together with the continued service of the Participant, the
Administrator may, prior to or at the time of grant, designate the Award of Restricted Stock Units as a Qualified Performance-Based Award.
Common Shares, cash or a combination of Common Shares and cash, as applicable, payable in settlement of Restricted Stock Units shall be
delivered to the Participant as soon as administratively practicable, but no later than 30 days, after the date on which payment is due under the
terms of the Award Agreement provided that the Participant shall have complied with all conditions for delivery of such shares or payment
contained in the Award Agreement or otherwise reasonably required by Aralez, or in accordance with an election of the Participant, if the
Administrator so permits, that meets the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

(iii)  No Rights of a Shareholder; Dividend Equivalents.  Until Common Shares are issued to the Participant in settlement of stock Units, the
Participant shall not have any rights of a shareholder of Aralez with respect to the stock Units or the shares issuable thereunder. The
Administrator may grant to the Participant the right to receive Dividend Equivalents on stock Units, on a current, reinvested and/or restricted
basis, subject to such terms as the Administrator may determine provided, however, that Dividend Equivalents payable on stock Units that are
granted as a Performance Award shall, rather than be paid on a current basis, be accrued and made subject to forfeiture at least until achievement
of the applicable Performance Goal related to such stock Units.

9
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(iv)  Termination of Service.  Upon Termination of Service during the applicable deferral period or portion thereof to which forfeiture conditions
apply, or upon failure to satisfy any other conditions precedent to the delivery of Common Shares or cash to which such Restricted Stock Units
relate, all Restricted Stock Units and any accrued but unpaid Dividend Equivalents with respect to such Restricted Stock Units that are then
subject to deferral or restriction shall be forfeited; provided that, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 7(b), the Administrator may
provide, by rule or regulation or in any Award Agreement, or may determine in any individual case, that restrictions or forfeiture conditions
relating to Restricted Stock Units will be waived in whole or in part in the event of termination resulting from specified causes, and the
Administrator may in other cases waive in whole or in part the forfeiture of Restricted Stock Units.

(v)  Additional Terms and Conditions.  The Administrator may, by way of the Award Agreement or otherwise, determine such other terms,
conditions, restrictions, and/or limitations, if any, of any Award of stock Units, provided they are not inconsistent with Section 7(b) or any other
section of the Plan.

(i)  Performance Shares and Performance Units.

(i)  Grants.  The Administrator may from time to time grant to Eligible Individuals Awards in the form of Performance Shares and Performance
Units. Performance Shares, as that term is used in this Plan, shall refer to Common Shares or Units that are expressed in terms of Common
Shares, the issuance, vesting, lapse of restrictions on or payment of which is contingent on performance as measured against predetermined
objectives over a specified Performance Period. Performance Units, as that term is used in this Plan, shall refer to dollar-denominated Units
valued by reference to designated criteria established by the Administrator, other than Common Shares, the issuance, vesting, lapse of
restrictions on or payment of which is contingent on performance as measured against predetermined objectives over a specified Performance
Period. The applicable Award Agreement shall specify whether Performance Shares and Performance Units will be settled or paid in cash or
Common Shares or a combination of both, or shall reserve to the Administrator or the Participant the right to make that determination prior to or
at the payment or settlement date.

(ii)  Performance Criteria.  The Administrator shall, prior to or at the time of grant, condition the grant, vesting or payment of, or lapse of
restrictions on, an Award of Performance Shares or Performance Units upon (A) the attainment of Performance Goals during a Performance
Period or (B) the attainment of Performance Goals and the continued service of the Participant. The Administrator may, prior to or at the time of
grant, designate an Award of Performance Shares or Performance Units as a Qualified Performance-Based Award. The length of the
Performance Period, the Performance Goals to be achieved during the Performance Period, and the measure of whether and to what degree such
Performance Goals have been attained shall be conclusively determined by the Administrator in the exercise of its absolute discretion.
Performance Goals may include minimum, maximum and target levels of performance, with the size of the Award or payout of Performance
Shares or Performance Units or the vesting or lapse of restrictions with respect thereto based on the level attained. An Award of Performance
Shares or Performance Units shall be settled as and when the Award vests or at a later time specified in the Award Agreement or in accordance
with an election of the Participant, if the Administrator so permits, that meets the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

(iii)  Additional Terms and Conditions.  The Administrator may, by way of the Award Agreement or otherwise, determine such other terms,
conditions, restrictions, and/or limitations, if any, of any Award of Performance Shares or Performance Units, provided they are not inconsistent
with the Plan.

(j)  Other Stock-Based Awards.  The Administrator may from time to time grant to Eligible Individuals
Awards in the form of Other Stock-Based Awards. Other Stock-Based Awards in the form of Dividend Equivalents
may be (A) awarded on a free-standing basis or in connection with another Award other than a stock option or stock
appreciation right, (B) paid currently or credited to an account for the Participant, including the reinvestment of such
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credited amounts in Common Shares equivalents, to be paid on a deferred basis, and (C) settled in cash or Common
Shares as determined by the Administrator; provided, however, that Dividend Equivalents payable on Other
Stock-Based Awards that are granted as a Performance Award shall, rather than be paid on a current basis, be accrued
and made subject to forfeiture at least until achievement of the applicable Performance Goal related to such Other
Stock-Based Awards. Any such settlements, and any such crediting of Dividend Equivalents, may be subject to such
conditions, restrictions and contingencies as the Administrator shall establish.
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(k)  Qualified Performance-Based Awards.

(i)  Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights.  The provisions of the Plan are intended to ensure that all stock options and stock appreciation
rights granted hereunder to any Participant who is or may be a �covered employee� (within the meaning of Section 162(m)(3) of the Code) in the
tax year in which such stock option or stock appreciation right is expected to be deductible to Aralez or a Subsidiary qualify for the
Section 162(m) Exemption, and all such Awards shall therefore be considered Qualified Performance-Based Awards, and the Plan shall be
interpreted and operated consistent with that intention.

(ii)  Grant Process for Performance Awards.  When granting any Award other than a stock option or stock appreciation right, the Administrator
may designate such Award as a Qualified Performance-Based Award, based upon a determination that (A) the recipient is or may be a �covered
employee� (within the meaning of Section 162(m)(3) of the Code) with respect to such Award and (B) the Administrator wishes such Award to
qualify for the Section 162(m) Exemption. For any Award so designated as a Qualified Performance-Based Award, the Administrator shall take
steps to ensure that the terms of any such Award (and of the grant thereof) shall be consistent with such designation (including, without
limitation, that all such Awards be granted by a committee composed solely of �outside directors� (within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the
Code) and that the Performance Goals be established, in writing, by the Administrator within the time period prescribed by Section 162(m) of
the Code). The Performance Goals established by the Administrator for each Qualified Performance-Based Award shall be objective such that a
third party having knowledge of the relevant facts could determine whether or not any Performance Goal has been achieved, or the extent of
such achievement, and the amount, if any, which has been earned by the Participant based on such performance. The Administrator may retain in
an Award Agreement the discretion to reduce (but not to increase) the amount or number of Qualified Performance-Based Awards which will be
earned based on the achievement of Performance Goals. When the Performance Goals are established, the Administrator shall also specify the
manner in which the level of achievement of such Performance Goals shall be calculated and the weighting assigned to such Performance Goals.

(iii)  Certification and Payment.  Following completion of the applicable Performance Period, and prior to any, as applicable, grant, vesting,
lapse of restrictions on or payment of a Qualified Performance-Based Award, the Administrator shall determine in accordance with the terms of
the Award and shall certify in writing whether the applicable Performance Goal(s) were achieved, or the level of such achievement, and the
amount, if any, earned by the Participant based upon such performance. For this purpose, approved minutes of the meeting of the Administrator
at which certification is made shall be sufficient to satisfy the requirement of a written certification. No Qualified Performance-Based Awards
will be granted, become vested, have restrictions lapse or be paid, as applicable, for a Performance Period until such certification is made by the
Administrator. The amount of a Qualified Performance-Based Award actually granted, vested, or paid to a Participant, or on which restrictions
shall lapse, may be less than the amount determined by the applicable Performance Goal formula, at the discretion of the Administrator to take
into account additional factors that the Administrator may deem relevant to the assessment of individual or corporate performance for the
Performance Period or otherwise, subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable Award Agreement.

(iv)  Performance Goals.  Performance Goals may be applied on a per share or absolute basis and relative to one or more Performance Metrics,
or any combination thereof, and may be measured pursuant to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (�GAAP�), non-GAAP or other
objective standards in a manner consistent with Aralez�s or its Subsidiary�s established accounting policies, all as the Administrator shall
determine at the time the Performance Goals for a Performance Period are established. The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, provide that
one or more objectively determinable adjustments shall be made to the manner in which one or more of the Performance Goals is to be
calculated or measured to take into account, or ignore, one or more of the following: (1) items related to a change in accounting principle;
(2) items relating to financing activities; (3) expenses for restructuring or productivity initiatives; (4) other non-operating items; (5) items related
to acquisitions; (6) items attributable to the business operations of any entity acquired by the Company during the Performance Period; (7) items
related to the sale or disposition of a business or segment of a business; (8) items related to discontinued operations that do not qualify as a
segment of a business under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; (9) items attributable to any stock dividend, stock split, combination
or exchange of stock occurring during the Performance Period; (10) any other items of significant income or expense which are determined to be
appropriate adjustments; (11) items relating to unusual or extraordinary corporate transactions, events or developments, (12) items related to
amortization of acquired intangible assets; (13) items that are outside the scope of the Company�s core, on-going business activities; (14) changes
in foreign currency exchange rates; (15) items relating to changes in tax laws; (16) certain identified expenses (including, but not limited to, cash
bonus expenses, incentive expenses and acquisition-related transaction and integration expenses); (17) items relating to asset impairment
charges; or (18) items relating to gains or unusual or nonrecurring events or changes in applicable law, accounting principles or business
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conditions. For all Awards intended to qualify as Qualified Performance-Based Awards, such determinations shall be made within the time
prescribed by, and otherwise in compliance with, Section 162(m) of the Code.
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(v)  Non-delegation.  No delegate of the Administrator is permitted to exercise authority granted to the Administrator under Section 4 to the
extent that the exercise of such authority by the delegate would cause an Award designated as a Qualified Performance-Based Award not to
qualify for, or to cease to qualify for, the Section 162(m) Exemption.

(l)  Awards to Participants Outside the United States.  The Administrator may grant Awards to Eligible
Individuals who are foreign nationals, who are located outside the United States or who are not compensated from a
payroll maintained in the United States, or who are otherwise subject to (or could cause Aralez or a Subsidiary to be
subject to) tax, legal or regulatory provisions of countries or jurisdictions outside the United States, on such terms and
conditions different from those specified in the Plan as may, in the judgment of the Administrator, be necessary or
desirable in order that any such Award shall conform to laws, regulations, and customs of the country or jurisdiction
in which the Participant is then resident or primarily employed or to foster and promote achievement of the purposes
of the Plan.

(m)  Limitation on Dividend Reinvestment and Dividend Equivalents.  Reinvestment of dividends in
additional Restricted Stock at the time of any dividend payment, and the payment of Common Shares with respect to
dividends to Participants holding Awards of stock Units, shall only be permissible if sufficient shares are available
under the Share Pool for such reinvestment or payment (taking into account then outstanding Awards). In the event
that sufficient shares are not available under the Share Pool for such reinvestment or payment, such reinvestment or
payment shall be made in the form of a grant of stock Units equal in number to the Common Shares that would have
been obtained by such payment or reinvestment, the terms of which stock Units shall provide for settlement in cash
and for Dividend Equivalent reinvestment in further stock Units on the terms contemplated by this Section 7(m).

8.  Withholding of Taxes.

Participants and holders of Awards shall pay to Aralez or its Affiliate, or make arrangements satisfactory to the Administrator for payment of,
any Tax Withholding Obligation in respect of Awards granted under the Plan no later than the date of the event creating the tax or social
insurance contribution liability. The obligations of Aralez under the Plan shall be conditional on such payment or arrangements. Unless
otherwise determined by the Administrator, and subject always to applicable law, Tax Withholding Obligations may be settled in whole or in
part with Common Shares, including unrestricted outstanding shares surrendered to Aralez and unrestricted shares that are part of the Award that
gives rise to the Tax Withholding Obligation, having a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender or withholding equal to the statutory
minimum amount (and not any greater amount) required to be withheld for tax or social insurance contribution purposes, all in accordance with
such procedures as the Administrator establishes. Aralez or its Affiliate may deduct, to the extent permitted by law, any such Tax Withholding
Obligations from any payment of any kind otherwise due to the Participant or holder of an Award.
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9.  Transferability of Awards.

(a)  General Nontransferability Absent Administrator Permission.  Except as otherwise determined by
the Administrator, and in any event in the case of an Incentive Stock Option or a tandem stock appreciation right
granted with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, no Award granted under the Plan shall be transferable by a
Participant otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. The Administrator shall not permit any
transfer of an Award for value. An Award may be exercised during the lifetime of the Participant, only by the
Participant or, during the period the Participant is under a legal disability, by the Participant�s guardian or legal
representative, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator. Awards granted under the Plan shall not be subject
in any manner to alienation, anticipation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, or encumbrance, except as otherwise
determined by the Administrator; provided, however, that the restrictions in this sentence shall not apply to the
Common Shares received in connection with an Award after the date that the restrictions on transferability of such
shares set forth in the applicable Award Agreement have lapsed. Nothing in this paragraph shall be interpreted or
construed as overriding the terms of any Aralez stock ownership or retention policy, now or hereafter existing, that
may apply to the Participant or Common Shares received under an Award.

(b)  Administrator Discretion to Permit Transfers Other Than For Value.  Except as otherwise restricted
by applicable law, the Administrator may, but need not, permit an Award, other than an Incentive Stock Option or a
tandem stock appreciation right granted with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, to be transferred to a Participant�s
Family Member (as defined below) as a gift or pursuant to a domestic relations order in settlement of marital property
rights. The Administrator shall not permit any transfer of an Award for value. For purposes of this Section 9, �Family
Member� means any child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niece,
nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, including adoptive
relationships, any person sharing the Participant�s household (other than a tenant or employee), a trust in which these
persons have more than fifty percent of the beneficial interest, a foundation in which these persons (or the Participant)
control the management of assets, and any other entity in which these persons (or the Participant) own more than fifty
percent (50%) of the voting interests. The following transactions are not prohibited transfers for value: (i) a transfer
under a domestic relations order in settlement of marital property rights; and (ii) a transfer to an entity in which more
than fifty percent of the voting interests are owned by Family Members (or the Participant) in exchange for an interest
in that entity.

10.  Adjustments for Corporate Transactions and Other Events.

(a)  Mandatory Adjustments.  In the event of a merger, consolidation, stock rights offering, statutory
share exchange or similar event affecting Aralez (each, a �Corporate Event�) or a stock dividend, stock split, reverse
stock split, separation, spinoff, reorganization, extraordinary dividend of cash or other property, share combination or
subdivision, or recapitalization or similar event affecting the capital structure of Aralez (each, a �Share Change�) that
occurs at any time after adoption of this Plan by the Board (including any such Corporate Event or Share Change that
occurs after such adoption and coincident with or prior to the Effective Date), the Administrator shall, with the
approval of the Exchange (if required), make equitable and appropriate substitutions or proportionate adjustments to
(i) the aggregate number and kind of Common Shares or other securities on which Awards under the Plan may be
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granted to Eligible Individuals, (ii) the maximum number of Common Shares or other securities with respect to which
Awards may be granted during any one calendar year to any individual, (iii) the maximum number of Common Shares
or other securities that may be issued with respect to Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan, (iv) the number
of Common Shares or other securities covered by each outstanding Award and the exercise price, base price or other
price per share, if any, and other relevant terms of each outstanding Award, and (v) all other numerical limitations
relating to Awards, whether contained in this Plan or in Award Agreements; provided, however, that any fractional
shares resulting from any such adjustment shall be eliminated; and, provided further, that in no event shall the
exercise price per Common Share of a stock option or stock appreciation right, or subscription price per Common
Share or any other Award, be reduced to an amount that is lower than the par value of a Common Share.
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(b)  Discretionary Adjustments.  In the case of Corporate Events, the Administrator may, with the
approval of the Exchange (if required), make such other adjustments to outstanding Awards as it determines to be
appropriate and desirable, which adjustments may include, without limitation, (i) the cancellation of outstanding
Awards in exchange for payments of cash, securities or other property or a combination thereof having an aggregate
value equal to the value of such Awards, as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion (it being understood
that in the case of a Corporate Event with respect to which shareholders of Aralez receive consideration other than
publicly traded equity securities of the ultimate surviving entity, any such determination by the Administrator that the
value of a stock option or stock appreciation right shall for this purpose be deemed to equal the excess, if any, of the
value of the consideration being paid for each Common Share pursuant to such Corporate Event over the exercise
price or base price of such stock option or stock appreciation right shall conclusively be deemed valid and that any
stock option or stock appreciation right may be cancelled for no consideration upon a Corporate Event if its exercise
price or base price equals or exceeds the value of the consideration being paid for each Common Share pursuant to
such Corporate Event), (ii) the substitution of securities or other property (including, without limitation, cash or other
securities of Aralez and securities of entities other than Aralez) for the Common Shares subject to outstanding
Awards, and (iii) the substitution of equivalent awards, as determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator, of
the surviving or successor entity or a parent thereof (�Substitute Awards�).

(c)  Adjustments to Performance Goals.  The Administrator may, in its discretion, adjust the
Performance Goals applicable to any Awards to reflect any unusual or non-recurring events and other extraordinary
items, impact of charges for restructurings, discontinued operations and the cumulative effects of accounting or tax
changes, each as defined by generally accepted accounting principles or as identified in Aralez�s consolidated financial
statements, notes to the consolidated financial statements, management�s discussion and analysis or other Aralez
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission; provided, however, that, except in connection with death,
disability or a Change in Control, no such adjustment shall be made if the effect would be to cause an Award that is
intended to be a Qualified Performance-Based Award to no longer constitute a Qualified Performance-Based Award.
If the Administrator determines that a change in the business, operations, corporate structure or capital structure of
Aralez or the applicable subsidiary, business segment or other operational unit of Aralez or any such entity or
segment, or the manner in which any of the foregoing conducts its business, or other events or circumstances, render
the Performance Goals to be unsuitable, the Administrator may modify such Performance Goals or the related
minimum acceptable level of achievement, in whole or in part, as the Administrator deems appropriate and equitable;
provided, however, that, except in connection with death, disability or a Change in Control, no such modification shall
be made if the effect would be to cause an Award that is intended to be a Qualified Performance-Based Award to no
longer constitute a Qualified Performance-Based Award.

(d)  Statutory Requirements Affecting Adjustments.  Notwithstanding the foregoing: (A) any adjustments
made pursuant to Section 10 to Awards that are considered �deferred compensation� within the meaning of
Section 409A of the Code shall be made in compliance with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code; (B) any
adjustments made pursuant to Section 10 to Awards that are not considered �deferred compensation� subject to
Section 409A of the Code shall be made in such a manner as to ensure that after such adjustment, the Awards either
(1) continue not to be subject to Section 409A of the Code or (2) comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the
Code; (C) in any event, the Administrator shall not have the authority to make any adjustments pursuant to Section 10
to the extent the existence of such authority would cause an Award that is not intended to be subject to Section 409A
of the Code at the date of grant to be subject thereto; and (D) any adjustments made pursuant to Section 10 to Awards
that are Incentive Stock Options shall be made in compliance with the requirements of Section 424(a) of the Code.
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(e)  Dissolution or Liquidation.  Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, all Awards outstanding
under the Plan shall terminate upon the dissolution or liquidation of Aralez.

11.  Change in Control Provisions.

(a)  Termination of Awards.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 11(b), in the event that any
transaction resulting in a Change in Control occurs, outstanding Awards will terminate upon the effective time of such
Change in Control unless provision is made in connection with the transaction for the continuation or assumption of
such Awards by, or for the issuance therefor of Substitute Awards of, the surviving or successor entity or a parent
thereof. Solely with respect to Awards that will terminate as a result of the immediately preceding sentence and except
as otherwise provided in the applicable Award Agreement:
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(i)  the outstanding Awards of stock options and stock appreciation rights that will terminate upon the
effective time of the Change in Control shall, immediately before the effective time of the Change in Control, become
fully exercisable and the holders of such Awards will be permitted, immediately before the Change in Control, to
exercise the Awards;

(ii)  the outstanding shares of Restricted Stock the vesting or restrictions on which are then solely
time-based and not subject to achievement of Performance Goals shall, immediately before the effective time of the
Change in Control, become fully vested, free of all transfer and lapse restrictions and free of all risks of forfeiture;

(iii)  the outstanding shares of Restricted Stock the vesting or restrictions on which are then subject to and
pending achievement of Performance Goals shall, immediately before the effective time of the Change in Control and
unless the Award Agreement provides for vesting or lapsing of restrictions in a greater amount upon the occurrence of
a Change in Control, become vested, free of transfer and lapse restrictions and risks of forfeiture in such amounts as if
the applicable Performance Goals for the unexpired Performance Period had been achieved at the target level set forth
in the applicable Award Agreement;

(iv)  the outstanding Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and Performance Units the vesting,
earning or settlement of which is then solely time-based and not subject to or pending achievement of Performance
Goals shall, immediately before the effective time of the Change in Control, become fully earned and vested and shall
be settled in cash or Common Shares (consistent with the terms of the Award Agreement after taking into account the
effect of the Change in Control transaction on the shares) as promptly as is practicable, subject to any applicable
limitations imposed thereon by Section 409A of the Code; and

(v)  the outstanding Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and Performance Units the vesting,
earning or settlement of which is then subject to and pending achievement of Performance Goals shall, immediately
before the effective time of the Change in Control and unless the Award Agreement provides for vesting, earning or
settlement in a greater amount upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, become vested and earned in such
amounts as if the applicable Performance Goals for the unexpired Performance Period had been achieved at the target
level set forth in the applicable Award Agreement and shall be settled in cash or Common Shares (consistent with the
terms of the Award Agreement after taking into account the effect of the Change in Control transaction on the shares)
as promptly as is practicable, subject to any applicable limitations imposed thereon by Section 409A of the Code.

Implementation of the provisions of this Section 11(a) shall be conditioned upon consummation of the Change in Control.

(b)  Continuation, Assumption or Substitution of Awards.  The administrator may specify, on or after the
date of grant, in an award agreement or amendment thereto, the consequences of a Participant�s Termination of Service
that occurs coincident with or following the occurrence of a Change in Control, if a Change in Control occurs under
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which provision is made in connection with the transaction for the continuation or assumption of outstanding Awards
by, or for the issuance therefor of Substitute Awards of, the surviving or successor entity or a parent thereof.

(c)  Other Permitted Actions.  In the event that any transaction resulting in a Change in Control occurs,
the Administrator may take any of the actions set forth in Section 10 with respect to any or all Awards granted under
the Plan.

(d)  Section 409A Savings Clause.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Award is considered to be a
�nonqualified deferred compensation plan� within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, this Section 11 shall apply
to such Award only to the extent that its application would not result in the imposition of any tax or interest or the
inclusion of any amount in income under Section 409A of the Code.
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12.  Substitution of Awards in Mergers and Acquisitions.

Awards may be granted under the Plan from time to time in substitution for assumed awards held by employees, officers, consultants or directors
of entities who become employees, officers, consultants or directors of Aralez or a Subsidiary as the result of a merger or consolidation of the
entity for which they perform services with Aralez or a Subsidiary, or the acquisition by Aralez of the assets or stock of the such entity. The
terms and conditions of any Awards so granted may vary from the terms and conditions set forth herein to the extent that the Administrator
deems appropriate at the time of grant to conform the Awards to the provisions of the assumed awards for which they are substituted and to
preserve their intrinsic value as of the date of the merger, consolidation or acquisition transaction. To the extent permitted by applicable law and
marketplace or listing rules of the primary securities market or exchange on which the Common Shares are listed or admitted for trading, any
available shares under a shareholder-approved plan of an acquired company (as appropriately adjusted to reflect the transaction) may be used for
Awards granted pursuant to this Section 12 and, upon such grant, shall not reduce the Share Pool.

13.  Compliance with Securities Laws; Listing and Registration.

(a)  The obligation of Aralez to sell or deliver Common Shares with respect to any Award granted under
the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations, including all applicable federal, state or foreign
(non-United States) securities laws, or foreign (non-United States) securities laws and the obtaining of all such
approvals by governmental agencies as may be deemed necessary or appropriate by the Administrator. If at any time
the Administrator determines that the delivery of Common Shares under the Plan is or may be unlawful under the laws
of any applicable jurisdiction, or federal, state or foreign (non-United States) securities laws, the right to exercise an
Award or receive Common Shares pursuant to an Award shall be suspended until the Administrator determines that
such delivery is lawful. If at any time the Administrator determines that the delivery of Common Shares under the
Plan would or may violate the rules of any exchange on which Aralez�s securities are then listed for trading, the right
to exercise an Award or receive Common Shares pursuant to an Award shall be suspended until the Administrator
determines that such delivery would not violate such rules. If the Administrator determines that the exercise or
nonforfeitability of, or delivery of benefits pursuant to, any Award would violate any applicable provision of
securities laws or the listing requirements of any stock exchange upon which any of Aralez�s equity securities are
listed, then the Administrator may postpone any such exercise, nonforfeitability or delivery, as applicable, but Aralez
shall use all reasonable efforts to cause such exercise, nonforfeitability or delivery to comply with all such provisions
at the earliest practicable date.

(b)  Each Award is subject to the requirement that, if at any time the Administrator determines, in its
absolute discretion, that the listing, registration or qualification of Common Shares issuable pursuant to the Plan is
required by any securities exchange or under any state, federal or foreign (non-United States) law, or the consent or
approval of any governmental regulatory body is necessary or desirable as a condition of, or in connection with, the
grant of an Award or the issuance of Common Shares, no such Award shall be granted or payment made or Common
Shares issued, in whole or in part, unless listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval has been effected or
obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Administrator.

(c)  In the event that the disposition of Common Shares acquired pursuant to the Plan is not covered by a
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then current registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the �Securities Act�), and is not
otherwise exempt from such registration, such Common Shares shall be restricted against transfer to the extent
required by the Securities Act or regulations thereunder, and the Administrator may require a person receiving
Common Shares pursuant to the Plan, as a condition precedent to receipt of such Common Shares, to represent to
Aralez in writing that the Common Shares acquired by such person is acquired for investment only and not with a
view to distribution and that such person will not dispose of the Common Shares so acquired in violation of federal,
state or foreign securities laws and furnish such information as may, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, be
appropriate to permit the Company to issue the Common Shares in compliance with applicable federal, state or
foreign securities laws. If applicable, all certificates representing such Common Shares shall bear applicable legends
as required by federal, state or foreign securities laws or stock exchange regulation.
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14.  Section 409A Compliance.

It is the intention of Aralez that any Award that constitutes a �nonqualified deferred compensation plan� within the meaning of Section 409A of
the Code shall comply in all respects with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code to avoid the imposition of any tax or interest or the
inclusion of any amount in income pursuant to Section 409A of the Code, and the terms of each such Award shall be construed, administered
and deemed amended, if applicable, in a manner consistent with this intention. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither Aralez nor any of its
Affiliates nor any of its or their directors, officers, employees, agents or other service providers will be liable for any taxes, penalties or interest
imposed on any Participant or other person with respect to any amounts paid or payable (whether in cash, Common Shares or other property)
under any Award, including any taxes, penalties or interest imposed under or as a result of Section 409A of the Code. Any payments described
in an Award that are due within the �short term deferral period� as defined in Section 409A of the Code shall not be treated as deferred
compensation unless applicable law requires otherwise. For purposes of any Award, each amount to be paid or benefit to be provided to a
Participant that constitutes deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code shall be construed as a separate identified payment for
purposes of Section 409A of the Code. For purposes of Section 409A of the Code, the payment of Dividend Equivalents under any Award shall
be construed as earnings and the time and form of payment of such Dividend Equivalents shall be treated separately from the time and form of
payment of the underlying Award. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, with respect to any Award that constitutes a
�nonqualified deferred compensation plan� within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, any payments (whether in cash, Common Shares or
other property) to be made with respect to the Award that become payable on account of the Participant�s separation from service, within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code, while the Participant is a �specified employee� (as determined in accordance with the uniform policy
adopted by the Administrator with respect to all of the arrangements subject to Section 409A of the Code maintained by Aralez and its
Affiliates) and which would otherwise be paid within six months after the Participant�s separation from service shall be accumulated (without
interest) and paid on the first day of the seventh month following the Participant�s separation from service or, if earlier, within 15 days after the
appointment of the personal representative or executor of the Participant�s estate following the Participant�s death. Notwithstanding anything in
the Plan or an Award Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall the Administrator exercise its discretion to accelerate the payment or
settlement of an Award where such payment or settlement constitutes deferred compensation within the meaning of Code section 409A unless,
and solely to the extent that, such accelerated payment or settlement is permissible under Treasury Regulation section 1.409A-3(j)(4).

15.  Plan Duration; Amendment and Discontinuance.

(a)  Plan Duration.  The Plan shall remain in effect, subject to the right of the Board or the
Compensation Committee to amend or terminate the Plan at any time, until the earlier of (a) the earliest date as of
which all Awards granted under the Plan have been satisfied in full or terminated and no Common Shares approved
for issuance under the Plan remain available to be granted under new Awards or (b) the tenth anniversary of the
Effective Date. No Awards shall be granted under the Plan after such termination date. Subject to other applicable
provisions of the Plan, all Awards made under the Plan on or before the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date, or
such earlier termination of the Plan, shall remain in effect until such Awards have been satisfied or terminated in
accordance with the Plan and the terms of such Awards. Notwithstanding the continuation of the Plan, no Award
(other than a stock option or stock appreciation right) that is intended to be a Qualified Performance-Based Award
shall be granted on or after the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date unless the material terms of the applicable
performance goals, within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.162-27(e)(4)(i), are approved by the
shareholders of Aralez no later than the first shareholder meeting that occurs in the fifth year following the Effective
Date.

(b)  Amendment and Discontinuance of the Plan.  The Board or the Compensation Committee may,
without shareholder approval, amend, alter or discontinue the Plan, but no amendment, alteration or discontinuation
shall be made which would materially impair the rights of a Participant with respect to a previously granted Award
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without such Participant�s consent, except such an amendment made to comply with applicable law or rule of any
securities exchange or market on which the Common Shares are listed or admitted for trading or to prevent adverse
tax or accounting consequences to Aralez or the Participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such amendment shall
be made without the approval of Aralez�s shareholders to the extent such amendment would (A) materially increase the
benefits accruing to Participants under the Plan, (B)  increase the number of Common Shares which may be issued
under the Plan or to a Participant, (C) materially expand the eligibility for participation in the Plan, (D) eliminate or
modify the prohibition set forth in Section 7(f) on repricing of stock options and stock appreciation rights,
(E) lengthen the maximum term or lower the minimum exercise price or base price permitted for stock options and
stock appreciation rights, (F) modify the prohibition on the issuance of reload or replenishment options, or (G) make
any amendment to remove or exceed the limit in Section 5(f)(ii), or (H) amend the provisions set out in this
Section 15(b). Except as otherwise determined by the Board or Compensation Committee, termination of the Plan
shall not affect the Administrator�s ability to exercise the powers granted to it hereunder with respect to Awards
granted under the Plan prior to the date of such termination.
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(c)  Amendment of Awards.  Subject to Section 7(f) and Section 15(b), the Administrator may
unilaterally amend the terms of any Award theretofore granted, but no such amendment shall materially impair the
rights of any Participant with respect to an Award without the Participant�s consent, except such an amendment made
to cause the Plan or Award to comply with applicable law, applicable rule of any securities exchange on which the
Common Shares are listed or admitted for trading, or to prevent adverse tax or accounting consequences for the
Participant or the Company or any of its Affiliates. For purposes of the foregoing sentence, an amendment to an
Award that results in a change in the tax consequences of the Award to the Participant shall not be considered to be a
material impairment of the rights of the Participant and shall not require the Participant�s consent.

16.  General Provisions.

(a)  Non-Guarantee of Employment or Service.  Nothing in the Plan or in any Award Agreement
thereunder shall confer any right on an individual to continue in the service of Aralez or any Affiliate or shall interfere
in any way with any right of Aralez or any Affiliate may have to terminate such service at any time with or without
cause or notice and whether or not such termination results in (i) the failure of any Award to vest or become payable;
(ii) the forfeiture of any unvested or vested portion of any Award; and/or (iii) any other adverse effect on the
individual�s interests under any Award or the Plan. No person, even though deemed an Eligible Individual, shall have a
right to be selected as a Participant, or, having been so selected, to be selected again as a Participant. To the extent that
an Eligible Individual who is an employee of a Subsidiary receives an Award under the Plan, that Award shall in no
event be understood or interpreted to mean that Aralez is the Participant�s employer or that the Participant has an
employment relationship with Aralez.

(b)  No Trust or Fund Created.  Neither the Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a
trust or separate fund of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between Aralez and a Participant or any other person. To
the extent that any Participant or other person acquires a right to receive payments from Aralez pursuant to an Award,
such right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured general creditor of Aralez.

(c)  Status of Awards.  Awards shall be special incentive payments to the Participant and shall not be
taken into account in computing the amount of salary or compensation of the Participant for purposes of determining
any pension, retirement, death, severance or other benefit under (a) any pension, retirement, profit-sharing, bonus,
insurance, severance or other employee benefit plan of Aralez or any Affiliate now or hereafter in effect under which
the availability or amount of benefits is related to the level of compensation or (b) any agreement between (i) Aralez
or any Affiliate and (ii) the Participant, except as such plan or agreement shall otherwise expressly provide.

(d)  Subsidiary Employees.  In the case of a grant of an Award to an Eligible Individual who provides
services to any Subsidiary, Aralez may, if the Administrator so directs, issue or transfer the Common Shares, if any,
covered by the Award to the Subsidiary, for such lawful consideration as the Administrator may specify, upon the
condition or understanding that the Subsidiary will transfer the Common Shares to the Eligible Individual in
accordance with the terms of the Award specified by the Administrator pursuant to the provisions of the Plan. All
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Common Shares underlying Awards that are forfeited or canceled after such issue or transfer of shares to the
Subsidiary shall revert to Aralez.

(e)  Governing Law and Interpretation.  The validity, construction and effect of the Plan, of Award
Agreements entered into pursuant to the Plan, and of any rules, regulations, determinations or decisions made by the
Administrator relating to the Plan or such Award Agreements, and the rights of any and all persons having or claiming
to have any interest therein or thereunder, shall be determined exclusively in accordance with applicable United States
federal laws and the laws of the state of North Carolina without regard to its conflict of laws principles. The captions
of the Plan are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. Except where the context otherwise
requires: (i) the singular includes the plural and vice versa; (ii) a reference to one gender includes other genders; (iii) a
reference to a person includes a natural person, partnership, corporation, association, governmental or local authority
or agency or other entity; and (iv) a reference to a statute, ordinance, code or other law includes regulations and other
instruments under it and consolidations, amendments, re-enactments or replacements of any of them.

18

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

196



(f)  Use of English Language.  The Plan, each Award Agreement, and all other documents, notices and
legal proceedings entered into, given or instituted pursuant to an Award shall be written in English, unless otherwise
determined by the Administrator. If a Participant receives an Award Agreement, a copy of the Plan or any other
documents related to an Award translated into a language other than English, and if the meaning of the translated
version is different from the English version, the English version shall control.

(g)  Recovery of Amounts Paid.  Except as otherwise provided by the Administrator, Awards granted
under the Plan shall be subject to any and all policies, guidelines, codes of conduct, or other agreement or arrangement
adopted by the Board or Compensation Committee with respect to the recoupment, recovery or clawback of
compensation (collectively, the �Recoupment Policy�) and/or to any provisions set forth in the applicable Award
Agreement under which Aralez may recover from current and former Participants any amounts paid or Common
Shares issued under an Award and any proceeds therefrom under such circumstances as the Administrator determines
appropriate. The Administrator may apply the Recoupment Policy to Awards granted before the policy is adopted to
the extent required by applicable law or rule of any securities exchange or market on which Common Shares are listed
or admitted for trading, as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion.

17.  Glossary.

Under this Plan, except where the context otherwise indicates, the following definitions apply:

�Administrator� means the Compensation Committee, or such other committee(s) or officer(s) duly appointed by the
Board or the Compensation Committee to administer the Plan or delegated limited authority to perform administrative
actions under the Plan, and having such powers as shall be specified by the Board or the Compensation Committee;
provided, however, that at any time the Board may serve as the Administrator in lieu of or in addition to the
Compensation Committee or such other committee(s) or officer(s) to whom administrative authority has been
delegated. With respect to any Award to which Section 16 of the Exchange Act applies, the Administrator shall
consist of either the Board or a committee of the Board, which committee shall consist of two or more directors, each
of whom is intended to be, to the extent required by Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act, a �non-employee director� as
defined in Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act and an �independent director� to the extent required by the rules of the
national securities exchange that is the principal trading market for the Common Shares, and with respect to any
Award that is intended to be a Qualified Performance-Based Award, the Administrator shall consist of two or more
directors, each of whom is intended to be, to the extent required by Section 162(m) of the Code, an �outside director� as
defined under Section 162(m) of the Code; provided, that with respect to Awards made to a member of the Board who
is not an employee of the Company, �Administrator� means the Board. Any member of the Administrator who does not
meet the foregoing requirements shall abstain from any decision regarding an Award and shall not be considered a
member of the Administrator to the extent required to comply with Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act or
Section 162(m) of the Code.
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�Affiliate� means any entity, whether now or hereafter existing, which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, Aralez or any
successor to Aralez. For this purpose, �control� (including the correlative meanings of the terms �controlled by� and �under common control with�)
shall mean ownership, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of voting securities issued by such
entity, or the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct the management and policies of such entity, by contract or otherwise.

�Aralez� means Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc., a company organized under the laws of the province of British Colombia, Canada.

�Award� means any stock option, stock appreciation right, stock award, stock unit, Performance Share, Performance Unit, and/or Other
Stock-Based Award, whether granted under this Plan.
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�Award Agreement� means the written document(s), including an electronic writing acceptable to the Administrator, and
any notice, addendum or supplement thereto, memorializing the terms and conditions of an Award granted pursuant to
the Plan and which shall incorporate the terms of the Plan.

�Board� means the Board of Directors of Aralez.

�Business Day� means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday, when banks are generally open in the City of Toronto, or the City
of New York for the transaction of banking business.

�Change in Control� means the first of the following to occur: (i) a Change in Ownership of Aralez, (ii) a Change in Effective Control of Aralez,
or (iii) a Change in the Ownership of Assets of Aralez, as described herein and construed in accordance with Code section 409A.

(i)  A �Change in Ownership of Aralez� shall occur on the date that any one Person acquires, or Persons
Acting as a Group acquire, ownership of the capital stock of Aralez that, together with the stock held by such Person
or Group, constitutes more than 50% of the total fair market value or total voting power of the capital stock of Aralez.
However, if any one Person is, or Persons Acting as a Group are, considered to own more than 50%, on a fully diluted
basis, of the total fair market value or total voting power of the capital stock of Aralez, the acquisition of additional
stock by the same Person or Persons Acting as a Group is not considered to cause a Change in Ownership of Aralez or
to cause a Change in Effective Control of Aralez (as described below). An increase in the percentage of capital stock
owned by any one Person, or Persons Acting as a Group, as a result of a transaction in which Aralez acquires its stock
in exchange for property will be treated as an acquisition of stock.

(ii)  A �Change in Effective Control of Aralez� shall occur on the date either (A) a majority of members of
Aralez�s Board is replaced during any 12-month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by
a majority of the members of Aralez�s Board before the date of the appointment or election, or (B) any one Person, or
Persons Acting as a Group, acquires (or has acquired during the 12-month period ending on the date of the most recent
acquisition by such Person or Persons) ownership of stock of Aralez possessing 50% or more of the total voting power
of the stock of Aralez.

(iii)  A �Change in the Ownership of Assets of Aralez� shall occur on the date that any one Person acquires,
or Persons Acting as a Group acquire (or has or have acquired during the 12-month period ending on the date of the
most recent acquisition by such Person or Persons), assets from Aralez that have a total gross fair market value equal
to or more than 50% of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of Aralez immediately before such
acquisition or acquisitions. For this purpose, gross fair market value means the value of the assets of Aralez, or the
value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard to any liabilities associated with such assets.
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The following rules of construction apply in interpreting the definition of Change in Control:

(A)  A �Person� means any individual, entity or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, other than employee benefit plans sponsored or maintained by
Aralez and by entities controlled by Aralez or an underwriter, initial purchaser or placement agent temporarily holding
the capital stock of Aralez pursuant to a registered public offering.

(B)  Persons will be considered to be Persons Acting as a Group (or Group) if they are owners of a
corporation that enters into a merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or similar business transaction
with the corporation. If a Person owns stock in both corporations that enter into a merger, consolidation, purchase or
acquisition of stock, or similar transaction, such shareholder is considered to be acting as a Group with other
shareholders only with respect to the ownership in that corporation before the transaction giving rise to the change and
not with respect to the ownership interest in the other corporation. Persons will not be considered to be acting as a
Group solely because they purchase assets of the same corporation at the same time or purchase or own stock of the
same corporation at the same time, or as a result of the same public offering.
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(C)  A Change in Control shall not include a transfer to a related person as described in Code
section 409A or a public offering of capital stock of Aralez.

(D)  For purposes of the definition of Change in Control, Section 318(a) of the Code applies to determine
stock ownership. Stock underlying a vested option is considered owned by the individual who holds the vested option
(and the stock underlying an unvested option is not considered owned by the individual who holds the unvested
option). For purposes of the preceding sentence, however, if a vested option is exercisable for stock that is not
substantially vested (as defined by Treasury Regulation §1.83-3(b) and (j)), the stock underlying the option is not
treated as owned by the individual who holds the option.

�Code� means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto, the
Treasury Regulations thereunder and other relevant interpretive guidance issued by the Internal Revenue Service or
the Treasury Department. Reference to any specific section of the Code shall be deemed to include such regulations
and guidance, as well as any successor section, regulations and guidance.

�Common Shares� means common shares in the capital of Aralez, without par value, and any capital securities into
which they are converted.

�Company� means Aralez and its Subsidiaries, except where the context otherwise requires. For purposes of determining whether a Change in
Control has occurred, Company shall mean only Aralez.

�Compensation Committee� means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

�Dividend Equivalent� means a right, granted to a Participant, to receive cash, Common Shares, stock Units or other property equal in value to
dividends paid with respect to a specified number of Common Shares.

�Effective Date� means the date on which adoption of this Plan, as amended and restated, is approved by the shareholders of Aralez.

�Eligible Individuals� means (i) officers and employees of, and other individuals, including non-employee directors, who are natural persons
providing bona fide services to or for, Aralez or any of its Subsidiaries, provided that such services are not in connection with the offer or sale of
securities in a capital-raising transaction and do not directly or indirectly promote or maintain a market for Aralez�s securities, (ii) prospective
officers, employees and service providers who have accepted offers of employment or other service relationship from Aralez or a Subsidiary;
and (iii) consultants who are natural persons providing bona fide services to or for, Aralez or any of its Subsidiaries, provided that such services
are not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction and do not directly or indirectly promote or maintain a
market for Aralez�s securities.
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�Exchange� means collectively, the Toronto Stock Exchange and the NASDAQ or any such exchange in Canada or the United States on which
Common Shares are listed and posted for trading.

�Exchange Act� means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto. Reference to any specific
section of the Exchange Act shall be deemed to include such regulations and guidance issued thereunder, as well as any successor section,
regulations and guidance.

�Fair Market Value� means, on a per share basis as of any date, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator:

(i)  if the principal market for the Common Shares (as determined by the Administrator if the Common
Shares are listed or admitted to trading on more than one exchange or market) is a national securities exchange or an
established securities market, the official closing price per Common Share for the regular market session on that date
on the principal exchange or market on which the Common Shares are then listed or admitted to trading or, if no sale
is reported for that date, on the last preceding day on which a sale was reported, all as reported by such source as the
Administrator may select;
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(ii)  if the principal market for the Common Shares is not a national securities exchange or an
established securities market, but the Common Shares are quoted by a national quotation system, the average of the
highest bid and lowest asked prices for the Common Shares on that date as reported on a national quotation system or,
if no prices are reported for that date, on the last preceding day on which prices were reported, all as reported by such
source as the Administrator may select; or

(iii)  if the Common Shares are neither listed or admitted to trading on a national securities exchange or an
established securities market, nor quoted by a national quotation system, the value determined by the Administrator in
good faith by the reasonable application of a reasonable valuation method, which method may, but need not, include
taking into account an appraisal of the fair market value of the Common Shares conducted by a nationally recognized
appraisal firm selected by the Administrator.

Notwithstanding the preceding, for foreign, federal, state and local income tax reporting purposes and for such other purposes as the
Administrator deems appropriate, the Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Administrator in accordance with uniform and
nondiscriminatory standards adopted by it from time to time.

�Full Value Award� means an Award that results in Aralez transferring the full value of a Common Share under the Award, whether or not an
actual share of stock is issued. Full Value Awards shall include, but are not limited to, stock awards, stock units, Performance Shares,
Performance Units that are payable in Common Shares, and Other Stock-Based Awards for which Aralez transfers the full value of a Common
Share under the Award, but shall not include Dividend Equivalents.

�Incentive Stock Option� means any stock option that is designated, in the applicable Award Agreement or the resolutions of the Administrator
under which the stock option is granted, as an �incentive stock option� within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code and otherwise meets the
requirements to be an �incentive stock option� set forth in Section 422 of the Code.

�Merger Agreement� means the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Arrangement, dated as of June 8, 2015, among Tribute Pharmaceuticals
Canada Inc., POZEN Inc., the Company and certain other entities, as amended.

�Nonqualified Option� means any stock option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

�Other Stock-Based Award� means an Award of Common Shares or any other Award that is valued in whole or in part by reference to, or is
otherwise based upon, Common Shares, including without limitation Dividend Equivalents.

�Participant� means an Eligible Individual to whom one or more Awards are or have been granted pursuant to the Plan and have not been fully
settled or cancelled and, following the death of any such person, his successors, heirs, executors and administrators, as the case may be.
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�Performance Award� means a Full Value Award, the grant, vesting, lapse of restrictions or settlement of which is conditioned upon the
achievement of performance objectives over a specified Performance Period and includes, without limitation, Performance Shares and
Performance Units.

�Performance Goals� means the performance goals established by the Administrator in connection with the grant of Awards based on
Performance Metrics or other performance criteria selected by the Administrator; provided, however, that in the case of Qualified
Performance-Based Awards, such performance goals shall be based on the attainment of specified levels of one or more Performance Metrics.

�Performance Period� means that period established by the Administrator during which any Performance Goals specified by the Administrator
with respect to such Award are to be measured.

�Performance Metrics� means criteria established by the Administrator relating to any of the following, as it may apply to an individual, one or
more business units, divisions, or Affiliates, or on a company-wide basis, and in absolute terms, relative to a base period, or relative to the
performance of one or more comparable companies, peer groups, or an index covering multiple companies:
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(i)  Earnings or Profitability Metrics:  any derivative of revenue; earnings/loss (gross, operating, net, or adjusted); earnings/loss before interest
and taxes (�EBIT�); earnings/loss before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (�EBITDA�); profit margins; operating margins; expense
levels or ratios; provided that any of the foregoing metrics may be adjusted to eliminate the effect of any one or more of the following: interest
expense, asset impairments or investment losses, early extinguishment of debt or stock-based compensation expense;

(ii)  Return Metrics:  any derivative of return on investment, assets, equity or capital (total or invested);

(iii)  Investment Metrics:  relative risk-adjusted investment performance; investment performance of assets under management;

(iv)  Cash Flow Metrics:  any derivative of operating cash flow; cash flow sufficient to achieve financial ratios or a specified cash balance; free
cash flow; cash flow return on capital; net cash provided by operating activities; cash flow per share; working capital;

(v)  Liquidity Metrics:  any derivative of debt leverage (including debt to capital, net debt-to-capital, debt-to-EBITDA or other liquidity ratios);

(vi)  Stock Price and Equity Metrics:  any derivative of return on shareholders� equity; total shareholder return; stock price; stock price
appreciation; market capitalization; earnings/loss per share (basic or diluted) (before or after taxes); and/or

(vii)  Strategic Metrics:  product research and development; completion of an identified special project; clinical trials; regulatory filings or
approvals; patent application or issuance; manufacturing or process development; sales or net sales; market share; market penetration; economic
value added; customer service; customer satisfaction; inventory control; balance of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities; growth in
assets; key hires; employee satisfaction; employee retention; business expansion; acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures or financing; legal
compliance or safety and risk reduction.

�Performance Shares� means a grant of stock or stock Units the issuance, vesting or payment of which is contingent on
performance as measured against predetermined objectives over a specified Performance Period.

�Performance Units� means a grant of dollar-denominated Units the value, vesting or payment of which is contingent on performance against
predetermined objectives over a specified Performance Period.

�Plan� means this Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. Amended and Restated 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as set forth herein and as it may be
amended from time to time.

�Qualified Performance-Based Award� means an Award intended to qualify for the Section 162(m) Exemption, as provided in Section 7(k).
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�Restricted Stock� means an Award of Common Shares to a Participant that may be subject to certain transferability and other restrictions and to a
risk of forfeiture (including by reason of not satisfying certain Performance Goals).

�Restricted Stock Unit� means a right granted to a Participant to receive Common Shares or cash at the end of a specified deferral period, which
right may be conditioned on the satisfaction of certain requirements (including the satisfaction of certain Performance Goals).

�Restriction Period� means, with respect to Full Value Awards, the period commencing on the date of grant of such Award to which vesting or
transferability and other restrictions and a risk of forfeiture apply and ending upon the expiration of the applicable vesting conditions,
transferability and other restrictions and lapse of risk of forfeiture and/or the achievement of the applicable Performance Goals (it being
understood that the Administrator may provide that vesting shall occur and/or restrictions shall lapse with respect to portions of the applicable
Award during the Restriction Period in accordance with Section 7(b)).
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�Section 162(m) Exemption� means the exemption from the limitation on deductibility imposed by Section 162(m) of the Code that is set forth in
Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Code.

�Subsidiary� means any corporation or other entity in an unbroken chain of corporations or other entities beginning with Aralez if each of the
corporations or other entities, or group of commonly controlled corporations or other entities, other than the last corporation or other entity in the
unbroken chain then owns stock or other equity interests possessing 50% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock or
other equity interests in one of the other corporations or other entities in such chain or otherwise has the power to direct the management and
policies of the entity by contract or by means of appointing a majority of the members of the board or other body that controls the affairs of the
entity; provided, however, that solely for purposes of determining whether a Participant has a Termination of Service that is a �separation from
service� within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code or whether an Eligible Individual is eligible to be granted an Award that in the hands of
such Eligible Individual would constitute a �nonqualified deferred compensation plan� within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code , a
�Subsidiary� of a corporation or other entity means all other entities with which such corporation or other entity would be considered a single
employer under Sections 414(b) or 414(c) of the Code.

�Tax Withholding Obligation� means any federal, state, local or foreign (non-United States) income, employment or other tax or social insurance
contribution required by applicable law to be withheld in respect of Awards.

�Termination of Service� means the termination of the Participant�s employment or consultancy with, or performance of services for, Aralez and its
Subsidiaries. Temporary absences from employment because of illness, vacation or leave of absence and transfers among Aralez and its
Subsidiaries shall not be considered Terminations of Service. With respect to any Award that constitutes a �nonqualified deferred compensation
plan� within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, �Termination of Service� shall mean a �separation from service� as defined under
Section 409A of the Code to the extent required by Section 409A of the Code to avoid the imposition of any tax or interest or the inclusion of
any amount in income pursuant to Section 409A of the Code. A Participant has a separation from service within the meaning of Section 409A of
the Code if the Participant terminates employment with Aralez and all Subsidiaries for any reason. A Participant will generally be treated as
having terminated employment with Aralez and all Subsidiaries as of a certain date if the Participant and the entity that employs the Participant
reasonably anticipate that the Participant will perform no further services for Aralez or any Subsidiary after such date or that the level of bona
fide services that the Participant will perform after such date (whether as an employee or an independent contractor) will permanently decrease
to no more than 20 percent (20%) of the average level of bona fide services performed (whether as an employee or an independent contractor)
over the immediately preceding 36-month period (or the full period of services if the Participant has been providing services for fewer than
36 months); provided, however, that the employment relationship is treated as continuing while the Participant is on military leave, sick leave or
other bona fide leave of absence if the period of leave does not exceed six months or, if longer, so long as the Participant retains the right to
reemployment with Aralez or any Subsidiary.

�Total and Permanent Disability� means, with respect to a Participant, except as otherwise provided in the relevant Award Agreement, that a
Participant is (i) unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that
can be expected to last until the Participant�s death or result in death, or (ii) determined to be totally disabled by the Social Security
Administration or other governmental or quasi-governmental body that administers a comparable social insurance program outside of the United
States in which the Participant participates and which conditions the right to receive benefits under such program on the Participant being unable
to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to last
until the Participant�s death or result in death. The Administrator shall have sole authority to determine whether a Participant has suffered a Total
and Permanent Disability and may require such medical or other evidence as it deems necessary to judge the nature and permanency of the
Participant�s condition.

�Unit� means a bookkeeping entry used by Aralez to record and account for the grant of the following types of Awards until such time as the
Award is paid, cancelled, forfeited or terminated, as the case may be: stock units, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units, and Performance
Shares that are expressed in terms of units of Common Shares.
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Annex B

ARALEZ PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

I.  Introduction

The board of directors (the �Board�) of Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the �Company�) is elected by the shareholders of the Company and is
responsible for the stewardship of the Company. The purpose of these guidelines is to describe the principal duties and responsibilities of the
Board, as well as certain of the policies and procedures that apply to the Board in discharging its duties and responsibilities.

II.  Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Company�s shareholders and has a duty to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
Company.

III.  Chair of the Board

The chair of the Board (the �Chair�) will be appointed by the Board, after considering the recommendation of the Nominating & Corporate
Governance Committee, for such term as the Board may determine.

IV.  Majority of Independent Directors

The Board shall be comprised of that number of directors as shall be determined from time to time by the Board in accordance with the Articles
of the Company, at least a majority of whom shall meet the criteria for independence required by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,
National Instrument 58-101 - Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices, the listing standards of the NASDAQ Global Market and the
Toronto Stock Exchange and any other applicable regulatory authority or securities exchange (collectively, the �Applicable Regulatory
Requirements�). In addition to the foregoing requirements, Audit and Compensation Committee members are subject to heightened
independence requirements or considerations pursuant to certain of the Applicable Regulatory Requirements. The Board must determine, based
on all of the relevant facts and circumstances, whether each director satisfies these criteria for independence and will disclose such
determinations as required in accordance with the Applicable Regulatory Requirements.
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Each independent director of the Board shall promptly notify the Chair of any developments that may impair such director�s independence. If a
conflict exists and cannot be resolved, such director should submit to the Board written notification of such conflict of interest and an offer of
resignation from the Board and each of the committees on which such director serves. The Board need not accept such offer of resignation;
however, the submission of such offer of resignation provides the opportunity for the Board to review the appropriateness of the continuation of
such individual�s membership on the Board or any committee of the Board.

V.  Board Leadership

A.  Chair of the Board. The Company maintains separate Chair and Chief Executive Officer positions, which
allows the Board to be more effective in overseeing the Company�s affairs and holding management accountable for
the Company�s activities. Having an independent Chair of the Board fosters strong leadership, healthy discussion and
avoids the potential for any conflict of interest. However, the Board believes that the Company and its shareholders
are best served by maintaining flexibility to have any director serve as Chair and therefore believes that a permanent
policy on whether the Chair and Chief Executive Officer positions should be separated or combined is not appropriate.

1
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B.  Lead Director. The Board has adopted a written position description for the Chair setting out the Chair�s
responsibilities, including leadership and governance of the Board, the promotion of corporate social responsibility,
the facilitation of shareholder meetings, and the oversight of Board committees. The Board has appointed a
non-executive, independent director as its Chair to help it function independently of management. In order to maintain
the independent integrity of the Board, however, if the Chair and Chief Executive Officer positions are combined, the
Board shall appoint a lead director who must be independent.

VI.  Director Selection and Board Membership Criteria

The Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee has, as one of its responsibilities, the recommendation of director candidates to the full
Board. Nominees for directorship will be identified by the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee in accordance with the criteria set
forth below and any other criteria that may be identified by the Board or a committee of the Board, if appropriate, and in accordance with the
procedures set forth in the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee�s charter.

A.  Background and Diversity. The Board seeks members from diverse professional and personal backgrounds
who combine a broad spectrum of experience and expertise with a reputation for integrity. This assessment will
include an individual�s independence, as well as consideration of age, skills and experience, and a policy of promoting
diversity, in the context of the needs of the Company. The Diversity Policy, which is attached hereto as Appendix �A�,
sets out the guidelines by which the Board will endeavor to increase diversity amongst members of the Board as well
as executive officers.

B.  Simultaneous Service. No director should serve on more than 5 other public company boards. No member of
the Audit Committee should serve on more than 2 other public company audit committees. Directors are expected to
advise the Chair and the chair of the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee in advance of accepting an
invitation to serve on another public company board or the audit committee of a public company board.

C.  Financial Literacy. Directors should know how to read and understand fundamental financial statements and
understand the use of financial ratios and information in evaluating the financial performance of the Company.

D.  Character. Directors should be persons of good character and thus should possess all of the following
personal characteristics:

•  Integrity: Directors should demonstrate high ethical standards and integrity in their personal and professional
dealings;
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•  Accountability: Directors should be willing to be accountable for their decisions as directors;

•  Judgment: Directors should possess the ability to provide wise and thoughtful counsel on a broad range of
issues;

•  Responsibility: Directors should interact with each other in a manner which encourages responsible, open,
challenging and inspired discussion;

•  High Performance Standards: Directors should have a history of achievements which reflects high standards
for themselves and others;

•  Commitment and Enthusiasm: Directors should be committed to, and enthusiastic about, their performance for
the Company as directors, both in absolute terms and relative to their peers; and

2
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•  Courage: Directors should possess the courage to express views openly, even in the face of opposition.

VII.  Board Renewal

A.  Term Limits. The Board does not favor term limits for directors, but believes that it is important to monitor
overall Board performance. Therefore, the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee shall review each
director�s continuation on the Board annually. This will allow the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee to
evaluate each director�s performance as well as provide each director with the opportunity to confirm his or her desire
to continue as a member of the Board.

B.  Retirement Age. No person shall be nominated by the Board to serve as a director after he or she has passed
his or her 75th birthday, unless the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee has recommended, on an annual
basis, to waive the mandatory retirement age for such director.

C.  Resignation Policy � Management Directors. Management directors shall forthwith offer to resign from the
Board upon their resignation, removal or retirement as an employee of the Company.

D.  Significant Change in Job Responsibilities. The Board expects directors to notify the Chair promptly and
offer to resign from the Board upon a significant change in their business position. It is not the sense of the Board that
in every instance the directors who retire or change from the position they held when they joined the Board should
necessarily leave the Board. There should, however, be an opportunity for the Board through the Nominating &
Corporate Governance Committee, to review the continued appropriateness of Board membership under the
circumstances.

VIII.  Role and Responsibilities of the Board and the Directors

The role of the Board is to represent the shareholders of the Company, enhance and maximize shareholder value and conduct the business and
affairs of the Company ethically and in accordance with high standards of corporate governance. The basic responsibility of the directors is to
exercise their business judgment to act in what they reasonably believe to be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Board is ultimately accountable and responsible for providing effective leadership in supervising the management of the business and affairs
of the Company. In discharging that obligation, directors should be entitled to rely on the honesty and integrity of the Company�s officers,
employees, outside advisors and independent auditors. The Board selects and oversees the members of senior management, to whom the Board
delegates the authority and responsibility for the conduct of the day-to-day operations of the business.
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The responsibilities of the Board include:

1.  reviewing and adopting a strategic planning process;

2.  risk identification and ensuring that procedures are in place for the management of those risks;

3.  reviewing and approving annual business and capital plans and policies and processes generated by
management relating to the authorization of major investments and significant allocations of capital, subject to general
authority guidelines;

4.  corporate social responsibility, ethics and integrity;

3
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5.  supervision of senior management and succession planning including the appointment of the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chair and ensuring that other executives are in place to ensure sound management of the Company;

6.  delegations and general approval guidelines for management;

7.  monitoring financial reporting and management;

8.  monitoring internal control and management information systems;

9.  oversight over corporate disclosure and communications;

10.  adopting measures for receiving feedback from stakeholders; and

11.  adopting key corporate policies designed to ensure that the Company, its directors, officers and employees
comply, in all material respects, with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and conduct their business ethically
and with honesty and integrity.

Further, each director is expected to:

1.  dedicate sufficient time, energy and attention to ensure the diligent performance of his or her duties;

2.  comply with the duties and responsibilities set forth herein and in the Articles of the Company;

3.  comply with all duties of care, loyalty and confidentiality applicable to directors of publicly traded
corporations organized in our jurisdiction of incorporation; and

4.  adhere to the Company�s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, including, but not limited to, the policies on
conflicts of interest expressed therein and any other applicable policies of the Company.
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IX.  Board Meetings

Meetings of the Board will be held at regular intervals and at least quarterly, with additional meetings to be held depending on the state of the
Company�s affairs and in light of opportunities or risks which the Company faces. In addition, independent directors of the Board will have the
opportunity to meet in camera at each quarterly meeting of the Board or more frequently as they determine necessary. The executive sessions of
the independent directors are currently presided over by the independent Chair.

Directors are strongly encouraged to attend the annual meeting of shareholders, Board meetings and meetings of committees on which they
serve, and to spend the time needed and meet as frequently as necessary to properly discharge their responsibilities. Directors are expected to
review meeting materials prior to Board and committee meetings and, when possible, should communicate in advance of meetings any questions
or concerns that they wish to discuss so that management will be prepared to address the same.

The Company shall distribute written materials sufficiently in advance of meetings to permit a meaningful review by the directors.

X.  Board Committees

Subject to the Applicable Regulatory Requirements, the Board may delegate certain matters it is responsible for to Board committees, presently
consisting of the Audit Committee, the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Transaction
Committee. The Board will, however, retain its oversight function and ultimate responsibility for these matters and all delegated responsibilities.

4
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The Board will have at all times an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee. Each
of these committees of the Board shall consist solely of independent directors. The Board may, at its discretion, establish any other committees
as it deems appropriate from time to time, including a Transaction Committee, which shall consist of at least three members of the Board, one of
whom must be an independent director in accordance with the Applicable Regulatory Requirements.

Committee members will be appointed by the Board upon the recommendation of the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee with
consideration of the desires of individual directors. Each committee shall have its own charter, which will set forth the purposes, goals and
responsibilities of the committee as well as qualifications for committee membership, procedures for committee member appointment and
removal, committee structure and operations and committee reporting to the Board. The charters may also provide that each committee will
annually evaluate its own performance and such charters will be posted on the Company�s website.

XI.  Majority Vote Policy for the Election of Directors

The Company�s Majority Voting Policy provides that directors receiving a greater number of votes withheld than votes in favour in uncontested
elections of directors shall be considered not to have the support of the shareholders and shall forthwith tender his or her resignation to the Chair,
and the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee will make a recommendation to the Board on whether to accept or reject the
resignation or other action. The Board will review and act on this recommendation within 90 days from the date of the meeting. The Board will
promptly publicly disclose its decision and, should the Board decline to accept the resignation, its rationale. The Company�s Majority Voting
Policy is attached hereto as Appendix �B�.

XII.  Share Ownership Requirements

The Company has also developed share ownership guidelines for its directors and executive officers to create alignment and mutual ownership
among directors, executives and the shareholders of the Company.

XIII.  Strategic Planning Process and Risk Management

The Board will adopt a strategic planning process to establish objectives and goals for the Company�s business and will review, approve and
modify as appropriate the strategies proposed by senior management to achieve such objectives and goals. The Board will review and approve,
as appropriate, a strategic plan which takes into account, among other things, the opportunities and risks of the Company�s business and affairs.

The Audit Committee, in conjunction with senior management, will identify the principal risks of the Company�s business and oversee senior
management�s implementation of appropriate systems to effectively monitor, manage and mitigate the impact of such risks and report on and
make recommendations with respect to such matters to the Board.

XIV.  Access to Officers, Employees and Advisors

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

217



Board members have complete and open access to the Company�s senior management, any other employees and any of the Company�s advisors as
necessary to complete their duties. Board members who wish to have access to such persons may coordinate such access through the Chair or
may contact such persons directly, with concurrent notice to the Chair.

5
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XV.  Confidentiality

The Board believes maintaining confidentiality of information and deliberations is imperative. Information learned during the course of service
on the Board is to be held confidentially and used solely in furtherance of the Company�s business.

XVI.  Corporate Social Responsibility, Business Conduct, Ethics and Integrity

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and other internal policies and guidelines designed to support these
guidelines and to comply with applicable law. Directors, officers and employees are expected to comply fully with that Code and any other
applicable policies and guidelines.

The Board will provide leadership to the Company in support of its commitment to corporate social responsibility, set the ethical tone for the
Company and its management and foster ethical and responsible decision making by management. The Board will take all reasonable steps to
satisfy itself of the integrity of the Chief Executive Officer and senior management and satisfy itself that the Chief Executive Officer and senior
management create a culture of integrity throughout the organization.

XVII.  Succession Planning

The Compensation Committee will review from time to time the Company�s succession plan for the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer and other executive officers, including appointment, training and evaluation.

XVIII.  Executive Officer Performance Objectives and Compensation

The Compensation Committee will review the corporate goals and performance objectives relevant to compensation for the Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other executive officers and evaluate such officers� performance and determine their compensation in light of
those goals and objectives.

XIX.  Director Compensation

The form and amount of non-management director compensation will be determined by the Board upon the recommendation of the
Compensation Committee. The Board is aware that questions as to directors� independence may be raised when directors� fees and emoluments
exceed what is customary. Similar concerns may be raised when the Company makes substantial charitable contributions to organizations with
which a director is affiliated, or enters into consulting contracts with (or provides other indirect forms of compensation to) a director. The Board
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will critically evaluate each of these matters when determining the form and amount of director compensation and will ensure that such
payments do not violate the independence requirements of the Applicable Regulatory Requirements.

XX.  Director Orientation and Continuing Education

The Company will adopt an orientation program for any new directors under which a new director will meet separately with the Chair and
members of the senior executive team. A new director will be presented with a director manual that reviews Board policies and procedures, the
Company�s current strategic plan, financial plan and capital plan, the most recent annual and quarterly reports and materials relating to key
business issues. New directors will also receive training and preparation sessions in respect of financial accounting standards.

The Chair of each committee is responsible for coordinating orientation and continuing director development programs relating to the
committee�s mandate.

6
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XXI.  Delegations and Approval Authorities

The role of the Board focuses on governance and stewardship rather than on the responsibility of management to run the day-to-day operations
of the Company. The Board delegates to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management authority over the day-to-day management of the
business and affairs of the Company. This delegation of authority will be subject to the Applicable Regulatory Requirements and specified
financial limits and any transactions or arrangements in excess of general authority guidelines will be reviewed by and subject to the prior
approval of the Board.

XXII.  Monitoring of Financial Reporting and Management

The Board, the Disclosure Committee and/or committees of the Board, as appropriate and applicable, will approve all regulatory filings,
including the annual audited financial statements, interim financial statements, the notes and management discussion and analysis accompanying
such financial statements, any quarterly and annual reports, management proxy statements, registration statements, prospectuses, and all capital
investments, equity and debt financings, borrowings and all annual operating plans and budgets.

XXIII.  Corporate Disclosure and Communications

The Board values communications with the Company�s shareholders and other stakeholders, and will ensure that effective
communication is in place between the Board and the Company�s shareholders and other stakeholders.

Directors, officers and employees other than the Chief Executive Officer and the Chair, and the Chief Financial Officer and Head of Investor
Relations acting at the direction of the Chief Executive officer and the Chair (the �Spokespersons�), are not authorized to speak on behalf of the
Company and must not initiate communication regarding the Company with any shareholders and other stakeholders, or respond under any
circumstances to inquiries from shareholders and other stakeholders, or otherwise discuss Company business with outside third parties, including
the investment community, the media, regulatory authorities or others unless specifically authorized by the Board. As a general practice, if a
director, officer or employee is contacted by shareholders and other stakeholders, including the investment community, the media, regulatory
authorities or others, he or she is instructed to consult the Board and refer all such communications (including electronic communications) to the
Spokespersons.

Situations in which a director is required to speak publicly on behalf of the Board are highly unusual and infrequent. Should such a situation
arise, the Chair or a delegate is authorized to speak (or respond) on behalf of the Board.

In furtherance of the foregoing, the Board will:

1.  adopt a communication policy for the Company.
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2.  ensure that the financial performance of the Company is reported to shareholders on a timely, regular and
non-selective basis.

3.  ensure that there are measures in place for receiving feedback from stakeholders.

XXIV.  Corporate Policies

The Board will adopt and review, as appropriate, policies and procedures designed to ensure that the Company, its directors, officers and
employees comply, in all material respects, with all Applicable Regulatory Requirements and conduct the Company�s business ethically and with
honesty and integrity. Principal policies consist of:

1.  Code of Business Conduct and Ethics;

7
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2.  Delegation of Authority Policy;

3.  Corporate Investment Policy;

4.  Majority Voting Policy;

5.  Diversity Policy; and

6.  Insider Trading Policy.

XXV.  Assessing Board Performance

The Board will conduct a self-evaluation at regular intervals to determine whether individual directors, the Board and committees of the Board
are functioning effectively. The Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee will receive comments from all directors as to their individual
performance, the Board�s performance, and the performance of committees of the Board and report to the Board with an assessment, to be
discussed with the full Board.

XXVI.  Review of Guidelines

The Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee will review and assess, as appropriate, the adequacy of these guidelines and recommend
any proposed changes to the Board for consideration.

Approved by the Board of Directors
Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc.
March 7, 2017
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Appendix �A�

Diversity Policy

See attached.
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ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY & PROCEDURE

Effective Date:  May 4, 2016

Title:  Diversity Policy

I.  INTRODUCTION

Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the �Company�) recognizes the importance and benefit of having a board of directors (the �Board�) and executive
officers comprised of highly talented and experienced individuals, with a view toward fostering and promoting diversity amongst Board
members and executive officers. To this end, the Board has unanimously adopted this diversity policy (the �Policy�).

II.  OBJECTIVES

The Board is committed to growth and development with respect to diversity among its Board members and executive officers. This may
include, but is not limited to, diversity in regards to attributes such as gender, ethnicity, age, national origin, disability, sexual orientation and
other dimensions.

In addition, the Board is committed to ensuring that its members are reflective of diverse professional experience, skills, knowledge and other
attributes that are essential to its successful operation and the achievement of the Company�s current and future plans and objectives.

III.  MANDATE
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The Board and its committees, as applicable, will, when identifying candidates to nominate for election to the Board or appointment as executive
officers:

•  consider individuals who are highly qualified, based on their talents, experience, functional
expertise and personal skills, character and qualities, and in light of the Company�s current and future plans and
objectives as well as anticipated regulatory and market developments and any other factors that the Board or its
committees, as applicable, deem appropriate;

•  consider criteria that promotes diversity, including with regard to gender, ethnicity, age, national
origin, disability, sexual orientation, and other dimensions; and

•  consider the level of representation of women on the Board and in executive officer positions
along with other markers of diversity when making recommendations for nominees to the Board or for appointment as
executive officers and in general with regard to succession planning for the Board and executive officers.

Given the nature and size of the Company�s business and its industry, it may be challenging for the Company to identify a qualified pool of
candidates that adequately reflects the various diverse characteristics that the Company seeks to promote. The Company has therefore not
adopted any specific targets, but will promote its objectives as set out in this Policy with a view to identifying and fostering the development of a
suitable pool of candidates for nomination or appointment over time.

IV.  MONITORING AND REPORTING

The Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee shall periodically report to the Board on the implementation of
this Policy and shall review and evaluate this Policy from time to time as the Committee deems necessary to
determine whether this Policy is effective in achieving the objectives set forth herein.

Recognizing the need for considered and effective progression in respect of this Policy, progress will be measured based on, among other things,
the relative increase of diversity on the Board and executive officer positions over time, as well the implementation of specific processes
designed to foster the progression of diverse candidates to be considered for nomination or appointment.

V.  REVIEW OF POLICY

This is a policy, and is subject to change from time to time by the Board. In addition, the Board may, from time to time, permit departures from
the terms of this Policy, either prospectively or retroactively. The terms of this Policy are not intended to give rise to civil liability to
shareholders of the Company or other liability whatsoever.
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Approved by the Board of Directors and the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee

Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc.

May 4, 2016

A-1
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Appendix �B�

Majority Voting Policy

See attached.
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ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY & PROCEDURE

Effective Date:  May 4, 2016

Title:  Majority Voting Policy

The board of directors (the �Board�) of Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the �Company�) believes that each of its members should have the confidence
and support of the Company�s shareholders (the �Shareholders�). To this end, the Board has unanimously adopted this majority voting policy
regarding the election of directors (the �Policy�). This Policy applies to all current and future directors of the Company.

I.  VOTING PROCEDURE DURING MEETINGS

A.  Individual Voting

Forms of proxy provided to Shareholders in respect of the election of directors at a Shareholders� meeting shall enable each Shareholder to vote
its shares in favour of, or to withhold its shares from voting with respect to, each nominee separately. The chair of the Board (the �Chair�) will
ensure that the number of shares voted in favour or withheld from voting for each director nominee is recorded and promptly made public by
press release after the meeting of Shareholders. If the vote was by a show of hands, the Company will disclose the number of shares voted by
proxy in favour or withheld for each director. Voting results will also be made public in accordance with applicable Canadian and U.S. securities
laws, Toronto Stock Exchange and NASDAQ Global Market rules and any other applicable regulatory requirements (collectively, the
�Applicable Regulatory Requirements�).

B.  Treatment of Withheld Votes
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If, in an uncontested election of directors of the Company, any particular nominee for director receives a greater number of votes withheld than
votes in favour of the nominee, then, for purposes of this Policy, the nominee shall be considered not to have received the support of the
Shareholders, even though duly elected as a matter of corporate law, and such nominee shall tender his or her resignation to the Chair following
the meeting in accordance with Section II. In this Policy, an �uncontested election� shall mean an election where the number of nominees for
director shall be equal to the number of directors to be elected as determined by the Board. This Policy does not apply where the number of
nominees for election as a director exceeds the number of directors to be elected and/or an election involving a proxy contest i.e., where proxy
material is circulated and/or a solicitation of proxies is carried out, in support of one or more nominees who are not part of the director nominees
supported by the Board or public communications are disseminated, against one or more nominees who are supported by the Board.  In this
latter case of a contested election, directors shall continue to be elected by plurality.

B-1
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II.  NOMINEE NOT RECEIVING THE SUPPORT OF THE SHAREHOLDERS

A.  Director to Submit Resignation

A director nominee who is considered under this Policy not to have received the support of Shareholders shall forthwith submit his or her
resignation to the Board, effective on acceptance by the Board. Upon receipt, the Board will refer the resignation to the Nominating & Corporate
Governance Committee (the �Committee�) for consideration.

B.  Committee Consideration

The Committee shall consider the resignation offer and shall recommend to the Board whether to accept the resignation. In determining whether
to recommend acceptance, the Committee shall consider all factors deemed relevant by members of the Committee including,
without limitation, such factors as (i) the stated reasons, if any, why the Shareholders withheld votes from the election
of that nominee; (ii) the length of service and the qualifications of the director whose resignation has been tendered;
(iii) such director�s contributions to the Company; (iv) the Company�s Corporate Governance Guidelines; (v) available
alternatives to cure the underlying cause of the withheld votes; (vi) the overall composition of the Board (including
the current mix of skills and attributes of the Board); (vii) whether accepting the resignation would cause the
Company to fail to meet any Applicable Regulatory Requirements; and (viii) whether exceptional or extraordinary
circumstances relating to the composition of the Board or the voting results should delay the acceptance of the
resignation or justify rejecting it outright.

C.  Board Expected to Consider Resignation within 90 Days

Notwithstanding Section II.A above, it is expected that any such tendered resignation shall be considered in a timely manner and a decision
taken in respect thereof no later than within 90 days of the meeting of Shareholders.

D.  Director�s Activities while Resignation Is Considered

Any director who tenders his or her resignation pursuant to this Policy will not participate in the Committee or Board�s consideration regarding
whether to accept the tendered resignation.  However, unless otherwise determined by the Board, such director shall remain active and engaged
in all other committee and Board activities, deliberations and decisions during the process described by this Policy.

E.  Considerations
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In reviewing the Committee�s recommendation, the Board will examine the factors considered by the Committee and any additional information
and factors that the Board considers relevant in determining whether to accept the recommendation of the Committee.

F.  Press Release

Following the Board�s decision on the resignation, the Board shall promptly publicly disclose, via press release, its decision regarding whether to
accept or reject the director�s resignation. Should the Board decline to accept the resignation where exceptional circumstances would so warrant,
it should include in the press release the reasons for its decision. Such information will also be made public in accordance with Applicable
Regulatory Requirements.

III.  EFFECT OF ANY RESULTING VACANCY

A.  Alternatives available to the Board

In the event that the Board chooses to accept one or more resignations, and subject to Applicable Regulatory Requirements, the Board may:

B-2
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•  leave the resultant vacancy unfilled until the next annual general meeting of Shareholders;

•  fill the vacancy through the appointment of a new director whom the Board considers to merit the
confidence of the Shareholders; or

•  call a special meeting of Shareholders at which one or more management nominees will be
presented to fill the vacant position or positions, as applicable.

IV.  REVIEW OF POLICY

The Committee will review and assess from time to time, as the Committee determines to be necessary, the adequacy of this Policy and
recommend any proposed changes to the Board for consideration.

V.  GENERAL

This is a policy, and is subject to change from time to time by the Board. In addition, the Board may, from time to time, permit departures from
the terms of this Policy, either prospectively or retrospectively. The terms of this Policy are not intended to give rise to civil liability to
Shareholders or other liability whatsoever.

Approved by the Board of Directors and the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee

Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc.

May 4, 2016

B-3

Edgar Filing: Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. - Form DEF 14A

233



Annex C

ARALEZ PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

I.  Purpose

The purpose of the Audit Committee (the �Committee�) is to assist the Board of Directors (the �Board�) of Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the
�Company�) in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the Company�s accounting and financial processes and the audits of the
Company�s financial statements.

II.  Structure and Membership

A.  Number. The Committee shall be comprised of at least three or more members of the Board.

B.  Independence.  Except as otherwise permitted by the applicable Nasdaq and Securities and
Exchange Commission rules, each member of the Committee shall be independent as defined by Nasdaq rules, meet
the criteria for independence set forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and not have
participated in the preparation of the financial statements of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company at any
time during the prior three years.

C.  Financial Literacy.  Each member of the Committee shall be able to read and understand
fundamental financial statements, including the Company�s balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement,
at the time of his or her appointment to the Committee.  In addition, at least one member of the Committee shall have
past employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, or any other
comparable experience or background that results in that member�s financial sophistication, including being or having
been a chief executive officer, chief financial officer or other senior officer with financial oversight responsibilities.
To the extent possible, at least one member of the Committee shall be an �audit committee financial expert� (as defined
by applicable SEC rules).

D.  Selection and Removal.  The members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board, upon the
recommendation of the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee, and shall serve until their successors shall be
duly elected and qualified.  The Board may remove members of the Committee from such Committee, with or without
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cause. The Chair of the Committee shall be elected by the Board, upon the recommendation of the Nominating/
Corporate Governance Committee.

1
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E.  Compensation. The compensation of Committee members shall be as determined by the Board. No
member of the Committee may receive, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee
from the Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than fees paid in his or her capacity as a member of the Board or a
committee of the Board.

III.  Procedures and Administration

A.  Meetings. The Committee shall meet as often as it may deem necessary and appropriate in its
judgment, but in no event less than four times per year. The Committee may also act by unanimous written consent in
lieu of a meeting. A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum. The Chair of the Committee
or a majority of the members of the Committee may call a special meeting of the Committee. The Committee shall
meet with the independent auditors, the senior personnel performing the Company�s internal audit function, and
management in separate meetings, as often as it deems necessary and appropriate in its judgment.

B.  Investigations; Attendance at Meetings.   The Committee shall have the authority to conduct or
authorize investigations into any matters within the scope of its responsibilities as it shall deem appropriate. The
Committee may also request that any directors, officers or employees of the Company, or other persons whose advice
and counsel are sought by the Committee, attend any meeting to provide such information as the Committee may
request.

C.  Committee Procedures. The Committee may fix such policies and rules of procedure as it deems
necessary or appropriate. Such policies or rules of procedures as the Committee may adopt shall be consistent with
this Charter.

D.  Records. The Committee shall keep written minutes of its meetings, which minutes shall be
maintained with the books and records of the Company.

E.  Subcommittees; Delegation. The Committee may delegate authority to one or more members of the
Committee where appropriate, but no such delegation shall be permitted if the authority is required by a law,
regulation, or listing standard to be exercised by the Committee as a whole. Any decision made pursuant to such
delegation to pre-approve audit, review, attest or non-audit services shall be presented to the full Committee at its next
scheduled meeting.

F.  Independent Advisors; Funding. The Committee shall have the authority, without further action by
the Board, to obtain advice and assistance from internal and external legal, accounting and other advisors, and the
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Committee shall be empowered, without further action by the Board, to cause the Company to provide appropriate
funding for the Committee to retain any such advisors.

IV.  Authority and Responsibilities

A.  General

The Committee shall discharge its responsibilities, and shall assess the information provided by the Company�s management and the independent
auditor, in accordance with its business judgment. The role of the Committee is one of oversight. The members of the Committee are not
full-time employees of the Company and may or may not be accountants or auditors by profession or experts in the fields of accounting or
auditing and, in any event, do not serve in such capacity.  It is not the duty or responsibility of the Committee to conduct audits, to independently
verify management�s representations, or to determine that the Company�s financial statements are complete and accurate, are prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (�GAAP�), or fairly present the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows
of the Company in accordance with GAAP.  These are the responsibilities of management and the independent auditor. The Committee�s
considerations and discussions with management and the independent auditor do not assure that the Company�s financial statements are presented
in accordance with GAAP, that the audit of the Company�s financial statements has been carried out in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards, or that the Company�s independent auditor is in fact �independent.�

B.  Oversight of Independent Auditor

1.  Selection.    The Committee shall be solely and directly responsible for appointing, evaluating,
retaining and, when necessary, terminating the engagement of the independent auditor. The Committee may, in its
discretion, seek shareholder ratification of the independent auditor it appoints.

2
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2.  Compensation.  The Committee shall have sole and direct responsibility for setting the
compensation of the independent auditor.  The Committee is empowered, without further action by the Board, to
cause the Company to pay the compensation of the independent auditor established by the Committee.

3.  Pre-Approval of Services.  The Committee shall review and approve in advance all audit services
to be provided to the Company, whether provided by the principal auditor or other firms, and all non -audit services to
be provided to the Company by the independent auditor and the fees for such services. Pre-approval of services that
are not prohibited may be pursuant to appropriate policies and procedures established by the Committee for the
pre-approval of such services.

4.  Independence.   The Committee shall obtain and review a formal written statement from the
independent auditor describing all relationships between the auditor and the Company, including the disclosures
required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1.  The Committee shall actively engage in dialogue with the
independent auditor concerning any disclosed relationships or services that might impact the objectivity and
independence of the independent auditor.

5.  Oversight.   The independent auditor shall report directly to the Committee, and the Committee
shall have sole and direct responsibility for overseeing the work of the independent auditor, including resolution of
disagreements between Company management and the independent auditor regarding financial reporting and the
receipt and consideration from time to time as appropriate of any reports required under applicable law to be made by
the independent auditor. The Committee shall obtain and review a report from the independent auditor describing:
(i) the independent auditor�s internal quality-control procedures; and (ii) any material issues raised by the most recent
internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or
professional authorities or a private sector regulatory board, within the preceding five years, respecting one or more
independent audits performed by the firm, and any steps taken to deal with any such issues.

C.  Audited Financial Statements and Other Financial Disclosures

1.  Review and Discussion.  The Committee shall review and discuss with the Company�s management
and independent auditor the Company�s annual audited financial statements to be included in the Company�s annual
report on Form 10-K, the quarterly financial statements to be included in the Company�s quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, the Company�s disclosures under �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations�, and other financial disclosures to be included in SEC filings prior to their release. This
discussion should include, where appropriate, a discussion about the Company�s accounting principles, critical
accounting estimates, significant financial reporting issues and judgments (including off-balance sheet arrangements
and the use of pro forma or non-GAAP financial information), the adequacy of the Company�s internal control, and
any regulatory and accounting initiatives, correspondence with regulators, or published reports that raise material
issues with respect to, or that could have a significant effect on, the Company�s financial statements.
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2.  Recommendation to Board Regarding Financial Statements.   The Committee shall recommend to
the Board whether the Company�s audited financial statements should be included in the Company�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

3.  Audit Committee Report.  The Committee shall prepare the committee report required by the
rules of the SEC to be included in the Company�s annual proxy statement.

4.  Earnings Releases and Financial Guidance.  The Committee shall review the Company�s quarterly
earnings press releases prior to their release and shall discuss generally any financial information and earnings
guidance to be provided to analysts and rating agencies.

D.  Controls and Procedures

1.  Internal Audit Function.   The Committee shall coordinate the Board�s oversight of the performance
of the Company�s internal audit function.

2.  Risk Management. The Committee shall discuss periodically with management the Company�s
policies and guidelines regarding risk assessment and risk management, as well as the Company�s major financial risk
exposures and the steps that management has taken to monitor and control such exposures.

3
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3.  Disclosure Controls and Procedures.  The Committee shall oversee the Company�s disclosure
controls and procedures, including applicable internal control over financial reporting, and where applicable, shall
oversee changes in internal control over financial reporting controls intended to address any material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting and any fraud involving
management or other employees that is reported to the Committee.  In addition, the Committee shall review and
discuss the annual internal control report of management and the independent auditor�s report on, and attestation of,
such management report, to the extent that those reports are required by SEC rules.

4.  Procedures for Complaints.  The Committee shall establish procedures for (i) the receipt, retention
and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing
matters; and (ii) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns regarding
questionable accounting or auditing matters.

5.  Additional Powers.   The Committee shall have such other duties as may be delegated from time to
time by the Board.

V.  Other Matters

A.  Assessment. The Committee shall annually review and assess the performance of the Committee,
and report the results of such evaluation to the Board.

B.  Charter.   The Committee shall review and reassess the adequacy of this Charter annually and
recommend any proposed changes to the Board for its approval.

C.  Reports. The Committee shall report regularly to the Board on the matters discussed and actions
taken at each meeting of the Committee, including the Committee�s evaluation of the independent auditor.

D.  Additional Powers. The Committee shall perform any other activities consistent with this Charter
and the Company�s Articles, and governing law, as the Committee or the Board may deem necessary or appropriate.

This Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors was adopted by the Board on February 1, 2016.
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/s/ Eric L. Trachtenberg
Corporate Secretary of Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc.

4
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ARALEZ PHARMACEUTICALS INC. Security Class Holder Account Number -------Fold Form of Proxy - Annual and Special Meeting to be held on May 3,
2017 This Form of Proxy is solicited by and on behalf of the Board of Directors. Notes to proxy 1. Every holder has the right to appoint some other person or
company of their choice, who need not be a holder, to attend and act on their behalf at the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. If you wish to

appoint a person or company other than the persons whose names are printed herein, please insert the name of your chosen proxyholder in the space provided (see
reverse). If the securities are registered in the name of more than one owner (for example, joint ownership, trustees, executors, etc.), then all those registered
should sign this proxy. If you are voting on behalf of a corporation or another individual you must sign this proxy with signing capacity stated, and you may be
required to provide documentation evidencing your power to sign this proxy. This proxy should be signed in the exact manner as the name(s) appear(s) on the
proxy. If this proxy is not dated, it will be deemed to bear the date on which it is mailed by Management to the holder. The securities represented by this proxy
will be voted as directed by the holder, however, if such a direction is not made in respect of any matter, this proxy will be voted as recommended by the Board.
The securities represented by this proxy will be voted in favour or withheld from voting or voted against each of the matters described herein, as applicable, in
accordance with the instructions of the holder, on any ballot that may be called for and, if the holder has specified a choice with respect to any matter to be acted
on, the securities will be voted accordingly. This proxy confers discretionary authority in respect of amendments or variations to matters identified in the Notice of
Meeting or other matters that may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. This proxy should be read in conjunction with
the accompanying documentation provided by Management and the Board. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. -------Fold 8. Proxies submitted must be received by 9:00 AM (Eastern
Time) on May 1, 2017. VOTE USING THE TELEPHONE OR INTERNET 24 HOURS A DAY 7 DAYS A WEEK! To Vote Using the Telephone To Vote Using

the Internet � Call the number listed BELOW from a touch tone telephone. 1-866-732-VOTE (8683) Toll Free � Go to the following web site:
www.investorvote.com � Smartphone? Scan the QR code to vote now. If you vote by telephone or the Internet, DO NOT mail back this proxy. Voting by mail may
be the only method for securities held in the name of a corporation or securities being voted on behalf of another individual. Voting by mail or by Internet are the
only methods by which a holder may appoint a person as proxyholder other than the Named Proxies nominees named on the reverse of this proxy. Instead of
mailing this proxy, you may choose one of the two voting methods outlined above to vote this proxy. To vote by telephone or the Internet, you will need to

provide your CONTROL NUMBER listed below. CONTROL NUMBER
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Appointment of Proxyholder I/We, being holder(s) of Aralez Pharmaceuticals Inc. hereby appoint: Adrian Adams, or failing him, Andrew I. Koven (the �Named
Proxies�), Print the name of the person you are appointing if this person is someone other than the Named Proxies. OR as my/our proxyholder with full power of
substitution and to attend, act and to vote for and on behalf of the shareholder in accordance with the following direction (or if no directions have been given, as

the proxyholder sees fit) and all other matters that may properly come before the Annual and Special Meeting (the "Meeting") of shareholders of Aralez
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the "Company") to be held at the offices of Stikeman Elliott LLP, 5300 Commerce Court West, 199 Bay Street, Toronto, ON, Canada M5L
1B9, on May 3, 2017 at 9:00 AM (Eastern Time) or at any adjournment or postponement thereof. VOTING RECOMMENDATIONS ARE INDICATED BY

HIGHLIGHTED TEXT OVER THE BOXES. 1. Election of Directors For Withhold For Withhold For Withhold 01. Adrian Adams 02. Jason M. Aryeh 03. Neal
F. Fowler -------Fold 04. Rob Harris 05. Arthur S. Kirsch 06. Kenneth B. Lee, Jr. 07. Seth A. Rudnick, M.D. 08. F. Martin Thrasher Withhold 2. Appointment of
Auditors Approval of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as the Company�s auditors for the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2017. Against Abstain 3. Approval of the Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan Approval of the Amended and Restated 2016
Long-Term Incentive Plan. Against Abstain 4. Non-Binding Say-on-Pay Vote Approval of the non-binding advisory vote to approve the Company�s approach to
the compensation of its named executive officers, as disclosed in the Company�s proxy statement dated March 23, 2017. 2 Years 3 Years Abstain 5. Non-Binding
Say-on-Frequency Vote Approval of the non-binding advisory vote to approve the frequency of future advisory votes to approve the Company�s approach to the

compensation of its named executive officers. -------Fold Authorized Signature(s) - This section must be completed for your instructions to be executed.
Signature(s) Date I/We authorize you to act in accordance with my/our instructions set out above. I/We hereby revoke any proxy previously given with respect to
the Meeting. If no voting instructions are indicated above, this Proxy will be voted as recommended by the Board. Y R Z Q 2 4 5 4 4 6 A R 0 1 Year For For For
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